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HIGH GDP GROWTH
GDP growth was high in Lithua-
nia in 2021, after having been 
around zero in the first pande-
mic year 2020. The trend was 
the same in most of the euro-
zone, where growth, according 
to Swedbank, was estimated at 
over 5 per cent in 2021.

HIGH INFLATION RATE   
As in the other Baltic countries, 
the annual consumer price 
inflation (HICP) was high in Lit-
huania in 2021, 4.6 per cent. The 
average for the eurozone was 
more moderate at 2.6 per cent. 

2.8
POPULATION
IN MILLIONS

MOST INHABITANTS IN LITHUANIA
Lithuania is the most populous 
country in the Baltics. At the 
end of 2021, the population 
amounted to 2.8 million. Of 
these, around 720,000 live in 
Vilnius and its environs, making 
it the second largest capital city 
in the Baltics, after Riga.

At the heart of Europe and a global centre for business  

VILNIUS

Lithuania is at the centre of Europe and is also a central point for 
many global businesses whose shared service centres are located in 
Vilnius. Lithuania was a great power in the Middle Ages and united 
with Poland for several centuries in the middle of the second mille-
nium. Lithuania became independent from the Soviet Union in 
1991, is a member of the EU and NATO since 2004 and the OECD 
since 2016. The euro was adopted as currency in 2014.
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Sources: IMD World Competitiveness Yearbook, Ooma, FIBA and Invest Lithuania.

RIGA

WORLD CLASS DIGITAL INFRASTRUCTURE
Lithuania’s e-infrastructure is world leading. Lithuania is  
ranked number one in the world in meeting business needs 
for ICT and public WIFI speed.

YOUNG AND WELL-EDUCATED INHABITANTS   
The country has a plentiful supply of digital 
competence, putting Lithuania at fifth place globally.  
As for the proportion of 25-34-year-olds with higher 
education, Lithuania is ranked 4th in the EU.

BASKETBALL – LITHUANIA’S NATIONAL SPORT
Lithuania’s men’s basketball team is among the best natio-
nal teams in Europe and in the world, ranked on eighth place 
worldwide and on fifth place in Europe. Basketball is the 
most popular sport in Lithuania. 

CENTRE FOR GLOBAL SHARED SERVICE CENTRES
By year-end 2021, approx. 85 companies have esta-
blished their global shared service centres in Lithua-
nia, above all in Vilnius. These service centres 
employed as many as 20,170 specialists.
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”Eastnine shall be the leading 
long-term provider of modern and 
sustainable office and logistics 
premises in prime locations in the 
Baltics” 

Eastnine is a Swedish real estate company whose 
share is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm Mid Cap. 
Eastnine’s tenants are primarily large Nordic compa-
nies with international operations. Eastnine’s premi-
ses shall support our tenants’ business models and 
constitute a competitive advantage for companies in 
relation to employees and customers. Modern, flex-
ible and sustainable premises and concentrated pro-
perty portfolios together with a considerable market 
share enable Eastnine to be an important actor in the 
development not just of the properties, but also in 
districts, logistics hubs and cities.

Properties

number (10)
13

Lettable area
 

000s sq.m. (121)
143

Property value

 
EURm (372)
470

Equity/asset ratio
 

% (62)
58

Employees
 

number (22)
23

Sustainability 

certification
% (87)

81

Surplus ratio

 

% (91)
89

Net LTV ratio

properties 
 % (40)

45

This is 
Eastnine

Interior from 3Bures-1,2 in Vilnius. 3Bures-1,2 in Vilnius central business area is Eastnine’s largest property.
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Events in brief
In 2021, Eastnine has focused on growing the property portfolio by acquisition of three office properties. 
In order to create even greater future growth and yield potential, logistic properties were added to 
Eastnine’s investment focus and in 2022, the Board opened up for evaluating property investments in 
Poland. The financing basis has been broadened by the issue of Eastnine’s first green bond.

Eastnine’s history – from investment entity to real estate company 

2016 2017       2018

The management agreement with  
East Capital Explorer is terminated

Acquisition of   
Alojas Biroji 

in Riga

Acquisition of  
Vertas-1 in Vilnius

Sale of holding in the 
cable TV company Starman

Sale of holding 
in infrastructure company 

 Trev-2

Comple-
tion of 

3Bures-3

New construction of   
3Bures-3  

in Vilnius starts

East Capital Explorer 
renamed to Eastnine Sale of holding in  

East Capital Eastern Europe Small Cap Fund

	 In	May/June	2021,	two	centrally	located	office	properties	
were	acquired	in	Vilnius	and	Riga	respectively	for	EUR	35m.

	 In	June,	the	Board	decided	to	broaden	the	investment	
focus	to	include	logistics	properties.

	 At	the	beginning	of	July,	a	green	bond	for	EUR	45m	was	
issued.

	 In	October,	Eastnine’s	sustainability	work	was	awarded	
five	stars	by	GRESB	for	the	second	year	running	and	the	
property	S7-1	obtained	BREEAM	Outstanding	certification.

	 The	newly	built	office	property		Uptown	Park,	located	in	
the	exciting	development	area	close	to	Vilnius	central	sta-
tion,	was	acquired	and	taken	possession	of	in	December.	

	 In	February	2022,	the	Board	decided	to	evaluate	property	
investments	in	Poland.	

Important events in 2021 and in early 2022

Sale of holding in the bank  
Komercijalna Banka Skopje

2019    2020 2021
 

At Eastnine’s property S7-1, Danske Bank’s employees have access to a library where they are able to work free of disturbance in calm surroundings.



5Eastnine  •  Annual Report 2021

This is Eastnine   •  The year in brief

Eastnine as investment
Investing in Eastnine’s shares confers a stake in a Swedish listed real estate company with high-yielding, 
modern and sustainable office and logistics properties in the Baltics. Eastnine combines Swedish corporate 
governance with local property management and market knowledge. The Company’s overarching target is 
to create a sustainable, attractive total return on investment for its shareholders. Eastnine’s strategic 
approach and targets create added value for shareholders, tenants, employees and the society.

2016 2017       2018

Acquisition of the S7 in 
Vilnius. Taking posses-

sion of S7-1

Acquisition of   
Valdemara Centrs  

in Riga

Acquisition of the 
project property 
Kimmel in Riga

S7-2 in Vilnius  
is taken posses-

sion of

Sale of holding in East 
Capital Baltic  Property 

Fund III

Acquired and 
took possession of 
Vertas-2 in Vilnius

Taking into  
possession of S7-3  

i Vilnius

Acquisition of the office proper-
ties Uniq i Vilnius and  

Zala 1 in Riga

Sustainable attractive total return  
Eastnine’s target is that the total return shall be above the median average of comparable European real 
estate companies. The return on equity is to be at least 10 per cent over time. Dividend to shareholders 
shall, over time, be at least 50 per cent of the profit from property management after current tax.

Stable customer base and long-term customer relations
The tenants consist primarily of large, stable Nordic companies with international operations in 
finance, ICT, legal services and auditing. The tenants are attracted by good access to well-educated 
workforce and high-quality premises together with a relatively low level of costs.

Leading the way in sustainability  
Eastnine has obtained the highest level of sustainability certification in the Baltics and is among the 
top layer of real estate companies in the world when it comes to sustainability work. 
 

Good financing opportunities
Eastnine enjoys good access to financing for new acquisitions and future development projects. The loan-
to-value ratio is low, the equity/assets ratio high while holdings of other assets, which are to be divested 
are unburdened.

Unique growing property portfolio
The property portfolio consists of premium offices, centrally located in Vilnius and Riga. The target 
is to add more office properties, acquire logistics properties and to evaluate Poland as an investment 
market with a view to achieving a portfolio volume of EUR 700m by the end of 2023.

2019    2020 2021
 

Acquisition of 
the office property 

Uptown Park in Vilnius
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Statement by the CEO Kestutis Sasnauskas  
Solid foundation for properties  
despite increased uncertainty in the  
surrounding world

The Russian invasion
It	has	never	been	more	difficult,	during	Eastnine’s	history,	to	
write	a	CEO	statement	for	the	annual	report	than	in	March	
2022.	Russia’s	invasion	of	Ukraine	and	the	enormous	human	
suffering	and	destruction	have	deeply	shocked	everyone.	The	
deterioration	in	the	security	policy	situation	in	Europe	and	the	
world,	as	well	as	the	ongoing	war,	means	that	prospects	and	
conditions	can	change	rapidly.	And	it	should	be	borne	in	mind	
that	the	situation	2020,	when	the	pandemic	broke	out,	was	also	
to	a	very	great	extent	unknown	and	insecure.	A	statement	by	
the	CEO	normally	provides	an	opportunity	to	talk	about,	and	
reflect	on,	everything	that	has	happened	and	been	achieved	
during	the	past	year.	Followed	by	an	outlook	based	on	the	pre-
vious	year.	In	the	current	situation,	there	is	a	greater	focus	on	
the	immediate	situation	rather	than	history.	And	we	cannot	
avoid	noting	that	Russia’s	reprehensible	action	has	had	a	
greater	impact	on	Eastnine	than	on	some	other	real	estate	
companies	in	the	Nordic	countries	and	Europe.		The	most	
immediate	effect	is	via	Eastnine’s	holding	in	the	Russian	fash-
ion	chain	Melon	Fashion	Group,	MFG.	

Holding in Melon Fashion Group  
MFG	is	one	of	two	remaining	investments	which	does	not	
consist	of	directly-owned	properties,	the	other	being	the	
holding	in	a	property	fund,	neither	holding	being	debt	
financed.	Back	in	2017,	it	was	decided	that	Eastnine,	which	
was	then	an	investment	company,	would	focus	on	becoming	
a	real	estate	company.	All	other	investments	were	to	be	
divested	in	favour	of	real	estate.	As	previously	announced,	
there	was	a	plan	for	MFG	to,	most	likely,	be	listed	on	the	
stock	exchange	before	the	summer	of	2022.	Due	to	Russia’s	
actions	and	the	subsequent	sanctions	from	the	West,	the	
listing	is	postponed.	The	value	of	MFG	and	Eastnine’s	hold-
ing	in	MFG	is	difficult	to	assess.	The	value	rose	substantially	
at	the	end	of	2021,	mainly	after	the	very	positive	develop-
ment	of	MFG’s	sales	and	earnings.	Eastnine	make	use	of	a	
DFC	model	which,	among	other	things,	takes	into	account	
the	exchange	rate	for	the	rouble,	the	risk	level	in	the	form	of	
WACC	and	estimated	future	sales.	At	the	time	of	writing,	the	
rouble	has	greatly	weakened,	the	risk	level	has	increased,	the	
Moscow	stock	exchange	is	effectively	closed	and	Russia	is	
largely	excluded	from	trade	with	other	countries,	which	
overall	has	a	negative	impact.	Naturally,	we	are	following	
the	course	of	events	carefully	and	the	valuation	of	this	hold-
ing	will	be	revised	as	usual	in	connection	with	Eastnine’s	
interim	report	for	the	first	three	months	of	2022.

Holding in East Capital Baltic Property Fund II
Eastnine’s	holding	in	the	property	fund	East	Capital	Baltic	
Property	Fund	II	is	being	wound	up.	All	remaining	properties	
at	the	previous	year-end	have	been	sold	and	Eastnine	as	fund	
investor	received	the	major	part	of	its	investment	of	EUR	19m	
during	the	first	quarter	of	2022	and	the	remaining	part	will	be	
paid	later	during	the	year.

Growing real estate operations  
As	regards	Eastnine’s	main	focus,	i.e.,	the	real	estate	opera-
tions	in	the	Baltics,	we	have	not	yet	seen	any	direct	negative	
consequences	of	Russia’s	invasion	war.		The	real	estate	busi-
ness	coped	well	throughout	the	pandemic	with	a	very	low	loss	
of	rental	income.	Eastnine	continued	to	expand	during	2021	
through	three	property	acquisitions,	two	in	Vilnius	and	one	in	
Riga.	Two	of	the	properties:	Uniq	in	Vilnius	and	Zala	1	in	Riga,	
were	taken	possession	of	before	the	summer	and	Uptown	Park	
just	before	Christmas.	We	will	not	see	the	full	impact	on	the	
result	in	the	form	of	figures	for	12	months	until	the	turn	of	
2022	has	passed.	Our	rental	income	rose	by	12	per	cent	in	2021	
and	net	operating	income	increased	by	10	per	cent,	but	this	
was	affected	negatively	by	the	increase	in	vacancies	during	
the	year.	Profit	from	property	management	has	been	weighed	
down	by	costs	ensuing	from	a	bond	issue	during	the	summer,	
where	the	intended	property	transaction	did	not	take	place	
and	the	corresponding	capital	was	not	invested	before	the	
purchase	of	Uptown	Park.	As	Eastnine’s	property	portfolio	
grew	relatively	quickly,	the	forward-looking	earning	capacity	
provides	a	better	picture	of	the	ability	to	generate	earnings	
than	the	more	historically	focused	income	statement.
Uptown	Park,	a	modern	office	building	of	12,700	sq.m.	built	

in	2020,	is	located	in	a	growth	area	in	Vilnius,	which	is	new	for	
us,	called	Naujamiestis	which	means	”new	city”.	Naujamiestis	
is	becoming	increasingly	popular	with	tech	companies	and	
housing	and	offices	are	being	built	there.	With	this	acquisition,	
we	welcome	new	tenants	in	exciting	sectors:	Bentley	Systems,	a	
US	software	developer,	and	Vinted,	Lithuania’s	first	so-called	
”unicorn”	and	one	of	Europe’s	largest	e-commerce	platforms	
for	secondhand	clothing.	Vinted	was	established	in	2008	and	
now	has	around	1,200	employees,	most	of	them	in	Vilnius.	The	
company,	which	is	established	on	15	European	markets	and	the	
US	and	Canada	has	50	million	customers.	Vinted	is	now	our	
fourth	largest	tenant	after	Danske	Bank,	Telia	and	Swedbank	
and	Bentley	Systems	is	number	eight.	We	look	forward	to	fur-
ther	expansion	in	this	exciting	development	area	and	to	con-
tinue	diversifying	our	customer	base.	Earlier	in	the	year,	we	
acquired	the	property	Uniq	at	the	parliament	district	in	Vilnius.	

Russia’s attack on Ukraine has created uncertainty throughout the world and also had a negative impact on 
Eastnine, mainly because of Eastnine’s investment in MFG, whose planned listing has been postponed. Howe-
ver, the real estate business rests on solid foundation and there are still attractive possibilities to evaluate.
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Danske	Bank	which	is	the	only	tenant	will	vacate	the	prop-
erty	in	May,	but	already	in	February	Wolt,	a	digital	platform	for	
food	deliveries,	among	other	products,	signed	a	lease	to	move	
into	1,100	sq.m.	during	the	summer.	
With	approximately	120,000	sq.m.	of	modern	office	space,	

Eastnine	has	become	established	as	the	largest	landlord	in	Vil-
nius.	During	the	year,	we	have	also	initiated	a	new	development	
project	alongside	the	existing	3Bures	properties.	After	an	archi-
tect	competition,	it	is	planned	to	develop	up	to	13,200	sq.m.	of	
lettable	area	for	offices	and	over	1,000	parking	spaces.	After	the	
extension,	the	whole	of	3Bures	will	encompass	around	55,000	
sq.m.	of	modern	offices,	restaurants	and	associated	services.	
Our	position	in	Riga	has	also	been	strengthened	with	the	acqui-
sition	of	the	property	Zala	1	during	the	year.	In	Riga,	we	also	
have	a	substantial	development	pipeline	with	a	wooden	office	
complex:	The	Pine	consisting	of	15,600	sq.m.	and	Kimmel	with	
a	total	of	35,000	sq.m.	They	will	both	include	offices,	restau-
rants	and	shops.	Kimmel	will	also	likely	include	cultural	prem-
ises.	In	Riga,	we	have	signed	a	couple	of	new	large	leases	during	
the	past	six	months	with	IT	companies,	including	Norwegian	
Pearl	and	US	ITLabs.

Broader investment focus
During	the	year,	logistics	has	been	added	as	a	segment	and	the	
evaluation	of	a	number	of	acquisition	and	development	pro-
jects	in	the	segment	is	in	process.	In	addition	to	this,	we	have,	
in	early	2022,	decided	to	evaluate	Poland	for	property	invest-
ments.	Poland	is,	with	its	38	million	inhabitants,	six	times	
larger	than	the	whole	of	the	Baltics,	but	has	at	the	same	time	a	
very	similar	legal	and	commercial	structure.	As	well	as	War-
saw,	there	are	eight	regional	cities	which,	in	terms	of	size	and	
offering	of	offices	and	logistics,	resemble	the	Baltic	capital	cit-
ies.	The	inclusion	of	Poland	would	open	the	way	to	very	large	
future	growth	and	yield	opportunities.

High pressure in the Baltics
Both	the	growth	rate	and	inflation	were	at	high	levels	in	the	
Baltic	countries	during	2021.	Measured	as	an	annual	average,	
the	GDP	increase	was	4-5	per	cent	both	in	Latvia	and	Lithua-
nia,	as	in	Sweden	and	the	eurozone.	Estonia	is	a	couple	of	per-
centage	points	higher	due	to	a	pension	reform	that	provided	
an	additional	stimulus	for	growth.	The	inflation	rate,	meas-
ured	as	an	annual	average,	was	3.3–4.6	per	cent	in	the	Baltic	
countries,	which	was	higher	than	in	Sweden	and	the	euro-
zone.	Strong	demand	from	investors	continued	to	push	down	
the	yield	requirement	for	properties.	The	requirements	for	the	
best	office	properties	at	the	year-end	were	5.8	per	cent	in	Tal-
linn,	5.5	per	cent	in	Riga	och	5.25	per	cent	in	Vilnius,	the	
strongest	and	most	liquid	market.	The	yield	requirement	has	
been	pressed	down	most	in	the	logistics	segment,	where	the	
best	properties	in	all	countries	at	the	year-end	were	valued	at	
a	yield	of	approximately	6.5	per	cent,	which	is	a	full	100	points	
lower	than	a	year	previously.	The	lower	yield	requirement	lev-
els	have	had	a	positive	effect	on	the	value	of	Eastnine’s	proper-
ties	during	the	last	quarter	and	the	year.	The	properties’	unre-
alised	change	in	value	amounted	to	EUR	16m	during	the	year,	
of	which	EUR	14m	was	during	the	fourth	quarter.	

The sustainable real estate company
Since	the	start,	we	have	placed	sustainability	at	the	centre	of	
our	operations.	During	the	year,	we	have	continued	to	

strengthen	our	work	in	all	spheres.	We	have	improved	our	
result	in	GRESB,	we	retained	our	leading	position	in	gender	
equality	among	Swedish	listed	companies	and	our	employees	
appreciate	Eastnine	as	an	employer,	considering	that	East-
nine	is	a	”great	place	to	work”.		We	are	continuing	to	work	on	
making	our	properties	greener	and	at	the	same	time	we	have	
gone	from	zero	to	26	per	cent	green	financing	sources	during	
the	year.	Not	all	properties	that	we	acquire	are	environmen-
tally	certified	and	we	then	initiate	work	to	achieve	at	least	
LEED	Gold	or	BREEAM	Excellent.	At	present,	81	per	cent	of	the	
property	area	has	been	environmentally	certified.

The future
In	early	February,	when	we	published	the	year-end	report,	
there	were	considerably	more	opportunities	than	threats.	
Unfortunately,	Russia’s	action	has	affected	this	balance	and	at	
the	time	of	writing,	there	is	great	uncertainty	about,	among	
other	things,	the	ability	to	divest	the	holding	in	MFG	and	
what	the	value	will	be.	However,	we	are	continuing	our	per-
sistent	work	on	what	we	are	able	to	influence,	i.e.,	the	real	
estate	business	and	the	prospects	there	continue	to	be	good.

Kestutis Sasnauskas
Vd

CEO Kestutis Sasnauskas at work and during his leisure, sometimes with 
Love, an English springer spaniel.
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Vision
”Eastnine shall create and provide prime venues 
where ideas can flow, people can meet and success-
ful business can be developed.”

Eastnine’s	premises	shall	support	the	tenants’	business	models	
and	constitute	a	competitive	advantage	for	the	companies	in	rela-
tion	to	their	staff	and	customers.	The	premises	are	to	be	modern,	
flexible	and	sustainable,	and	the	property	portfolios	geographi-
cally	concentrated.	With	a	considerable	market	share,	Eastnine	
becomes	an	important	agent	in	the	development	of	the	properties	
that	we	own	as	well	as	the	districts,	logistics	hubs	and	cities.

Business concept
”Eastnine shall be the leading, long-term provi-
der or modern and sustainable offices and logis-
tics premises in prime locations in the Baltics.”

The	business	concept	entails	that	Eastnine	shall	capture	a	
considerable	market	share	and	achieve	the	highest	customer	
satisfaction.	The	business	shall	grow	and	the	relationship	
with	the	tenants	shall	be	close	and	long-term.	Our	buildings	
and	premises	should	hold	high	environmental	standards	and	
support	the	well-being	of	the	variety	of	stakeholders.	The	
properties	are	to	be	located	in	prime	locations	based	on	the	
type	of	property.

Strategic focus

Altogether, Eastnine owns 13 office properties 
consisting of twelve with buildings and one 
plot of land. Nine are in three areas in Vilnius, 
in the central business district, the parliament 
area and the development area around the 
central station. Eastnine owns three office 
properties in Riga and one plot of land in the 

centre of the city. This means that Eastnine is 
the largest owner of offices in Vilnius and 
among the largest owners in Riga. The proper-
ties are modern with an average age of eight 
years and are designed to offer a good envi-
ronment for the people working in the buil-
dings. A full 81 per cent of the property portfo-

lio is environmentally certified with either 
LEED Platinum, BREEAM Outstanding or 
BREEAM Excellent. At the end of 2021, East-
nine did not own any logistics properties in 
the Baltics nor any office premises in Estonia.

STATUS

Eastnine’s strategic work is based on the Business Plan for 2023 which was adopted in the 
autumn of 2020 and updated in 2021. According to the business plan, the overarching target for 
the Company is to create a sustainable attractive total return for the shareholders and with a 
view to achieving this goal, the property portfolio shall grow to EUR 700m by the end of 2023.

Eastnine’s staff, whose expertise and commitment contribute to achieving the Company’s goals. From left to right:  
Eric Stadler, Greta Norvilyte, Kristina Verbauskaite, Ilze Gzibovska, Lilia Kouzmina, Ulrika Holmér and Donata Montvydaite.
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Business model
Eastnine’s goal is to become purely focused on 
real estate. Other investments are to be divested as 
soon as the optimal business conditions are met.

The	real	estate	business	is	conducted	in	three	different	areas,	
as	described	below:

Management 
Property	management	shall	take	place	in	close	cooperation	with	
customers	and	shall	be	grounded	on	professionalism,	sustaina-
bility	and	innovation,	enabling	both	Eastnine	and	customers	to	
reach	their	respective	goals.

Refinement 
The	property	portfolio	shall	be	continuously	improved	by	
developing	new	properties	and	by	investing	in	existing	portfo-
lios,	increasing	earning	capacity.

Transaction 
The	property	portfolio	shall	grow	and,	when	necessary,	be	fur-
ther	streamlined	in	order	to	secure	a	position	as	the	leading	
provider	of		modern	and	sustainable	offices	and	logistic	prem-
ises	in	all	of	the	Baltic	countries.

Values
The work of Eastnine’s employees is guided by 
the values Healthy environment, Innovative, 
Respectful and Engaged.

Healthy environment
Contribute	to	a	long-term,	sustainable	development	in	our	mar-
kets	and	take	full	responsibility	for	our	social	and	environmental	
impacts.

Innovative
Strive	to	be	innovative	in	our	customer	service	and	our	service	
offering	with	technology	and	digital	development.

Respectful 
Always	treating	each	other,	our	partners	and	our	customers	
with	respect.

Engaged 
Engaged	with	each	other	and	being	passionate	about	what	 
we	do.

Management: Eastnine carries out an annual 
customer survey with a view to obtaining more 
information about how our tenants and their 
staff view Eastnine as a landlord. The survey is 
performed as a complement to the regular 
meetings that take place. Based on the result 
of the survey and the meetings, relevant mea-
sures are undertaken to enable us to develop 
and improve our customers’ experience.

Refinement:  Eastnine has three major pro-
jects at the planning stage, two in Riga and one 
in Vilnius. Investments in management proper-
ties take place continuously, with a view to 
making possible letting at higher rent levels 
and thus achieve increase in value. During the 
year, investments in existing properties 
amounted to EUR 4.6m.

Transaction:  The property portfolio has 
grown by EUR 98m during the year, of which 
acquisitions accounted for EUR 76m. Eastnine 
is one of the largest owners of office premises 
in the Baltics.

STATUS
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Targets and outcomes
Eastnine’s target image is described in Business 
Plan 2023. The Company has an ambitious plan to 
achieve growth, sustainability and profitability. 
Specific targets have been set to support the 
overarching target, which is to create value for 
shareholders.

Defined targets
Eastnine’s	business	plan,	which	extends	to	the	end	of	2023,	con-
tains	defined	operational,	financial	and	sustainability	targets.

Overarching target
Eastnine’s	overarching	target	is	to	create	a	sustainable,	attractive	
total	return	on	investment	for	its	shareholders.	The	total	return	
shall	over	time1	exceed	the	average	of	comparable	European	real	
estate	companies2.
 

Outcome overarching target 2021
Eastnine’s total return amounted, in euro, to 25.6 per cent in 2021, 
which exceeded the average for comparable European real estate 
companies, which was 14.5 per cent.

OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL TARGETS (SELECTION)

Targets Outcome  2021 / 2021-12-31 Contribution to overarching target

INVESTMENTS

The property portfolio
shall grow to EUR 700m 

by the end of 2023.

0
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EURm

Property portfolio, EURm Target 2023, min

470
372

A larger portfolio normally 
increases profitability.

Focusing the business on  
directly-owned properties as soon 
as optimised commercial exits can 

be achieved.
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%

Share of properties,% Target

7778
Focusing the business on real 

estate reduces commercial risk. 

PROFITABILITY  
& YIELD

Profit from property  
management

shall increase to EUR 25m  
annually based on Q4 2023.
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EURm

Annual pro�t from property management*
Target 2023, minimum

* Based on Q4-�gures

7.0

12.2

A larger volume increases 
profitability as the fixed costs nor-
mally increase less in percentage  

than income.

Return on equity  
should be at least 10 % over time.
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Return on equity, % Target, minimum

21.1

12.5

A high return on 
equity improves the prospects for 

dividend and share price 
increase.

Dividends to shareholder 
 should over time amount to at least

 50 % of profit from property  
management after current tax.
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%

66 68

Dividend in % of pro�t from property management
Target, minimum

Dividend is one of two parts 
of the total return of the share. 
The other part is the change in 

value of the share.
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OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL TARGETS (SELECTION)

Targets Outcome  2021 / 2021-12-31 Contribution to overarching target

FINANCIAL 
STABILITY

Net loan-to-value ratio 
on properties   

should be at most 60 %.
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%

Net loan-to-value ratio, % Target, maximum

4440

Ensures long-term 
stable financing.

Equity/assets ratio 
should be at least 35 %.
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%

Equity/asset Target, minimum

5862
Ensures long-term 
stable financing.

Interest coverage ratio  
shall amount to at least 2.0x.

0

1

2

3

4

20212020

Multiple

Interest coverage ratio, multiple Target, min

2.7

3.7 Ensures ability to pay 
interest expense over time.

1  Average share price movement, including dividend.
2    The reference group is composed of the following companies: Alstria Office, CA Immo, Covivio, Derwent London, Entra, Fabege, Gecina, Klövern, Kungsleden, Workspace Group, Wihlborgs, 

Globalworth, Globe Trade Center, CLS Holdings, Immofinanz, Norwegian Property, PSP Swiss Property, Aroundtown, DEMIRE Real Estate and Atrium Ljungberg. Total return is measured in 
euro for all companies in accordance with best practice. Over time means five years.

SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS (SELECTION)

Targets Outcome  2021 / 2021-12-31 Contribution to overarching target

COMPANY 
CULTURE

High transparency and a 
high ethical level by, among other 

things, zero tolerance for corrup-
tion. Anti- corruption training shall 

take place annually.

No incidents or 
suspected breaches have 

been reported during 2021. Train-
ing has taken place.

Ensures fair economic 
flows and the Company’s  

credibility.

CUSTOMERS Customer satisfaction  
shall be improved.

Average NPS result 
was improved from 22 % in 2020

to 37 % in 2021.

Ensures higher retention ratio 
when tenants choose to remain as 

tenants, gives higher occupancy 
ratio and income.

EMPLOYEES Maintains expertise and 
attractiveness through a

 confidence index among 
employees in Great Place to Work ś 

staff survey of at least 90 %.
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%

Con�dence index, % Target, minimum

9095
Enables a high level of 

expertise in daily operations conti-
nuously performed work.
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Targets Outcome Contribution to overarching target

EMPLOYEES

Health and well-being of 
employees with a  

sickness absence which  
shall be less than 3 %.

Sickness absence is 
at a stable level below 3 %.

Staff, willing and able to perform 
their work well.

Eastnine strives for  
gender equality and diversity   

among its employees. The goal is 
for equal representation of women 

and men on the board and top 
management and at country mana-

gement level. 0
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Country 
Managers

Top 
management

Board

%

Women Men

60
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50

50

50

Provides a broad spectrum of 
knowledge, views and experience.

SUPPLIERS All strategic suppliers shall be 
subject to a sustainability audit. 

New construction projects shall be 
inspected on site.

100 % of the strategic suppliers 
have been audited. 

Ensures that suppliers  
work in accordance with high ethi-
cal, moral and sustainability requi-
rements and ensure secure delive-

ries.

CREDITORS Long-term access to capital shall 
be ensured by an increasing por-

tion of  green financing.
26%

Non-green �nancing

0%

Green �nancing

2020 2021

Ensures that financing is 
sustainable in the long term.

CERTIFICATIONS 100 % of the properties shall be  
sustainability certified.

81%

Non-certi�ed area
Certi�ed area

2020 2021

87%

Ensures properties that are  
attractive with a long lifetime and  

a high level of efficiency.

EMISSIONS Eastnine’s property operations  
are to be carbon neutral by the end 

of 2030.

In 2021, net emissions 
(after climate compensation) of 
greenhouse gases were reduced 

to zero. 

Contributes to sustainable  
economic development.

SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS (SELECTION)
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Targets Outcome  Contribution to overarching target

ENERGY

Use of   
sustainable energy sources  

shall be 100 % at the latest by 2030. 83%

Non-renewable energy
Renewable energy

2020 2021

86%

Contributes to sustainable  
economic development.

Energy efficiency  
shall be improved 

with the goal of achieving a 25 % 
reduction of energy consumption 

by the end of 2025.

Average energy intensity increased 
by 11 % 2021. Degree-day 

corrected energy consumption was 
unchanged in 2021 at

 till 113 kWh/sq.m.

Reduces costs and 
saves resources.

WATER Water consumption   
shall be optimised with the aim of 

reducing water consumption by  
2 % per year.

Water consumption 
decreased by 22 % in a 
comparable portfolio.

Reduces costs and 
saves resources.

WASTE Waste recycling shall 
increase and the proportion 
of waste to landfill shall be 

reduced.

In a comparable portfolio, 
the proportion of recovered waste 

was unchanged at 40 %.

Reduces costs and 
saves resources.

GRESB To be a leader in 
sustainability among real estate 

companies by being in the top 
quintile  in GRESB’s annual survey   

of the sustainability work 
in companies. 

Eastnine was top quintile for the 
second year running.

Contributes to a positive view of 
Eastnine as a responsible landlord.

GREEN 
LEASE  

AGREEMENTS

Teamwork where tenants 
work for a sustainable society 

together with the landlord. 
The proportion of 
green leases shall 
increase over time.
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%

Green lease agreements
Non-green lease agreements

60

40
50%

50

50

Saves resources and 
reduces costs.

SUSTAINABILITY TARGETS (SELECTION)

1  Net zero carbon according to the World Green Building Council which permits climate compensation. Only refers to carbon dioxide emissions 
from property operations and excludes emissions from construction. From 2021 inclusive, Eastnine compensates for scope 1 and 2.

2  Measured as sq.m. Certification work for non-certified acquired properties should be started within twelve months of taking possession.  
The target does not apply to properties which are expected to be subject to comprehensive project development.
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Strategies

Eastnine’s strategies provide guidance of which 
parts will contribute to, and lead to, achievement 
of established targets.

Strategy Operations
Property Portfolio
The	ambition	is	for	Eastnine	to	be	established	as	a	property	
owner	in	all	three	Baltic	capital	cities	by	the	time	that	the	
property	portfolio	amounts	to	EUR	700m.	In	order	to	be	an	
effective	and	important	actor,	it’s	important	to	own	at	least	
100,000	sq.m.	in	each	city,	and	the	first	acquisition	in	a	new	
city	should	therefore	be	of	considerable	size	and	offer	good	
cash	flow.	Cash	flow	properties	should	constitute	the	majority	
of	the	property	portfolio,	while	development	projects	should	
be	a	smaller	part	with	higher	returns.

Tenants
Eastnine	strives	to	create	good	and	long-term	relationships	
with	tenants,	leading	to	low	tenant	turnover	and	positive	
earnings	contributions.	The	tenants	should	be	financially	

stable	and	well-reputed	companies,	and	the	Company	strive	
for	a	well-diversified	tenant	structure.

Organisation
Eastnine	shall	be	headquartered	in	Stockholm	and	shall	have	
country	offices	in	each	Baltic	capital	where	the	Company	
owns	properties.	All	offices	shall	be	staffed	with	Eastnine	
employees	in	appropriate	positions.	Financial	and	adminis-
trative	management	of	the	properties	are	to	be	conducted	by	
Eastnine’s	employees.	Gradually,	when	it	becomes	beneficial,	
technical	management	and	property	maintenance	shall	also	
be	conducted	by	Eastnine’s	employees.

Strategy Financing
Eastnine’s	financing	strategy	shall	support	the	overarching	
target	of	creating	a	sustainable,	attractive	total	return	for	
shareholders.	Included	in	this	goal	is	that	the	return	should	be	
relevant	in	relation	to	the	risk	in	the	shareholders’	investments.	
Financing	should	be	optimised	for	the	lowest	possible	financial	
expense	within	the	framework	of	the	determined	risk	limits	
and	the	financing	policy.	Financing	may	be	composed	of	equity	
and	interest-bearing	debt.	Debt	financing	may	be	composed	of	
bank	loans,	capital	market	financing	as	well	as	direct	loans	
from	institutional	actors.	

Strategy Sustainability
Environment
Energy-efficiency	plans	are	to	be	drawn	up	for	each	building	in	
the	portfolio.	All	relevant	roofs	should	be	fitted	with	solar	pan-
els.	The	plan	for	fulfillment	of	GRESB	targets	should	be	updated	
annually.	A	process	to	obtain	sustainability	certification	of	
acquired	non-certified	properties	should	begin	within	twelve	
months	of	taking	possession.	This	principle	does	not	apply	to	
properties	expected	to	undergo	significant	redevelopment.

Social
Eastnine	shall	strive	to	be	the	best	landlord.	The	tenants	are	
our	most	important	ambassadors.	The	Company	shall	carry	
out	annual	customer	surveys	for	all	directly-managed	proper-
ties.	After	follow-up	and	analysis,	specific	interventions	are	to	
be	carried	out.	An	employee	survey	is	to	be	conducted	annu-
ally.	Employees	are	to	be	provided	with	opportunities	for	ade-
quate	training	as	well	as	receive	wellness	allowance	in	order	
to	promote	good	health	and	well-being.	Eastnine’s	commu-
nity	engagement	shall	be	based	on	the	Company’s	vision	and	
business	concept.

Operational
Through	the	introduction	of	green	financing	and	green	leases,	
a	concensus	of	the	importance	of	a	long-term	sustainable	
business	is	created	with	Eastnine’s	creditors	and	tenants.

There is a light therapy room at the property 3Bures-3 for the year’s dark days.
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Board members Peter Wågström, Ylva Sarby Westman and Peter Elam Håkansson at the annual strategy day. 
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Market
The Baltic economies have been characterised by high pressure during 2021, with high GDP growth and 
high inflation rates. Access to financing was good, both from the bank sector and the capital market. The 
volume of transactions on the real estate market was at a record level and yield requirements decreased, 
for both office and logistics properties.

 

Macroeconomic
Economic	growth	was	strong	in	2021.	The	euro	area	recovered	
three	times	more	quickly	than	after	the	financial	crisis	and	in	
the	Baltics,	GDP	surpassed	the	levels	achieved	prior	to	the	
Corona	pandemic.	The	economies	of	Estonia,	Latvia	and	Lithu-
ania	grew	by	8.3	per	cent,	4.8	per	cent	and	4.8	per	cent	respec-
tively	during	the	year.	
Unemployment	fell,	gross	wages	increased	and	inflation	was	

further	spurred	on	by	disturbances	in	global	supply	chains	and	
fast	rising	energy	prices.	Inflation	in	Estonia,	Latvia	and	Lithu-
ania	amounted	to	4.5	per	cent,	3.2	per	cent	and	4.6	per	cent	for	
the	full	year.	The	new	variant	of	the	Corona	virus,	omicron,	
started	to	spread	quickly	at	the	end	of	2021	and	led	to	new	
restrictions,	although	the	effects	are	deemed	to	be	short-term.	
Instead,	interest	rate	increases	and	Russia’s	invasion	of	
Ukraine	have	become	significant	risks,	in	particular	for	the	
whole	of	Europe.

Interest and credit markets
For	the	major	part	of	2021,	monetary	policy	was	expansive	
worldwide,	but	the	strong	growth	and	rising	inflation	has	
increased	the	probability	of	interest	rate	increases	coming	ear-
lier	than	expected.	The	US	Federal	Reserve	indicated	in	early	
2022	that	there	would	be	a	couple	of	interest	rate	increases	
during	2022,	while	the	European	Central	Bank	assessed	infla-
tion	as	being	more	short	term	and	was	not	therefore	planning	
interest	rate	increases	in	the	immediate	future.	The	five-year	
swap	rate	(Euribor),	which	is	very	important	for	the	real	estate	
market,	rose	during	the	year	and	at	the	beginning	of	2022.	The	
difficult	geopolitical	situation	has	made	it	difficult	to	assess	
the	situation	and	the	future.
In	the	Baltics,	access	to	property	financing	has	improved	

since	the	banks	Luminor,	OP	Bank	and	Citadele	banka	have	
started	to	increase	their	lending	to	the	property	sector,	where	
the	major	banks,	Swedbank	and	SEB	are	market	leaders.	The	
Baltic	capital	market	also	took	a	step	forward	during	the	year,	
when	the	Akropolis	Group	and	Eastnine	issued	a	secured	bond	
for	EUR	300m	and	an	unsecured	bond	of	EUR	45m,	respec-
tively.

The Baltic transaction market
Low	interest	rates	and	surplus	capital	led	to	the	volume	of	
transactions	in	the	Baltic	real	estate	market	reaching	record	
levels	during	2021.	In	all,	properties	changed	hands	for	EUR	
1,908m	(1,070),	compared	with	just	over	EUR	1,000m	on	
average	during	the	past	five	years.	
Transaction	activity	was	broad	both	as	regards	segment	

and	geography,	at	the	same	time	as	a	number	of	major	trans-
actions	in	the	retail	trade	segment	contributed	the	record	
volume.	Among	other	things,	Akropolis	Group	acquired	the	
shopping	centre	Alfa	in	Riga	and	Stockmann	divested	its	
department	stores	in	Tallinn	and	Riga.	In	the	office	segment,	
Eften	Capital’s	acquisition	of	the	office	cluster	Jauna	Teika	in	
Riga	for	EUR	133m	was	the	largest	transaction,	at	the	same	
time	as	Eastnine	with	three	complementary	acquisitions	in	
Riga	and	Vilnius	was	the	most	active	acquirer	in	the	segment,	
which	had	a	total	of	seven	transactions	larger	than	EUR	10m.	
Interest	in	logistics	properties	has	grown	during	the	corona-
virus	pandemic	and	a	number	of	new	investors	have	joined	
the	segment.	East	Capital	was	most	active	during	the	year	
and	participated	both	as	purchaser	and	vendor	in	a	total	of	
five	transactions	in	Estonia	and	Lithuania.	A	number	of	
hotels	changed	owner	in	the	Baltics	which	also	saw	their	first	
large	residential	transaction	when	the	developer	YIT	sold	five	
housing	properties	in	Tallinn,	Riga	and	Vilnius	to	a	new	com-
pany	jointly	owned	with	the	insurance	company	BTA.

Decreasing yield levels
The	strong	interest	from	investors	has	been	reflected	in	prop-
erty	valuations	in	the	Baltics.	In	2021,	yield	requirements	fell	
further;	the	decrease	was	on	average	approximately	30	points	
in	the	office	segment	and	approximately	80	points	in	the	logis-
tics	and	industrial	segment.	At	the	year-end,	the	yield	require-
ments	for	prime	office	properties	were	assessed	at	5.25-5.80	
per	cent	and	for	logistics	at	6.50-6.80	per	cent.	The	pricing	of	
logistics	properties	is	the	same	in	Estonia,	Latvia	and	Lithua-
nia,	while	office	properties	are	most	highly	valued	in	Vilnius,	
which	has	the	most	dynamic	and	liquid	office	market.	
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All Baltic countries have large ports with passenger and goods traffic to Sweden, among other countries. Work on Rail Baltica, which will link the 
Baltics with the European rail network, should have been completed around 2026 according to the current plan, but in the current situation, it is 
more likely that the railway will be commissioned around 2030.
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The office market
The	occupancy	rate	of	office	premises	is	admittedly	not	back	
at	the	levels	prior	to	the	coronavirus	pandemic,	but	discus-
sions	about	reductions	in	the	number	of	offices	have	
decreased	during	2021.	It	is	clear	that	the	office	performs	a	key	
function	as	a	meeting	place	for	most	employers	and	this	is	
often	reflected	in	the	rental	levels	for	new	lettings.	With	over	
130,000	sq.m.	and	50,000	sq.m.	of	signed	leases,	both	Vilnius	
and	Riga	broke	records	in	2021.	This	is	a	substantial	increase	
for	Riga	from	previous	years	and	is	explained	by	a	number	of	
new	development	projects.	During	the	year,	SEB	signed	new	
leases	for	two	projects	planned	by	Galio	and	Linstow	respec-
tively.	
The	vacancy	rates	decreased	from	8.2	per	cent	to	7.6	per	cent	

in	Tallinn	and	from	19.2	per	cent	to	14.5	per	cent	in	Riga,	while	
vacancy	rose	from	5.4	per	cent	to	8.6	per	cent	of	the	office	stock	
in	Vilnius.	The	rental	levels	for	high-quality	offices	in	central	
locations	both	in	Tallinn,	Riga	and	Vilnius	have	remained	sta-
ble	in	the	range	EUR	14.00-17.50	per	sq.m.	and	month.	Rental	
levels	in	central	Vilnius	have	risen	during	the	year,	as	new	
development	and	vacancies	are	mainly	concentrated	in	other	
areas.	The	level	of	development	is	high	in	the	Baltics	and	ongo-
ing	construction	projects	indicate	that	around	20	per	cent	of	
office	space	will	be	added	in	each	capital	city	in	future	years.	
Among	the	larger	office	property	owners	and	developers	in	

the	Baltics	are	Eastnine	with	offices	in	central	Vilnius	and	Riga,	
Technopolis	with	a	campus	in	both	Vilnius	and	Tallinn,	Galio	

which	has	expanded	as	a	developer	from	Vilnius	to	Riga	and	
Lords	L.B.	Asset	Management	as	well	as	Eften	Capital	with	
properties	in	all	three	capital	cities.

The logistics market
Demand	for	modern	logistics	and	industrial	premises	is	good	
in	the	Baltics.	The	retail	trade	is	growing	and	an	increasing	
proportion	takes	place	online,	which	requires	more	ware-
house	and	distribution	spaces.	The	region	is	also	attractive	for	
establishment	of	manufacturing	and	light	industry.	Since	a	
large	proportion	of	the	properties	constructed	are	let	in	
advance,	vacancies	have	decreased.	In	2021,	the	vacancy	rate	
fell	from	4.4	per	cent	to	3.3	per	cent	in	Tallinn,	from	4.1	till	3.4	
per	cent	in	Riga	and	from	1.8	per	cent	to	zero	in	Vilnius.	Rental	
levels	have	risen	slightly	and	at	the	turn	of	the	year	were	in	the	
range	EUR	3.90-5.10	per	sq.m.	and	month	for	modern	proper-
ties	in	good	logistics	locations.	The	high	inflation	rate,	both	
for	suppliers	and	locally,	has	created	uncertainty	about	con-
struction	costs,	project	starts	and	future	rental	development.	
Ongoing	projects	are	expected	to	add	around	10	per	cent	of	
warehouse	and	logistics	space.
Major	logistics	property	owners	in	the	Baltics	are	Eften	Capi-

tal	and	East	Capital	with	properties	in	all	three	countries,	Sirin	
Development	which	owns	and	develops	four	logistics	locations	
in	Lithuania	and	Latvia	and	VGP	and	Piche	which	are	active	
developers	in	Riga.	

This is Eastnine   •  Market

Vilnius central business district is dominated by tenants from the finance sector.
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Sustainable business  

Part of our core operations 
Ever since Eastnine was founded in 2007, sustainability 
efforts have been an integrated part of our operations. Like 
many other real estate companies, we face evident risks 
related to climate change, but also risks arising from the tran-
sition to a new global economy, which can affect access to cap-
ital, talent and customers. We regard sustainability efforts as 
an important part of the work to protect the Company against 
mentioned risks.

Three focus areas
In cooperation with the Company’s stakeholders, our sustaina-
bility efforts were initiated by analysing the best practice in the 
industry and by drawing up a list of material topics in three 

Running a sustainable business is part of Eastnine’s long-term approach on the markets where we 
operate. We have not yet achieved all of our high set goals, but the awards and recognition for sus-
tainability that have been received in 2021 show that we have made good progress.

focus areas: the environment, social responsibility and govern-
ance, which are considered to have or potentially to have a sig-
nificant impact on Eastnine’s operations. 
 An overview of these focus areas is presented on the follow-
ing pages with goals and interim goals in the respective area, 
current progress, the most important measures to achieve 
these goals and how sustainability efforts affect the whole of 
Eastnine’s operations. Although this overview is incomplete, 
we hope that it will provide some insight into where Eastnine is 
today and our ambitions for the environment, social responsi-
bility and governance of operations.

At the 18 floor high 3Bures-1,2 in Vilnius, tenants are encouraged with a little pep talk on the walls to use the stairs instead of the lift.
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Sustainable activities 2021

Social responsibility: Meals for a hospital in Vilnius

Biodiversification: Beehives on the roof

In 2020-2021, Eastnine gave more than 2,900 meal 
portions to staff at the hospital in Vilnius who are pro-
viding medical care for Covid patients. The meals 
were purchased from restaurants who are tenants of 
Eastnine, which was a help for their operations during 
the coronavirus pandemic.

Planning work is continuing in Riga with The Pine, a 
unique office building to be built completely of wood 
and which is expected to be the first construction pro-
ject in the Baltics certified in accordance with both 
LEED and WELL and probably the most spectacular 
building in the region.

Eastnine supports local companies that focus on cli-
mate-friendly products and activities aimed at increasing 
awareness about climate challenges. This year, it was time 
for a beekeeping project where a local start-up placed 
beehives on the roofs of two of our properties in Vilnius. Our 
new small tenants moved in and at the end of the summer, 
honey could be harvested. Tins with Eastnine honey were 
then given to tenants as a gift.

Highest sustainability certification: S7-1 BREEAM Outstanding

Eastnine’s building S7-1 in Vilnius has obtained the BREEAM 
In-Use with the rating Outstanding and is accordingly the 
second property in the Baltics with this top certificate. 
Danske Bank is the sole tenant in the building which offers a 
unique environment with first-class office space and plenty of 
health-promoting facilities. 

Environmentally friendly building material: Office building made completely of wood
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                 AREA AIM GOALS KPI OUTCOME 2021 MEASURES TAKEN
OPPORTUNITY/

VALUE CREATION DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL
UN SUSTAIN

ABILITY GOALS
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Certified 
property 
portfolio

100 % of the properties 
(excluding properties 
that are expected to 
undergo extensive pro-
ject development) shall 
be certified in accor-
dance with at least 
LEED Gold or BREEAM 
Excellent.

Proportion of 
property portfo-
lio which is certi-
fied, %

81 % of the gross area 
is certified, 11 % is in 
process of certification.

• For each acquisition of a non-certified property, an 
assessment is made of the measures and costs 
necessary to achieve the targeted certification level.

• The certification process should be started within 
12 months.

• Existing Core & Shell certifications may in some 
cases be complemented by an In Use certification, 
or a health-related certification like Well/Fitwel

• Integrate EU taxonomy require-
ments into the certification  
process.

• Develop processes and routines 
for monitoring and follow-up 
after certification.

Em
is

si
on

s

Reduce 
carbon 
footprint

Property operation 
shall be carbon neu-
tral at the latest by 
2030 (after climate 
compensation).

Emission
intensity, kg 
CO2e/sq.m./year

Net emissions (after 
climate compensation) 
of greenhouse gases 
reduced to zero. Total 
emissions were 8.2 kg 
CO2e/sq.m.

• In 2022, an emissions roadmap is to be developed 
for every property (based on GRESB’s tool).

• See related measures under Energy.

• Include emissions from the  
construction phase in the 
Scope 3 budget.

• Identify the most effective 
carbon compensation projects.

• Specify emissions target as 
absolute emissions, rather than 
as net emissions.

En
er

gy

Use 
renewable 
energy

Renewable energy 
shall constitute 100 % 
of energy consump-
tion by 2030 at the 
latest.

Proportion of 
total energy mix 
which is renewa-
ble, % 

Proportion of renewable 
energy amounted to 83 
%. 100 % of purchased 
electricity is renewable.

          2020                           2021 • Solar panels are considered for all appropriate 
roofs.

• Phasing out of natural gas or oil-based heating 
(according to each property’s roadmap).

• Engage in efforts to further 
improve sustainable adaptation 
of local district heating solu-
tions.

• Identify alternatives to the use 
of natural gas in the properties.

Increase 
energy 
efficiency

Reduce energy con-
sumption by 25 % 
between 2019 and 
2025.

Energy
consumption 
(property 
energy), 
kWh/sq.m./year

Average energy intensity 
increased by 11 % in 
2021. Degree day correc-
ted energy consumption 
was unchanged at 113 
kWh/sq.m.

• To ensure that energy efficiency is improving, our 
target is to achieve at least 80 % of all possible 
points in LEED/BREEAM certifications in the energy 
category.

• Energy audits are regularly conducted.
• In order to focus on energy management, the digita-

lisation of energy data will begin in 2022, with the 
aid of data analysis tools provided by external supp-
liers.

• Develop internal competence 
relating to property energy use.

• Coordinate with tenants on 
energy issues.

• Develop green lease agreements 
focusing on energy use.

W
at

er
  

co
ns

um
pt
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n

Make 
water
consump-
tion more 
efficient

Reduce water con-
sumption by at least  
2 % per year.

Water
consumption,  
litres/sq.m./year

Water consumption 
decreased by 28 % in 
the whole portfolio in 
2021 and by 22 % in a 
comparable portfolio.

• Mandatory certification process for properties  
contribute to the use of water consumption best 
practices, through requirements on the installation 
of low-flow taps and toilets. 

• Measure water consumption 
and set clear targets for con-
sumption.

• Set specific targets for water 
consumption in individual pro-
perties.

W
as

te
  

m
an
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em

en
t

Circular 
resource 
usage

Increase proportion 
of recycled waste and 
reduce waste sent to 
landfill.

Proportion  
recycled
 waste, %

The proportion of recyc-
led waste decreased 
due to new acquisitions 
with a lower proportion 
of recycling. In a compa-
rable portfolio of 
directly-owned proper-
ties, the proportion was 
unchanged, approxima-
tely 40 %.

           2020                            2021 • Conduct audits in acquired properties relating to 
waste management and follow up with action 
plans.

• Preference given to installation of hand driers 
during renovations or new development (in lieu of 
paper towels dispensers).

• Coordinate with and educate tenants.

• Set clear targets to reduce the 
amount of waste sent to landfill.

M
at

er
ia

ls
 u

se

Use mate-
rials with 
low carbon 
dioxide 
emissions

Increase use of sustai-
nable materials in 
new construction and 
refurbishment

– The Pine – new property 
built of wood (project 
expected to be comple-
ted in 2024).

• For the new development project the Pine, wood 
from sustainable forestry has been selected as the 
primary construction material.

• In 2021, Eastnine implemented a new policy for 
new development and redevelopment which takes 
sustainable choices of materials into account.

• Develop a strategy for the use  
of construction materials with 
low carbon-dioxide emissions.

• Set specific targets where app-
ropriate.

83%86%

Increased property 
value

Lower operating costs under  
systems with carbon-dioxide 
pricing

Access to green financing
(EU taxonomy)

Customers’ preference for 
sustainable products

ECONOMICS
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OPPORTUNITY/

VALUE CREATION DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL
UN SUSTAIN

ABILITY GOALS
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Certified 
property 
portfolio

100 % of the properties 
(excluding properties 
that are expected to 
undergo extensive pro-
ject development) shall 
be certified in accor-
dance with at least 
LEED Gold or BREEAM 
Excellent.

Proportion of 
property portfo-
lio which is certi-
fied, %

81 % of the gross area 
is certified, 11 % is in 
process of certification.

• For each acquisition of a non-certified property, an 
assessment is made of the measures and costs 
necessary to achieve the targeted certification level.

• The certification process should be started within 
12 months.

• Existing Core & Shell certifications may in some 
cases be complemented by an In Use certification, 
or a health-related certification like Well/Fitwel

• Integrate EU taxonomy require-
ments into the certification  
process.

• Develop processes and routines 
for monitoring and follow-up 
after certification.

Em
is

si
on

s

Reduce 
carbon 
footprint

Property operation 
shall be carbon neu-
tral at the latest by 
2030 (after climate 
compensation).

Emission
intensity, kg 
CO2e/sq.m./year

Net emissions (after 
climate compensation) 
of greenhouse gases 
reduced to zero. Total 
emissions were 8.2 kg 
CO2e/sq.m.

• In 2022, an emissions roadmap is to be developed 
for every property (based on GRESB’s tool).

• See related measures under Energy.

• Include emissions from the  
construction phase in the 
Scope 3 budget.

• Identify the most effective 
carbon compensation projects.

• Specify emissions target as 
absolute emissions, rather than 
as net emissions.

En
er

gy

Use 
renewable 
energy

Renewable energy 
shall constitute 100 % 
of energy consump-
tion by 2030 at the 
latest.

Proportion of 
total energy mix 
which is renewa-
ble, % 

Proportion of renewable 
energy amounted to 83 
%. 100 % of purchased 
electricity is renewable.

          2020                           2021 • Solar panels are considered for all appropriate 
roofs.

• Phasing out of natural gas or oil-based heating 
(according to each property’s roadmap).

• Engage in efforts to further 
improve sustainable adaptation 
of local district heating solu-
tions.

• Identify alternatives to the use 
of natural gas in the properties.

Increase 
energy 
efficiency

Reduce energy con-
sumption by 25 % 
between 2019 and 
2025.

Energy
consumption 
(property 
energy), 
kWh/sq.m./year

Average energy intensity 
increased by 11 % in 
2021. Degree day correc-
ted energy consumption 
was unchanged at 113 
kWh/sq.m.

• To ensure that energy efficiency is improving, our 
target is to achieve at least 80 % of all possible 
points in LEED/BREEAM certifications in the energy 
category.

• Energy audits are regularly conducted.
• In order to focus on energy management, the digita-

lisation of energy data will begin in 2022, with the 
aid of data analysis tools provided by external supp-
liers.

• Develop internal competence 
relating to property energy use.

• Coordinate with tenants on 
energy issues.

• Develop green lease agreements 
focusing on energy use.

W
at
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co
ns

um
pt

io
n

Make 
water
consump-
tion more 
efficient

Reduce water con-
sumption by at least  
2 % per year.

Water
consumption,  
litres/sq.m./year

Water consumption 
decreased by 28 % in 
the whole portfolio in 
2021 and by 22 % in a 
comparable portfolio.

• Mandatory certification process for properties  
contribute to the use of water consumption best 
practices, through requirements on the installation 
of low-flow taps and toilets. 

• Measure water consumption 
and set clear targets for con-
sumption.

• Set specific targets for water 
consumption in individual pro-
perties.

W
as

te
  

m
an

ag
em

en
t

Circular 
resource 
usage

Increase proportion 
of recycled waste and 
reduce waste sent to 
landfill.

Proportion  
recycled
 waste, %

The proportion of recyc-
led waste decreased 
due to new acquisitions 
with a lower proportion 
of recycling. In a compa-
rable portfolio of 
directly-owned proper-
ties, the proportion was 
unchanged, approxima-
tely 40 %.

           2020                            2021 • Conduct audits in acquired properties relating to 
waste management and follow up with action 
plans.

• Preference given to installation of hand driers 
during renovations or new development (in lieu of 
paper towels dispensers).

• Coordinate with and educate tenants.

• Set clear targets to reduce the 
amount of waste sent to landfill.

M
at

er
ia

ls
 u

se

Use mate-
rials with 
low carbon 
dioxide 
emissions

Increase use of sustai-
nable materials in 
new construction and 
refurbishment

– The Pine – new property 
built of wood (project 
expected to be comple-
ted in 2024).

• For the new development project the Pine, wood 
from sustainable forestry has been selected as the 
primary construction material.

• In 2021, Eastnine implemented a new policy for 
new development and redevelopment which takes 
sustainable choices of materials into account.

• Develop a strategy for the use  
of construction materials with 
low carbon-dioxide emissions.

• Set specific targets where app-
ropriate.

Reputation in market of 
being a responsible actor

Increased engage-
ment by customers

Increased engage-
ment by employees

Decreased risk for 
”stranded assets” 

Reduced risk related to insufficient 
compliance with statutory require-
ments (EU taxonomy)

REPUTATION RISK MITIGATION
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AREA     AIM GOALS KPI OUTCOME 2021 MEASURES TAKEN  

OPPORTUNITY/
VALUE CREATION DEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL

UN SUSTAIN
ABILITY GOALS
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Transparency 
and business 
ethics

Zero incidence of corrup-
tion.

Number of inci-
dents

No incidents or suspected breaches 
have been reported in 2021.

• Anti-corruption policy, code of conduct for 
suppliers, and the whisteblowing process pro-
vide governance mechanisms.

• Anti-corruption training takes place annually.

• Increase frequency and extent of 
training.

• Extend training to customers and to 
the supply chain.

Cu
st

om
er

s/
te

na
nt

s

High customer 
satisfaction 

Customer satisfaction shall 
be improved.

NPS in annual 
customer sur-
vey, %

Average NPS result 
improved from 22 % in 
2020 to 37 % in 2021 
(1,098 responses in 
seven properties).

 2020                         2021 • Customer surveys are carried out annually in 
all directly managed properties.

• The result from the survey is used as the 
basis for identifying improvements to servi-
ces and installations.

• An engagement programme was carried out 
in 2021 in order to increase the response rate.

• Specify targets in terms of NPS results 
for each property.

• Connect NPS results to staff remune-
ration.

Em
pl

oy
ee

s

Attract and 
retain talent

Trust index according to 
Great Place to Work among 
all employees at least 90 
%.

Trust Index, % Trust index still at high 
level in 2021, and in the 
goal range according to 
Great Place to Work.

2020      2021
 95%     90%               

• Extra parental leave compensation is offered 
to employees in Sweden.

• All employees are encouraged to pursue con-
tinued professional training.

• Specify further goals for various 
aspects of the employee experience 
in the Great Place to Work survey.

• Identify further means to measure and 
improve employee engagement.

Employees’ 
health and 
well-being

Sickness absence shall 
be less than 3 %.

Proportion of 
sick leave hours 
of total work 
hours per year, 
%

Sickness leave is 
stable at below 1 %.

• Wellness subsidy is offered to all employees. • Identify additional targets to  
reflect the health and well-being  
of employees.

Gender equa-
lity and diver-
sity

Even distribution of men 
and women at all manage-
ment levels in the com-
pany.

% women /
% men

• The gender distribution is taken into account 
when making recruitment decisions.

• None at the present.

Su
pp

lie
rs

Increased 
transparency 
in the supplier 
chain

All strategic suppliers shall 
be assessed from a sustai-
nability perspective.

Proportion, 
reviewed, %

All qualified 
strategic suppliers 
have undergone a sus-
tainability assessment.

• All new suppliers are encouraged to complete 
a web-based self-assessment/self-evaluation. 
If any risks are discovered, these are followed 
up with the supplier. 

• The sustainability audit relating to new con-
struction takes place physically on site.

• Extend the review to further areas.
• Cooperate more actively with suppli-

ers in material issues.
• Provide training for suppliers.

Fi
na

nc
in

g

Ensure long-
term access to 
capital 

The proportion of green 
financing should increase.

Proportion of 
total financing, 
%

The proportion of green 
financing increased 
from zero to 26 % in 
2021.

  2020                      2021 • The first green bonds were issued in July 
2021.

• An existing bank loan was converted into a 
green loan. 

• Establish targets for green financing 
as green financing becomes generally 
more accessible in the Baltics.

GR
ES

B 

Leadership 
within sustai-
nability

Retain the five-star rating 
in GRESB (among the top 
20 % globally).

GRESB points The result increased by 
five points in 2021 to 92 
points.

  2020                      2021 • Follow up and analyse the year’s measure-
ments.

• Develop operational routines and processes 
in line with best practice.

• None at the present.

G
re

en
  

le
as

es

Collaboration 
with tenants 
for a sustaina-
ble society

Increase use of green 
leases.

Proportion of 
gross floor area 
with green 
leases, %

Green leases are used 
for 66 % of the 
properties’ gross area 
(only includes 
properties with lettable 
area, six of twelve pro-
perties).

• Developed a standard for green leases which 
has been applied to new leases in Lithuania.

• Develop coordination with tenants so 
as to develop and implement measu-
res together.

• Develop new clauses for green leases.
• Implement green leases in Latvia.
• Develop the content of green leases 

so they increase tenant engagement.

20202021

90% 95%

< 1%

100%

Board of 
Director’s

Manage-
ment

Country 
managers

Women 2 (40%) 1 (50%) 1 (50%)

Men 3 (60%) 1 (50%) 1 (50%)
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20212020

Number of properties

Green Non-green

26%

0%

9287

0 0

-100 +100 -100 +100

+22 +37

Increased property 
value

Lower operating costs in  
systems with carbon-dioxide 
pricing

Access to green financing
(EU taxonomy)

Customers prefer 
sustainable products

FINANCES
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Transparency 
and business 
ethics

Zero incidence of corrup-
tion.

Number of inci-
dents

No incidents or suspected breaches 
have been reported in 2021.

• Anti-corruption policy, code of conduct for 
suppliers, and the whisteblowing process pro-
vide governance mechanisms.

• Anti-corruption training takes place annually.

• Increase frequency and extent of 
training.

• Extend training to customers and to 
the supply chain.

Cu
st

om
er

s/
te

na
nt

s

High customer 
satisfaction 

Customer satisfaction shall 
be improved.

NPS in annual 
customer sur-
vey, %

Average NPS result 
improved from 22 % in 
2020 to 37 % in 2021 
(1,098 responses in 
seven properties).

 2020                         2021 • Customer surveys are carried out annually in 
all directly managed properties.

• The result from the survey is used as the 
basis for identifying improvements to servi-
ces and installations.

• An engagement programme was carried out 
in 2021 in order to increase the response rate.

• Specify targets in terms of NPS results 
for each property.

• Connect NPS results to staff remune-
ration.

Em
pl

oy
ee

s

Attract and 
retain talent

Trust index according to 
Great Place to Work among 
all employees at least 90 
%.

Trust Index, % Trust index still at high 
level in 2021, and in the 
goal range according to 
Great Place to Work.

2020      2021
 95%     90%               

• Extra parental leave compensation is offered 
to employees in Sweden.

• All employees are encouraged to pursue con-
tinued professional training.

• Specify further goals for various 
aspects of the employee experience 
in the Great Place to Work survey.

• Identify further means to measure and 
improve employee engagement.

Employees’ 
health and 
well-being

Sickness absence shall 
be less than 3 %.

Proportion of 
sick leave hours 
of total work 
hours per year, 
%

Sickness leave is 
stable at below 1 %.

• Wellness subsidy is offered to all employees. • Identify additional targets to  
reflect the health and well-being  
of employees.

Gender equa-
lity and diver-
sity

Even distribution of men 
and women at all manage-
ment levels in the com-
pany.

% women /
% men

• The gender distribution is taken into account 
when making recruitment decisions.

• None at the present.

Su
pp

lie
rs

Increased 
transparency 
in the supplier 
chain

All strategic suppliers shall 
be assessed from a sustai-
nability perspective.

Proportion, 
reviewed, %

All qualified 
strategic suppliers 
have undergone a sus-
tainability assessment.

• All new suppliers are encouraged to complete 
a web-based self-assessment/self-evaluation. 
If any risks are discovered, these are followed 
up with the supplier. 

• The sustainability audit relating to new con-
struction takes place physically on site.

• Extend the review to further areas.
• Cooperate more actively with suppli-

ers in material issues.
• Provide training for suppliers.

Fi
na

nc
in

g

Ensure long-
term access to 
capital 

The proportion of green 
financing should increase.

Proportion of 
total financing, 
%

The proportion of green 
financing increased 
from zero to 26 % in 
2021.

  2020                      2021 • The first green bonds were issued in July 
2021.

• An existing bank loan was converted into a 
green loan. 

• Establish targets for green financing 
as green financing becomes generally 
more accessible in the Baltics.

GR
ES

B 

Leadership 
within sustai-
nability

Retain the five-star rating 
in GRESB (among the top 
20 % globally).

GRESB points The result increased by 
five points in 2021 to 92 
points.

  2020                      2021 • Follow up and analyse the year’s measure-
ments.

• Develop operational routines and processes 
in line with best practice.

• None at the present.

G
re

en
  

le
as

es

Collaboration 
with tenants 
for a sustaina-
ble society

Increase use of green 
leases.

Proportion of 
gross floor area 
with green 
leases, %

Green leases are used 
for 66 % of the 
properties’ gross area 
(only includes 
properties with lettable 
area, six of twelve pro-
perties).

• Developed a standard for green leases which 
has been applied to new leases in Lithuania.

• Develop coordination with tenants so 
as to develop and implement measu-
res together.

• Develop new clauses for green leases.
• Implement green leases in Latvia.
• Develop the content of green leases 

so they increase tenant engagement.

Reputation in market of 
being a responsible actor

Increased engage-
ment by customers

Increased engage-
ment by employees

Decreased risk for 
”stranded assets” 

Reduced risk related to insufficient 
compliance with statutory require-
ments (EU taxonomy)

REPUTATION RISK REDUCTION

Business  
critical
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Sustainability certified properties
A full 81 per cent of Eastnine’s properties are sustainability 
 certified with the highest rating according to the certification 
systems LEED or BREEAM. Certification of the other properties 
is in process, or will begin in 2022. Eastnine owns three of the 
four properties in the Baltics that have obtained the rating 
LEED Platinum In-Use. The classification New Construction 
refers to newly built properties and is valid forever. In-Use clas-
sification regards existing buildings with a measurable con-
sumption and has a period of validity of 3-5 years.

Eastnine’s goal is for the whole portfolio (excluding proper-
ties that are expected to undergo extensive project develop-
ment) to be certified with the highest rating, i.e. LEED Platinum 
or BREEAM Excellent/Outstanding. A preliminary assessment 

of the possibility of achieving a particular certification level is 
carried before acquisition of any property. This analysis is 
 performed already in connection with due diligence.  To ensure 
that tenants’ working environment is optimal, two new health 
certification systems have been introduced, Fitwel and WELL, 
which focus on the impact of the properties on people’s health 
and well-being. A pilot project with Fitwel will be carried out in 
the coming year, while the project The Pine in Riga will be certi-
fied in accordance with WELL. Through these certifications, we 
ensure in a systematic way that our properties comply with the 
strict requirements that our investors, tenants and financiers 
make on our properties. 

Sustainability certification system Level Number of properties Gross area, sq.m. Share of total, %
LEED In-Use Platinum 4 65,139 36

New Construction Platinum 2 25,597 14

BREEAM In-Use Outstanding 1 16,261 9

New Construction Excellent 2 40,195 22

Certification in process 2 20,276 11

Certification to be started in 2022 1 14,224 8

Total 12 181,692 100

Eastnine S71, a property that stands out from the average
In 2021 the property S7-1 achieved the certification BREEAM Outstanding In-Use and thus became the second property in the Baltics that achie-
ved this top rating. Danske Bank is the sole tenant in the building, which consists of six floors with a lettable area of 12,000 sq.m. Daylight in all 
offices, highly efficient energy and water consumption and facilities such as gyms, shower and changing rooms, staff restaurant and plenty of 
communal areas are factors that contribute to the building obtaining the rating Outstanding, which less than 1 per cent of all BREEAM-certified 
properties have succeeded in doing.
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USGBC Regional Leadership Award, 
Europe

Great Place to Work certification

Among the best 20 per cent in GRESB’s   
global benchmark for properties

In the top layer of Allbright Foundation’s 
green list of gender equal companies  

Eastnine has been designated as one of several winners of the Regional Leadership 
Awards 2021 by U.S. Green Building Council (USGBC) in the category Europe. The award is 
presented to organisations, projects and individuals worldwide, who create the next gene-
ration of sustainable, healthy, equitable and resilient buildings, cities, and communities.

Eastnine obtained the level 90 out of a 100 in the employee survey Trust Index™, and 
thus became qualified for the certification Great Place to Work. In the survey, the 
Company earned full marks in the category overall satisfaction, which means that East-
nine is perceived as a good place to work by 100 per cent of its employees.

Every year, GRESB assesses and compares ESG performance for real estate assets 
around the world. In the review for 2021, Eastnine attained 92 points out of 100 and 
thereby achieved a stable ranking among the best 20 per cent in GRESB’s global bench-
mark for real estate. Among the European listed real estate companies, Eastnine ranked 
11 out of 90 participants.

Every year, Allbright Foundation publishes a report on gender equality in Swedish listed 
companies. For the third year running, Eastnine has been included in Allbright 
Foundation’s ”green list” of gender equal companies. Of the 320 listed companies revie-
wed in the report, Eastnine was ranked as number 3 after taking into account the break-
down of men and women at management levels in the Company. 

Prizes and awards in 2021

June  2021

September 2021

September 2021

November 2021
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Investm
ents 

Welcoming entrance to Eastnine’s property 3Bures-3 in Vilnius.



Investments  •  Property portfolio

Property portfolio
Eastnine acquired three properties encompassing 23,200 sq.m. in 2021 and, at year-end, the property 
portfolio consisted of 143,200 sq.m. in 13 properties. The properties’ market value increased to EUR 
470m, mainly due to the three acquisitions, but also because of unrealised value changes and invest-
ments in existing properties.

Growing property portfolio  
Eastnine’s property portfolio consisted at year-end of 12 (9) 
modern office properties and 1 (1) development property, 
located in Riga and Vilnius. The total lettable area amounted 
to around 143,200 sq.m. (121,000) and the market value to 
EUR 470m (372). As much as 95 per cent (95) of the lettable 
area consists of offices, with the remaining 5 per cent (5) being 
mainly service and retail premises. 

The economic occupancy rate was 90.0 per cent (92.1) and 
the area-based occupancy rate was 89.9 per cent (92.6). The 
surplus ratio amounted to 89 per cent (91) during the year, and 
the rental value increased to EUR 27.3m (22.8) at year-end. The 
average age of the property portfolio, excluding the develop-
ment project Kimmel, was 8.4 years (7.9). 

Acquisitions and investments in the property portfolio
In 2021, Eastnine acquired three properties in two separate 
transactions, which added approximately 23,200 sq.m. of 
 lettable area. All properties were fully let at the respective 
time of acquisition. The aggregate purchase price amounted 
to EUR 75.5m.

In May/June 2021, the office properties Uniq in Vilnius and 
Zala 1 in Riga were acquired and taken possession of. The 
property Uniq added 6,900 sq.m. of lettable area and 110 
 parking spaces. The property Zala 1 in Riga added 3,600 sq.m. 
lettable area, 170 garage spaces and 20 parking spaces above 
ground. Both properties are LEED Platinum certified. The 
agreed purchase price was EUR 35.5m. In December 2021, the 
office property Uptown Park in Vilnius was acquired for an 
agreed purchase price of EUR 40.0m. The building was com-
pleted in 2020 and consists of 12,700 sq.m. lettable area and 
323 parking spaces.

Investments in properties owned at the beginning of the year, 
amounted to EUR 4.6m, of which EUR 1.8m was for invest-
ments in project properties.

Vilnius
Eastnine’s property portfolio in central Vilnius consists of 
three clusters of office properties as well as in the area referred 
to as the new city, beside Vilnius old town. Two of the clusters 
are concentrated to the business district, along the street 
Konstitucijos prospektas, north of the river Neris. A large part 
of Vilnius portfolio of A-class offices is located in this central 
business district including our S7 properties and 3Bures-1,2 
and 3Bures-3. The third cluster is located adjacent to the 
 parliamentary district and includes Eastnine’s properties 
Vertas-1, Vertas-2 and Uniq. 

The Company’s latest acquisition, Uptown Park, is located 
in an area with a number of new buildings, close to the central 
station. Eastnine’s total lettable area in Vilnius amounted to 
120,600 sq.m., corresponding to a market share of approxi-
mately 13 per cent of the office market in the city. 

The rental value for the portfolio in Vilnius has increased  
to EUR 22.8m (19.0) and the property value amounted to EUR 
389.1m (311.7) at year-end. The property portfolio includes 
both site leaseholds and properties with ownership rights 
where Vertas-1, Vertas-2, Uniq and Uptown Park are held with 
ownership rights and the other properties as site leasehold. 
The remaining lease term for the site leaseholds vary between 
20 and 78 years. 

The economic occupancy rate was 93.1 per cent (97.3)  
and the area-based occupancy rate was 93.1 per cent (97.7). 
Surplus ratio was 93 per cent (94).  

Vilnius Riga

83%

17%

Property value by city
 
Growing property portfolio
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Riga
In Riga, development of modern offices takes place in a num-
ber of micro locations in the absence of a central business 
 district. All three of Eastnine’s office properties are located in 
the centre of the city, along Krisjaņa Valdemara iela, one of the 
city’s principal streets, and the adjacent Zala iela. The total 
lettable area of the property portfolio amounted to approxi-
mately 22,600 sq.m., which is assessed as corresponding to  
a four per cent market share of the office market in the city.  
The aggregate property value in Riga, including project prop-
erties, amounted to EUR 80.7m (60.7), of which the value of 
project properties was EUR 12.0m (8.8). The rental value 
increased to EUR 4.5m (3.8).

In Riga, all properties are held with ownership rights. The 
economic occupancy rate was 74.0 per cent (66.0) and the 
area-based occupancy rate was 72.8 per cent (66.9). Surplus 
ratio was 64 per cent (78).

Property value
The total property value of Eastnine’s portfolio amounted to 
EUR 469.8m (372.4), corresponding to an increase of around 
26 per cent during the year. EUR 12.0m (8.8) of the market 
value was attributable to project properties.

The value increase for the year was mainly due to the acqui-
sition of Uniq and Uptown Park in Vilnius and Zala 1 in Riga, 
but also due to unrealised value changes and investments at 
existing properties. The acquisitions have increased the prop-
erty value by EUR 76.5m, investments in existing properties 
by EUR 4.6m and unrealised changes in value of EUR 16.3m. 

Eastnine values its properties quarterly, with an external 
valuation taking place at least once over a rolling twelve-
month period, by a certified valuation institute. In the case  
of development properties where the total cost is unknown 
and in the absence of future lease agreements, the fair value  
is estimated to correspond to the costs incurred, unless other 
information is available at the time of valuation. External and 
internal valuations are carried out using the same valuation 
methodology and software, so that the same observable and 
non-observable input data can be included each quarter. See 
also note 10 (Investment properties), pg. 82, for more informa-
tion about the valuation model, the assumptions made and 
property values.

Lettings and lease agreements
The lettable area has increased during the year by 18 per cent 
to about 143,200 sq.m. (121,000), mainly as a result of prop-
erty acquisitions. Contracted annual rent amounted to EUR 
24,494k (20,992) and the total number of leases for rented 
premises was approximately 175, spread over approximately 
140 tenants. The rent on all leased offices is due monthly. At 
year-end, the average annual rent amounted to EUR 179 per 
sq.m. In Lithuania, the average annual rent amounted to EUR 
180, and in Latvia to EUR 177 per sq.m. Lease agreements have 
been renegotiated for a total of 19,915 sq.m., with annual rents 
of EUR 3,641k, at an average annual rent of EUR 183 per sq.m. 
New lettings have been signed at an average annual rent of 
EUR 178 EUR per sq.m. 

Net letting, i.e. new leases less terminated leases, has been 
negative during the year and amounted to -9,007 sq.m., corre-
sponding to annual rents of EUR -1,720k. During the year, 
Danske Bank has terminated two larger leases totalling just 
over 11,200 sq.m., of which 4,347 sq.m. in 3Bures-1,2 in Vilnius 
was vacated on 31 July 2021 and the remaining 6,900 sq.m. in 
Uniq, Vilnius, in May 2022. The largest lettings include 1,300 
sq.m. to Pearl in Valdemara Centrs, Riga, 1,100 sq.m. to Wolt 
in Uniq, Vilnius and 600 sq.m. to IT Labs in Alojas Biroji in 
Riga. IT Labs will move in during the first quarter of 2022 and 
the two first-mentioned during the second quarter of 2022. 

Area of premises per category Sq.m.
Rental value,

EURm
Economic 

occupancy rate, %

Offices 136,120 24.6 90.3
Retail and service 6,249 1.0 90.0
Parking - 1.4 84.8
Other1 850 0.3 81.3
Total 143,219 27.3 90.0
1 Includes rental value for other premises and other rental value, e.g. advertising boards and aerials. The rental value EUR/sq.m. and economic occupancy rate are calculated only on the 
 rental value for premises.

Rental value and economic occupancy rate 

Occupancy rate and surplus ratio
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Property list

Property City
Lettable 

area, sq.m.
Economic occupancy 

rate, %
Rental value, 

EURm
Sustainability

 certification
Alojas Biroji Riga 10,236 56.4 1.9 LEED Platinum
Kimmel Riga - - - -
Valdemara Centrs Riga 8,715 79.8 1.7 -
Zala 1 Riga 3,629 100.0 0.9 LEED Platinum
3Bures-1,2 Vilnius 28,324 80.7 5.8 LEED Platinum
3Bures-3 Vilnius 13,406 100.0 2.3 LEED Platinum
S7-1 Vilnius 12,053 100.0 2.2 Breeam Outstanding
S7-2 Vilnius 15,952 100.0 2.9 Breeam Excellent
S7-3 Vilnius 14,536 100.0 2.5 Breeam Excellent
Uniq Vilnius 6,907 100.0 1.3 LEED Platinum
Uptown Park Vilnius 12,663 100.0 2.3 -
Vertas-1 Vilnius 9,631 82.5 2.2 LEED Platinum
Vertas-2 Vilnius 7,167 95.0 1.3 -
Total 143,219 90.0 27.3

Change in property value, EURk
2021

Jan-Dec
2020

Jan-Dec

Property values at the beginning of the year 372,400 290,256

Property acquisitions 76,479 62,461

Investments in existing properties 4,632 2,300

Unrealised value changes 16,306 17,383

Property value at year-end 469,817 372,400

Property portfolio key figures 2021 2020

Lettable area, sq.m. 143,219 121,030

Number of properties 13 10

Property value, EURk 469,800 372,400

Occupancy rate, economic, % 90.0 92.1

Rental income, EURk 21,530 19,186

Property expenses, EURk 2,293 1,689

Surplus ratio, % 89 91

Property expenses
Eastnine’s lease agreements are in the main triple-net agree-
ments. Eastnine reports only that fraction of property expen-
ses which is not charged directly to tenants, meaning that 
the costs sink if the occupancy rate increases, and vice versa. 
Property expenses amounted to EUR 2,294k (1,689) and the 
surplus ratio was 89 per cent (91). Property costs increased 
mainly due to the larger property portfolio and higher aver-
age vacancies during the year.

Property development
At the end of the period, Eastnine had three development 
 projects, two located in Riga, the Pine and Kimmel, as well as 
3Bures-4 in Vilnius. For more information about these pro-
jects, refer to pgs. 38-41.

In the coming project The Pine, the focus is on people’s well-being. The property is built of wood, which will also be a prominent feature of the interior of 
the building.
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Vilnius

Bild

Constructed 2008
Taken into possession Q2-2014
Lettable area 28,324 sq.m.
Parking spaces 1,017
Certification LEED Platinum In-Use

3Bures-1,2 PROPERTY

Bild

Constructed 2018
Taken into possession Q3-2018
Lettable area 13,406 sq.m.
Parking spaces 123
Certification LEED Platinum New 

Construction

3Bures-3 PROPERTY
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VILNIUS
In total 120,600 sq.m. 

Rental value 22.8 EURm 
Occupancy rate 93%  

Eastnine’s modern and sustainable office 
 properties in Vilnius are concentrated in three 
areas in the central business district, in the area 
of the parliament buildings and in the exciting 
development area near the central station.

Bild

Constructed 2020
Taken into possession Q4-2021
Total lettable area 12,663 sq.m.
Parking spaces 323
Certification (goal) Process to be started

Uptown Park PROPERTY



Vilnius
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Bild

Constructed 2017
Taken into possession Q1-2019
Total lettable area 12,053 sq.m.
Parking spaces 340
Certification BREEAM Outstanding 

In-Use
PROPERTY

Bild

Bild

Constructed 2019
Taken into possession Q4-2019
Total lettable area 15,952 sq.m.
Parking spaces 404
Certification BREEAM Excellent  

New Construction

Constructed 2019
Taken into possession Q2-2020
Total lettable area 14,536 sq.m.
Parking spaces 477 
Certification BREEAM Excellent

New Construction

S7-2

S7-3

PROPERTY

PROPERTY

S7-1
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Bild

Constructed 2016
Taken into possession Q2-2021
Total lettable area 6,907 sq.m.
Parking spaces 110
Certification LEED Platinum 

New Construction

PROPERTY

Bild

Bild

Constructed 2007
Taken into possession Q2-2017
Total lettable area 9,631 sq.m.
Parking spaces 246
Certification LEED Platinum

In-Use

Constructed 2007
Taken into possession Q3-2020
Total lettable area 7,167 sq.m.
Parking spaces 66
Certification LEED Platinum 

certification  
process underway

Vertas-1

Vertas-2

PROPERTY

PROPERTY

Uniq
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Riga
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Bild

Constructed 2004/09/13 
Taken into possession Q2-2018
Total lettable area 10,236 sq.m.
Parking spaces 217
Certification LEED Platinum

In-Use

Alojas Biroji PROPERTY

Bild

Constructed 2009
Taken into possession Q2-2021
Total lettable area 3,629 sq.m.
Parking spaces 190 
Certification LEED Platinum

In-Use

Zala 1 PROPERTY
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RIGA
In total 22,600 sq.m.

Rental value EUR 4.5m 
Occupancy rate 74%

Eastnine’s modern and sustainable office 
 properties in Riga are located in the centre of 
the city, along one of the principal streets and 
close to the beautiful area with Art Nouveau 
buildings in the city.

Bild

Constructed 1999
Taken into possession Q4-2019
Total lettable area 8,715 sq.m.
Parking spaces 69
Certification (goal) LEED Platinum

certification  
process underway

Valdemara Centrs PROPERTY

Constructed  
(existing buildings to  
be retained and restored)

1880

Taken into possession Q4-2019
Area Project site, no 

lettable area

Kimmel PROPERTY
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The Pine in Riga  
On an existing site at the property Alojas Biroji and along the 
principal street Valdemara iela in Riga, Eastnine is planning to 
construct a wooden office building. The ambition is for the 
building to be of top quality, both as regards sustainability and 
tenant experience.  
 The project The Pine, which has been created by the inter-
national architect office Arrow Architects from Denmark, and  
is expected to accommodate approximately 15,600 sq.m. of let-
table area and over 300 parking spaces. The building consists  

of five floors above ground and three floors below the surface.  
As well as offices, a conference centre, shops, restaurants and  
a gym are planned. Construction start is planned for after the 
summer of 2022, provided that there is a satisfactory level of 
 letting. The property is expected to be completed at the end  
of 2024. Total investment in the project is estimated at approx-
imately EUR 60m.
 The Pine is planned to obtain double sustainability certi-
ficates: LEED Platinum for the building itself and WELL Gold 
which concerns the well-being of the people spending time in it. 
It is expected that The Pine will achieve climate-neutral opera-
tions after completion.

Eastnine has three major development projects, two located in Riga and one in Vilnius. The design of the 
future buildings has been produced after open international architectural competitions. All projects are 
leading edge when it comes to sustainability, architecture and city planning. The projects, which are at 
the planning stage, comprise of a total of 64,000 sq.m. lettable area. According to the plan, construction 
of the first project, The Pine, will start after the summer of 2022, provided there is adequate advance 
 letting and a good profitability forecast.

Design decided on Building permit Building proposal Earliest start of 
 construction

Construction 
c ompleted

August 2019 September 2021 February 2022 August 2022 October 2024

The Pine in Riga
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City and address: Riga, Krisjana Valdemara iela 62
Lettable area: 15,600 sq.m.
Type: Offices, shops, restaurants, gym
Certification (goal): LEED Platinum/WELL Gold 
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The Pine in Riga will be one of the first and biggest wooden office buildings in the Baltics.
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Kimmel in Riga

At the end of 2019, Eastnine acquired the project property 
Kimmel consisting of land in central Riga where originally  
a historic brewery of the same name was located. The first 
brewery at this location was built as long ago as 1815 and 
brewery activities took place until 2002. 

The vision for Kimmel is to create a central meeting place  
in Riga. Kimmel shall be a spacious and vibrant green, urban 
area. The property shall promote an open flow between 
indoor and outdoor environments, where people alongside 
their workplace can discover art, galleries, restaurants and 
shops, as well as participate in various events. The site com-
prises nearly an entire city block along the Krisjana Valdemara 
iela main street. 

During the spring of 2021, an architect competition was 
held and at the end of June the winners were presented White 
Arkitekter from Sweden and SIA ARHIS ARHITEKTI from 
Lithuania. Total lettable area is expected to be approximately 
35,000 sq.m., of which 4,000 sq.m. is existing brick buildings 

which will be retained and refurbished and adapted to the 
new buildings. The new building, with seven floors above the 
ground will consist of offices, shops, restaurants and cultural 
facilities. The property will in addition include a garage with 
approximately 300 parking spaces. Construction is planned 
to start in March 2024 for the historic part and six months 
later for the new build. The buildings are expected to take 
about 1.5 and 2 years respectively to complete. Project invest-
ment excluding acquisition of the property, is expected to 
amount to approximately EUR 90m.  Kimmel plans to obtain 
double sustainability certificates, LEED Platinum for the 
actual building and WELL Gold which covers the well-being 
of the people in the building. After completion, operation is 
expected to be climate-neutral.

Architects 
appointed

Demolition 
completed Design decided on Building permit 

historic/new part
Earliest construction 

start historic/new part
Construction comple-
ted, historic/new part

May 2021 June 2021 March 2022 March 2023/
September 2023

March 2024/
September 2024

November 2025/
November 2026

City and address: Riga, Bruninieku iela 2, Stabu iela 1
Lettable area: 35,000 sq.m.
Type: Offices, retail outlets, restaurants and 

culture
Certification (goal): LEED Platinum/WELL Gold 
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3Bures-4 in Vilnius

Eastnine is planning to construct a new office building 
3Bures-4 on an existing site beside the 3Bures properties in 
Vilnius central business district. In 2021, an open interna-
tional architect competition was held for the project. The win-
ners, Arrow Architects from Denmark and Eventus Pro from 
Lithuania, were designated in early 2022.

The office property 3Bures-4, which consists of 16 floors 
above and three floors below ground include approximately 
13,200 sq.m. of lettable area and over 1,000 parking spaces,  
the majority being garage spaces. Construction is expected  
to begin in the spring of 2024 and be completed in 2026.  The 
total construction cost is expected to be EUR 50m. 

If the demand for modern office spaces continues to be  
very high in Vilnius, the project may be carried out earlier. It  
is intended that the property will achieve the sustainability 
certification level LEED Platinum and WELL Gold. After con-
struction, the goal is for operations to be climate neutral.

Design 
adopted  Building permit Building proposal Earliest start  

of construction
Construction 

completed

November 2021 April 2023 October 2023 April 2024 June 2026

City and address: Vilnius, Llovo g. 25

Lettable area: 13,200 sq.m.

Type: Offices

Certification (goal): LEED Platinum/WELL Gold 
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Property transactions
Eastnine has reinforced its presence in Riga and Vilnius, by acquisition of three properties totalling 
23,200 sq.m. of lettable area. The property Zala 1 in Riga consists of over 3,600 sq.m. and Uniq and 
Uptown Park in Vilnius approximately 19,600 sq.m. The acquisition, for a total of EUR 76m, has 
strengthened the earning capacity and improved the cash flow.

Portfolio strategy
Eastnine invests in modern and sustainable office and logistics 
properties in first-class locations in the Baltics. The Company’s 
aim is for the property portfolio to amount to EUR 700m by the 
end of 2023, through acquisitions and development of modern 
properties. The Company strives to be an important property 
owner with a portfolio in first-class locations. 

Property acquisitions
In 2021, Eastnine acquired three properties in two separate 
transactions with a total lettable area of 23,300 sq.m.  The 
total property value amounted to EUR 75.5m.  In the first 
transaction, the properties Zala 1 in Riga, consisting of just 
over 3,600 sq.m. of lettable area, and Uniq in Vilnius, con-
sisting of approximately 6 900 sq.m. of lettable area were 
acquired. The property Zala 1 is centrally located, close to 
Eastnine’s property Valdemara Centrs, and consists besides 

modern office premises also of 190 parking spaces, of which 
170 are in an underground garage. The property Uniq is adja-
cent to the parliament district, and near to our properties Ver-
tas-1 and Vertas-2.  At the end of December, the property 
Uptown Park in Vilnius, completed at the end of 2020, and 
consisting of almost 12,700 sq.m. lettable area, was acquired 
and taken possession of. Uptown Park is located in an area 
with a number of new buildings close to the central station 
and, just outside Vilnius old town. All properties were fully  
let at the time of acquisition. 

The acquisition has strengthened Eastnine’s position as 
established property owner of modern office properties in 
central business locations in Riga and Vilnius.

Divestment
No properties have been divested during the financial year.

The office property Uniq, which was acquired in the early summer of 2021, is adjacent to the parliament district in Vilnius.
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Uniq in Vilnius, Zala 1 in Riga and Uptown Park in Vilnius were all acquired in 2021.

43Eastnine  •  Annual Report 2021



Investments  •  Tenants

Tenants

Tenant in focus
Eastnine offers flexible and high-quality office premises in 
central business locations to tenants, with the emphasis on 
the indoor environment, working climate, reception and ser-
vices provided. Eastnine has a considerable focus on matching 
the location and sustainability of the premises with the ten-
ants’ values. In a number of properties, there are business 
centres with a reception open during office hours and a secu-
rity guard (during the daytime and 24 hours, respectively). 
Cafés, restaurants, dry-cleaning and tailoring services as well 
as parking are also often part of the service offering. 

Eastnine strives for long-term and value-creating tenant 
relationships, with cooperation, dedication, and a high degree 
of service. Our local presence in both Riga and Vilnius, enables a 
natural dialogue with our tenants about their current and 
future need for premises. Eastnine also carries out regular cus-
tomer surveys with the aim of continuously improving the 
quality of the properties and its relationship with its tenants 
and their employees.

In order to meet the demand for modern and efficient office 
solutions, Eastnine works actively to obtain sustainability cer-
tifications for its office properties. As part of the Company’s 
sustainability efforts and increasing mutual understanding 
between Eastnine and its tenants, new and existing tenants are 
invited to sign green leases. The aim is to work together to 
reduce the environmental impact of the property/premises.   

Being an Eastnine tenant  
In the Baltics, the majority of lease agreements do not contain 
an extension clause, meaning that the tenant is to vacate 
when their lease expires unless a new agreement is signed. 
The construction of the agreement means that we as a land-
lord need to engage in a continuous dialogue with the tenants 
to be able to meet and understand their needs of future let-
tings and lease extensions. Leases may, however, include 
clauses conferring a right to renegotiation of the leased area, 
and a preferential right to expand the leased area. An exten-
sion, therefore, requires both parties to actively renegotiate. 
The term of the contract is most often more than three years. 
In the event of longer contract terms, the tenant may have  
a unilateral right to terminate the contract prematurely  
(a break-option clause). With this clause, Eastnine meets  
the tenants’ demand for flexibility. 

Eastnine endeavours as a landlord to be responsive to ten-
ants and be open to recurring dialogue to discuss in good time 
and negotiate should their need for premises have changed. 

Eastnine’s tenants
Among Eastnine’s tenants, there are several Nordic and inter-
national companies that have chosen to established their 
offices and/or service centres in Eastnine’s centrally located 
and modern properties. Around 66 per cent of tenants operate 
in the Finance and ICT industries. Nordic companies with 
international activities lease 50 per cent of the total let area. 

Largest tenants

Tenant
Annual rent, 

EURk

Proportion of,  
 annual rent 

under contract, % Sq.m.
Number of 

 agreements
Lease term1, 

years
Break option in 

leases2, years
Danske Bank 5,914 26 33,495 3 3.5 2.4
Telia 2,876 12 15,960 1 7.2 7.2
Swedbank 1,843 8 11,266 4 9.7 3.7
Vinted 1,739 8 9,605 3 5.7 2.3
Visma 970 4 5,571 3 2.0 2.0
Citco 660 3 3,009 7 5.6 5.6
Webhelp 501 2 2,726 5 1.7 1.7
Bentley Systems 433 2 2,802 1 5.5 5.5
Cobalt 331 1 1,816 4 3.0 3.0
Invalda INVL 289 1 1,532 3 4.0 4.0
Total   15,556 67 87,781 34 4.8 3.7

The tenants consist largely of large stable Nordic companies with international operations. Eastnine’s 
acquisition of modern office buildings has added some ten new tenants including Lithuania’s first uni-
corn company, Vinted. The average remaining rental time was 4.3 years at the year-end. 

1 Weighted average of remaining lease term.
2 Weighted average remaining lease term calculated up to “break option” date.
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View from Eastnine’s Lithuania office in 3Bures-1,2. 

At year-end, the average annual rent amounted to EUR 179 per 
sq.m. In Lithuania, the annual rent amounted to EUR 180 per 
sq.m., and in Latvia to EUR 177 per sq.m. Total rental income 
for all leases for the whole contract term, amounted to EUR 
103.5m, of which EUR 31.6m falls due for payment in 2026 or 
subsequently. Eastnine applies market rents for all office 
premises. As security, Eastnine normally receives 2-3 months’ 
rent as a deposit at the time of signing the lease. 

Eastnine’s ten largest tenants rent 87,781 sq.m. (76,048), 
corresponding to 67 per cent (67) of the total let area. The con-
tracted annual rent for these ten largest tenants amounted to 
EUR 15.6m (13.4), corresponding to 67 per cent (63) of the total 
annual rent. Eastnine’s ten largest tenants account for 67 per 

cent of the contracted annual rents. The average remaining 
term of lease agreements for these tenants amounted at year-
end to 4.8 years (5.1), in comparison to 4.3 years (4.4) for all 
agreements. The aggregate annual rents, including also park-
ing and other rental income amounted, as at 31 December, to 
EUR 24.5m, of which annual rent in Lithuania accounted for 
86 per cent and Latvia for 14 per cent. 

A large proportion of Eastnine’s leases are green leases. 
Through the introduction of green leases, Eastnine comes to 
an understanding with Eastnine’s tenants of the importance 
of a long-term sustainable business. At the end of the 2021 
financial year, all leases in six out of twelve properties were 
green leases. 
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Current earning capacity

In order to facilitate the assessment of the Company’s current position, Eastnine reports on current 
earning capacity. Earning capacity is a theoretical assessment to describe the Company’s current 
earnings on 31 December 2021.

Earning capacity provides a snapshot 
Earning capacity is not to be regarded as a forecast for the 
coming twelve months, but as a snapshot of the potential 
earnings Eastnine can generate under given circumstances.  
It is based on the property portfolio held on the reporting day. 
Earning capacity does not take into account an assessment of 
the development of rent levels, vacancy, property expenses, 
interest rates, value changes or other factors that may affect 
earnings. Eastnine’s calculated earning capacity is based on 
the following assumptions about income and costs:
• Rental income comprises contracted income including rent 

supplements, with deductions for any rental discounts, on 
the reporting day.

• Property costs (rounded) are based on an assessment of a 
normal year’s operating expenses, maintenance costs, 
property taxes, site leasehold fees as well as property man-
agement expenses.

• Central administration expenses (rounded) have been cal-
culated based on the existing organisation and the current 
property portfolio on the reporting day. 

• Financial income and expenses have been calculated based 

on the interest-bearing liabilities as on the reporting day 
and the average rent level and other financial income and 
expenses that are applicable at the end of the year.

Comment to earning capacity
• Rental value has increased by 20 per cent since the previous 

year. This is chiefly due to Eastnine’s acquisitions of Uniq 
and Uptown Park in Vilnius, as well as Zala 1 in Riga. 

• Rental income and net operating income has increased 
mainly due to these acquisitions. Assessed property 
expenses have increased due to increased maintenance 
costs, as well as charges and more vacant space.

• Profit from property management has decreased, due to 
higher costs attributable to vacancies and higher interest 
expenses due to increased loan credits during the year. The 
average interest rate level has increased, which is primarily 
explained by bond loans raised during the year.

• The forward-looking yield requirement is decreasing, 
mainly due to a higher vacancy rate, increased property 
expenses and higher property value. 
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Current earning capacity  

EURk 2021-12-31 2020-12-31 Change, %
Rental value 27,276 22,791 +20
Less vacancy values -2,738 -1,799 +52
Sum rental income 24,538 20,992 +17
Property expenses -2,700 -2,200 +23
Net operating income 21,838 18,792 +16
Central administration expenses -3,800 -3,600 +6
Interest expenses -6,870 -4,018 +71
Other financial income and expenses -280 - -
Profit from property management 10,888 11,174 -3

Key figures, current earning capacity 2021-12-31 2020-12-31 Change, unit
Surplus ratio, % 89 90 -1
Interest coverage ratio, x 2.6 3.8 -1.2
Debt coverage ratio, x 13.4 11.4 +2.0
Average interest rate, % 2.8 2.3 +0.5
Prospective yield excl. development properties, % 4.6 5.2 -0.6
Prospective yield, % 4.8 5.0 -0.2
Investment properties, EURk 469,817 372,400 97,417

Conference with a view from the 17th floor at 3Bures-1,2 in Vilnius.
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East Capital Baltic Property Fund II

East Capital Baltic Property Fund II 
East Capital Baltic Property Fund II was started in 2012, pri-
marily specialising in properties with well-established tenants 
in and around the Baltic capitals. The fund is fully invested and 
runs with a final extension period up to May 2022.

The fund consisted up to December 2021 of four properties  
in Tallinn. One property, focused on retail outlets and enter-
tainment, was divested at the end of December, whereupon 
Eastnine received EUR 5,287k through redemption of fund 
shares. Sale contracts have been signed for the other three 
properties, two of which were logistics properties and one an 
office property. Of remaining book value of EUR 19,028k, EUR 
14,875k was received during the first quarter 2022 and the 
remainder is expected to be received later in 2022.

Eastnine holds a 10 per cent stake in East Capital (Lux) SCA, 
SICAV-SIF, (an umbrella fund). This holding means that East-
nine receives a 39 per cent share of the returns from the sub-
fund East Capital Baltic Property Fund II.

Value of and dividends from Eastnine’s holding
Eastnine does not carry out its own valuation of the fund 
holding. Instead, the Company’s reported value consists of 

Eastnine’s share of the fund’s total value. Eastnine’s fund 
share value rose by EUR 1,484k (1,019) during the year, of 
which EUR 346k is realised value change in connection with 
redemption of fund shares of EUR 5,287k. At year-end East-
nine’s share amounted to EUR 19,028k (22,831). During the 
year, Eastnine has received a dividend from the fund of EUR 
1,501k (640). Total return for the holding amounted to 13.1 per 
cent (7.6) during the year. 

For more information about holdings, earnings, valuation 
and return relating to East Capital Baltic Property Fund II, refer 
to note 1 (Accounting policies), note 12 (Securities holdings) and 
note 29 (Financial instruments).

Key figures 2021 2020

Unrealised value change, EURk 1,138 1,019
Realised value change, EURk 346 -
Received dividends, EURk 1,501 640
Total return, % 13.1 7.6
Eastnine’s share of fund returns, % 39 43
Fair value of Eastnine’s holding, EURk 19,028 22,831
Proportion of Eastnine assets, % 2.9 4.5

Unrealised value changes amounted to EUR 1,138k during the year and realised value changes to 
EUR 346k. Eastnine has received dividends of EUR 1,501k. The fund is being wound up and during 
the first quarter of 2022, Eastnine recovered EUR 14.9m of fair value amounting to EUR 19.0m at 
the end of the year. 

Telia is the tenant in the S7-2 property in Vilnius. 
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Melon Fashion Group

Melon Fashion Group 
Melon Fashion Group is one of the leading actors in the 
 Russian fashion industry with a business model based on 
in-house design with production in Asia. Products are sold  
in a large number of stores and through online sales, using 
resellers as well as a platform of their own. MFG had, at the 
end of 2021, a retail network comprising a total of 845 stores 
(809), of which 247 (240) were operated by franchisees. The 
total store area amounted to 227,000 sq.m., of which 43,000 
sq.m. in franchise stores.

MFG markets the brands Sela, Befree, Zarina and Love 
Republic. Each brand targets a specific target audience with 
its own, unique design language. Sela is targeted toward 
children and women. Befree targets younger generations 
and offers youthful fashion at a high value for money. Zarina 
is oriented toward women, providing fashion for a classy 
wardrobe. Love Republic focuses on clothes for special occa-
sions with a focus on femininity and sensuality.

The year 2021
MFG reported a strong sales development during 2021 where 
sales increased by 49 per cent to RUB 37,498m (25,220). 
EBITDA increased by 38 per cent to RUB 8,642m (6,271) and 
the EBITDA margin was 23 per cent (24). E-commerce sales 
rose by 42 per cent and amounted to 32 per cent (34) of total 
sales. The fact that the proportion of e-commerce sales was 
even greater in 2020 is explained by all stores being closed 
for a period, due to restrictions related to the coronavirus 
pandemic. MFG continues to have good liquidity and has 
paid dividend to all shareholders totalling RUB 860m (-) 
during the year.

Eastnine’s holding
Eastnine owns 36 per cent of MFG, its holding is unsecured. 
The holding is internally valuated by Eastnine according to  
a cash-flow model. The value of Eastnine’s holding in MFG 
increased by EUR 42,509k (12,423) during the year and 
amounted at year-end to EUR 121,830k (79,320). The strong 
development of sales, higher long-term growth rate and the 
appreciation of the ruble against the euro during the year had 
a positive effect on the valuation of the holding in MFG, at the 
same time as a higher WACC affected the valuation negatively. 
During the year, Eastnine has received EUR 3,266k (-) in divi-
dend from MFG and at the beginning of 2022 an additional 
EUR 6,461k. The total return for the holding amounted to 57.7 
per cent (18.6) during the year.

The previously planned public listing of MFG has had to be 
delayed as a consequence of the Russian invasion of Ukraine 
and the subsequent sanctions. 

For more information about holdings, earnings, valuation 
and return relating to MFG, refer to note 1 (Accounting poli-
cies), note 11 (Securities holdings) and note 29 (Financial 
instruments).

Key figures 2021 2020

Unrealised value change, EURk 42,509 12,423
Received dividends, EURk 3,266 -
Total return, % 57.7 18.6
Eastnine's share, % 36 36
Fair value of Eastnine’s holding, EURm 121,830 79,320
Proportion of Eastnine assets, % 18.7 15.8

The value of Eastnine’s holding in Melon Fashion Group (MFG) increased by EUR 42,509k to EUR 
121,830k at year-end. The value increase was mainly due to the strong development of sales, the 
higher long-term growth rate and appreciation of the ruble in relation to the euro. Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine, and subsequent sanctions, have meant that the planned listing of MFG has been postponed.

Key figures Melon Fashion Group
RUBm 2021 2020 2019

Income 37,498 25,220 22,990
EBITDA 8,642 6,271 6,410
Net profit 3,537 1,069 1,097
Sales growth, % 48.7 9.7 30.4
Gross margin, % 49.5 51.3 52.4
EBITDA margin, % 22.8 24.4 27.9
Number of outlets at year-end 845 809 822
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Welcoming entrance at S7-1 in Vilnius.
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Financing and capital structure
Eastnine has a stable financial basis with a low loan-to-value ratio and a high equity/asset ratio. In 
2021, the Company issued its first bond. The issue volume amounted to EUR 45m and the bond was 
issued within Eastnine’s financing framework which has been awarded the rating of dark green by the 
independent valuation institute Cicero. The average interest rate level rose due to the bond issue.

SEB
Swedbank
OP Bank

52%

17%

31%

Bank loans

Equity
Interest-bearing liabilities 
Other liabilities 

58%

5%

37%

Capital supply

Capital structure
Eastnine manages its own capital for the purpose of achieving 
the Company’s financial targets and ultimately the overarching 
goal of return to the shareholders. Activities are primarily 
financed with equity, liabilities to credit institutions and bond 
loans. Financial governance and capital structure are regulated 
by the Company’s financial policy. 
 According to Eastnine’s financial policy, the equity/asset 
ratio should be at least 35 per cent while the net loan-to-value 
ratio on properties should not exceed 60 per cent. Other 
remaining investments, which at year-end totalled EUR 141m 
(102), are unburdened. Equity provided 58 per cent (62) of total 
capital needs, interest-bearing liabilities 37 per cent (34) and 
other liabilities 5 per cent (4).

Financial policy
The purpose of the financial policy is to describe the governing 
principles for the handling of financial assets, liabilities and 
risks in Eastnine and its subsidiaries. The policy is intended to 
ensure that the Company’s financing and financial manage-
ment are conducted in a structured and well-planned way, and 
that financial risks are considered and controlled. The ultimate 
aim is to achieve balanced and low financial expenses consider-
ing the inherent risks of the chosen strategy.

Equity
Equity amounted at year-end to EUR 376m (310) and the  
total assets to EUR 653m (502). The total number of shares 
amounted to 22,370,261 at the end of 2021 (22,370,261), of 
which 162,515 were repurchased held in treasury (221,200).  

Financing during the year
Interest-bearing liabilities have increased by EUR 68m (35) 
during the year relating to an extended credit of EUR 10m on 
an existing property, a bond issue of EUR 45m and new bank 
credits of EUR 19m in connection with acquisition of two 
properties in May/June. Two existing credits totalling EUR 
26m, which originally matured in September 2021 and Sep-
tember 2022 respectively, have been extended until 31 Decem-
ber 2024. 

Liabilities to credit institutions  
At the end of 2021, interest-bearing liabilities amounted to 
EUR 241m (173), consisting of bank loans of EUR 196m (173) 
and bond financing of Eastnine’s EUR 45m (-). The bank loans 
are from three larger Nordic banks that operate in the Baltics: 
SEB, Swedbank and OP Bank. Unutilised lines of credit 
amounted to EUR 3m (3) comprising of an overdraft facility. 

The net loan-to-value ratio for properties amounted to 45 
per cent (40) and the net loan-to-value ratio to 35 per cent (31). 
The interest coverage ratio amounted to 2.7x (3.7) for the full 
year 2021 and the debt coverage ratio to 15.7 (12.4). The aver-
age capital tie-up period was at year-end 2.5 years (3.0) and 
the fixed interest term 1.5 years (2.3). 

Annual average repayments amounted at year-end to  
EUR 6.5m (6.1), corresponding to 2.7 per cent (3.5) of inter-
est-bearing liabilities. The reduction in the percentage repay-
ment rate is explained by the amortisation-free bond and a 
new amortisation-free loan.
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Interest expenses and derivatives
At year-end, the average interest rate was 2.8 per cent (2.3).   
Eastnine uses interest derivatives to hedge against increased 
interest expenses due to increasing market rates. According 
to the financial policy, at least 50 per cent of interest-bearing 
liabilities shall have fixed interest. The derivative portfolio 
consists only of interest rate swaps, and at year-end 60 per 
cent (75) of the Company’s interest-bearing liabilities had 
fixed interest through swap agreements. 
 The derivative portfolio is valued at fair value and the 
value amounted to EUR -1.4m (-2.7) at year-end. Value 
changes are taken up in profit or loss. At the end of the  
term, the value of derivatives is always zero.

Maturity structure of interest-bearing liabilities

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

20262025202420232022

EURm

Tied-up capital and fixed interest

0.0

0.8

1.6

2.4

3.2

4.0
Year %

Capital tie-up period, 
years

Average interest rate, %Fixed-interest term, 
years

0

1

2

3

4

5

202120212021202120202020202020202019201920192019
Q4Q3Q2Q1Q4Q3Q2Q1Q4Q3Q2Q1

Change in interest-bearing liabilities

2021 2020

Interest-bearing liabilities at the 
 beginning of the year 173,151 137,771
New loans 29,277 40,950
Bond issue 45,000 -
Amortisations -6,344 -5,570
Interest-bearing liabilities at year-end 241,084 173,151

Key figures for bond 2021

Net loan-to-value ratio, properties, % 45
Interest coverage ratio, pro forma, x 3.0

Securities and covenants
Liabilities to credit institutions are secured through mort-
gage deeds in properties and in some cases also shares in 
property-owning subsidiaries as well as with parent company 
guarantee. At the end of 2021, Uptown Park in Vilnius and the 
Kimmel project property, which comprises a development 
site, were unburdened and not pledged. 89 per cent (98) of the 
property value was mortgaged as security on loans from 
credit institutions. 

The lending agreements, both from credit institutions and 
bondholders, include covenants, which set limit values for 
certain key figures, in order to reduce the lender’s counter-
party risk. The limits imposed by these covenants chiefly con-
cern the equity/asset ratio, the loan-to-value ratio and the 
debt service coverage ratio. 
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Green financing
According to the current financial policy, green financing is to 
be prioritised when it comes to refinancing and new financ-
ing. The supply of green bank loans in the Baltics was very 
limited until 2020. During the spring of 2021, an existing loan 
of EUR 18m was converted into a green bank loan and during 
the summer a green bond of EUR 45m was issued. At year-end, 
green financing accounted for 26 per cent (-) of interest-bear-
ing liabilities. It is intended that the share of green financing 
should increase. 

Green financing framework
During 2020, Eastnine established a green financial frame-
work. The green framework specifies how liquidity from 
green bonds, or from credit institutions which finance loans 
by issuing green bonds, may be used. The framework has been 
developed in accordance with the Green Bond Principles, 
developed by the International Capital Market Association 
(ICMA), and evaluated by an independent third-party, 
CICERO Shades of green, a subsidiary of CICERO (Center for 
International Climate Research). CICERO is an independent 
climate research institute. 
 The framework obtained the highest possible classification 
Dark Green and Excellent. According to the framework, finan-
cial liquidity may be used as follows:
• Green buildings: At least BREEAM Excellent, LEED Plati-

num or an equivalent certification, in all cases with a score 
of at least 80 per cent of the total number of possible points 
in the energy category.

• Clean transportation: Electric vehicles, charging stations, 
bicycle garages, pedestrian paths or other investments 
which promote the use of clean transportation.

• Energy efficiency: Refurbishment of existing buildings 
which result in an energy efficient improvement of 30  
per cent.

Eastnine’s green financial framework, as well as CICERO’s 
evaluation, may be found on https://www.eastnine.com/en/
green-bond. 

Other liabilities
Other liabilities in the pie chart on pg. 51 are chiefly comprised 
of deferred tax liabilities, fair value of derivatives and tenant 
security deposits.

Liquidity
Cash and cash equivalents, which primarily consist of cash  
in bank accounts, amounted at year-end to EUR 29m (24). 
Unutilised bank overdraft facilities amounted to EUR 3m (3). 
Eastnine’s healthy liquidity and low liabilities means that the 
Company is well-equipped to meet upcoming payments and 
further expansion of the property portfolio.

Illustration based on Cicero’s original document: 
Eastnine’s green financing framework received the 
highest ratings, Dark Green and Excellent respecti-
vely, from the independent climate research institute 
CICERO.
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The share and shareholders

Share price development and turnover
Eastnine’s share price rose by SEK 33.4 during the year to SEK 
158.4 (125.0) at year-end, which was also the highest closing 
price during the year. The lowest closing price was noted on 
28 January at SEK 117.2.

Eastnine’s market capitalisation amounted at year-end  
to SEK 3.5 billion (2.8). The average daily volume on Nasdaq 
increased to 28,204 shares (15,104) during the year. The free 
float amounted to 49.7 per cent (62.8) at year-end.

Net asset value
The long-term net asset value per share rose by SEK 35 during 
the year, corresponding to 24 per cent, to amount to SEK 182 
(147) at year-end. The value in euro rose by EUR 3.0, corre-
sponding to 21 per cent, to EUR 17.6 (14.6). Equity per share 
rose by SEK 33, corresponding to 23 per cent, to SEK 174 (141). 
The value in euro rose by EUR 2.9, corresponding to 21 per 
cent, to EUR 16.9 (14.0).

Positive profit from property management, unrealised value 
changes, dividend from investments and strengthening of the 
euro in relation to the krona were contributory factors to the 
increase in net asset value per share. The discount to net asset 
value has decreased during the year and amounted to 13 per 
cent (15) at year-end.

Number of shares 
Eastnine’s share is listed on Nasdaq Stockholm Mid Cap, Real 
Estate. The total number of shares in Eastnine AB amounted 
to 22,370,261 at year-end. Adjusted for repurchased shares 
held in treasury, the number of listed shares amounted to 
22,207,746. 

The number of known shareholders has increased during 
the year by 36 per cent to 6,769 (4,990) at year-end. Three 
owners, Peter Elam Håkansson, Bonnier Fastigheter Invest 
and Arbona, each had at least ten per cent of the total number 
of shares in the Company. Bonnier acquired its shares in Octo-
ber 2021. The proportion of shares that are Swedish-owned 
amounted to 76.6 per cent (73.9).

Buy-back
On 31 December 2021, the Company had 162,515 repurchased 
shares held in treasury, corresponding to around 0.7 per cent 
of the total number of shares. Repurchased shares may be 
used for Eastnine’s long-term incentive programmes (LTIP). 
The dilution effect of repurchased shares that at year-end are 
judged to be used for current LTIP programmes, is reported for 
the key ratio earnings per share.

At the AGM 2021, the Board received a new mandate to 
decide on share buy-back, providing that Eastnine’s holding 
of treasury shares may not at any time exceed 10 per cent of all 
shares in all shares in the Company.

Eastnine’s share price rose by 27 per cent during the year and was SEK 158.4 at year-end. Long-
term NAV per share rose by 24 per cent to SEK 182, due to a positive profit from property man-
agement, positive unrealised value changes, dividends from other investments and the appre-
ciation of the euro in relation to the krona.

Turnover 2021
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Largest shareholders1 Number of shares  %
Peter Elam Håkansson2 5,944,459 26.6
Bonnier Fastigheter Invest AB 3,060,450 13.7
Arbona AB (publ) 2,240,328 10.0
Lazard Asset Management 1,234,665 5.5
Kestutis Sasnauskas2 856,545 3.8
Patrik Brummer 832,930 3.7
Avanza Pension 457,353 2.0
Nordnet Pensionsförsäkring 411,886 1.8
Karine Hirn1 373,200 1.7
Dimensional Fund Advisors 332,361 1.5
CARN Capital 259,749 1.2
Jacob Grapengiesser 167,861 0.8
Albin Rosengren 157,235 0.7
Staffan Malmer 157,078 0.7
SEB Fonder 144,169 0.6
Total 15 largest shareholders 16,630,269 74.3
Eastnine AB (repurchased shares) 162,515 0.7
Other 5,577,477 24.9
Total 22,370,261 100.0

Ownership 
 distribution  
by holdings1

Size class
Number of 

shares
Propor-
tion, %

Number 
known 

owners

Propor-
tion of 
known 
share-

holders %
1 - 1,000 720,371 3.2 6,432 95.0
1,001 - 10,000 826,882 3.7 273 4.0
10,001 - 100,000 1,435,912 6.4 47 0.7
100,001 - 1,000,000 4,446,131 19.9 13 0.2
1,000,001 - 5,000,000 6,535,443 29.2 3 0.0
5,000,001 - 5,944,459 26.6 1 0.0
Anonymous ownership 2,461,063 11.0 N/A N/A
Total 22,370,261 100.0 6,769 100.0

Hong Kong
Other countries
Anonymous

77%

2%

8%

10%2%

1%

Sweden
USA
Norway

Owner concentration1

1 Source: Monitor.
2 Private and through companies.
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Eastnine (dividend-adjusted) Stockholm Real Estate GI

Share price  

Owner types1

Type
Number of 

shares
Propor-
tion, %

Number 
of 

known 
owners

Propor-
tion of 
known 

owners 
%

Other 13,530,723 60.5 261 3.9 
Swedish 12,732,534 56.9 106 1.6 
Foreign 798,189 3.6 155 2.3 

Swedish private 
 individuals 3,705,322 16.6 6,469 95.6 
Fund managers 2,278,962 10.2 19 0.3 

Swedish 411,355 1.8 9 0.1 
Foreign 1,867,607 8.3 10 0.1 

Repurchased shares 162,515 0.7 1 0.0
Swedish 162,515 0.7 1 0.0

Pension & insurance 156,218 0.7 12 0.2
Swedish 82,734 0.4 6 0.1
Foreign 73,484 0.3 6 0.1

State, municipality & 
county councils 32,170 0.1 3 0.0

Swedish 773 0.0   1 0.0
Foreign 31,397 0.1 2 0.0

Foundation 30,288 0.1 3 0.0
Swedish 30,288 0.1 3 0.0

Investment & Asset 
management 13,000 0.1 1 0.0

Swedish 13,000 0.1 1 0.0
Anonymous ownership 2,461,063 11.0 N/A N/A
Total 22,370,261 100.0 6,769 100.0

Owner concentration1

Concentration
Number of  

shares
Propor- 
tion, %

The 10 largest owners 15,744,177 70.4
The 20 largest owners 17,220,155 77.0
The 30 largest owners 17,758,007 79.4

Value
Data per share 2021-12-31 2020-12-31
Equity, EUR 16.9 14.0
Long-term net asset value, EUR 17.6 14.6
Share price, EUR 15.4 12.4
Equity, SEK 174 141
Long-term net asset value, SEK 182 147
Share price, SEK 158.4 125.0

Dividend
The Board of Directors has proposed a dividend of SEK 3.00 
per share for the 2021 financial year, with payments evenly 
distributed over four occasions in 2022 and early 2023. The 
proposed dividend would correspond to 68 per cent of the 
profit from property management.

The 2021 Annual General Meeting decided on a dividend of 
SEK 3.00 per share (2.70) for the 2020 financial year to be paid 
in four instalments, and payments have been made in May, 
August, November 2021 and February 2022 respectively. 
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Risk and risk management

Risks associated with the investment strategy 
The investment strategy, i.e. to make long-term investments in 
modern and sustainable office and logistics properties in prime 
locations in the Baltics, means that Eastnine is chiefly exposed to 
risks relating to interest rates, and credit risk as well as rent and 
vacancy risks. The table below describes the main risks, the expo-
sure and how risks are managed in the Company. Risk manage-
ment and follow-up is an important and integrated part of East-
nine’s operations. The Company uses a number of different tools 
to continually identify, evaluate and limit risks. Risk manage-
ment is handled by the Company’s management in accordance 
with relevant policies that have been established by the Board. 
Financial risks are primarily handled by the finance function in 
accordance with the Company’s financial policy.

Risks associated with the pandemic and Russia
The coronavirus pandemic entails a comprehensive risk of 
impact on the real estate sector, in the event that contagion and 
measures taken to counteract it lead to weaker economies, less 
business, lower employment and poorer access to financing, as 
well as potential changes in the way offices are used. The effect 
on Eastnine has been very limited to date. 
 Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, and the sharp deterioration in the 
geopolitical situation, has led to the planned listing of MFG being 
postponed. The western world’s sanctions have led to a weaken-
ing of the ruble. Eastnine is monitoring the development and 
will, as usual, value the holding in MFG in connection with the 
interim report for the period January-March 2022.

Through its operations, Eastnine is exposed to different kinds of risks. Most of Eastnine’s business is 
exposed to directly-owned property investments in the Baltics, while a large proportion of tenants and 
sources of finance are Nordic with international operations. The holding in Melon Fashion Group 
entails exposure to Russia.

 AREA  RISK  PROBABILITY  EFFECT
Operation

Changed demand for office premises
Value changes, properties
Rental income and occupancy rate
Property expenses
Investments and projects
Property transactions
Organisational and operational risks
Disputes
IT/Cyber
Suppliers

Sustainability

- Climate-related adaptation Higher energy prices
Increased regulation of property development and operations
Introduction of carbon pricing
Changed customer preferences

 - Physical climate-related Increased cost for operations at higher temperatures
Extreme local weather conditions

 - Other Staff and related to working environment
Corruption and unethical conduct

Environment

Business cycles
Inflation 
Legislation and taxes
Local, political risks and planning risks 
Supply of premises
Price of raw materials
Value changes in other holdings

Financial

Interest rates
Credit
Liquidity
Refinancing
Currency
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Operational risks
RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Changed demand for office premises

The demand for office premises may change in the short, 
medium and long term, which entails risks of impacts on real 
estate business. Real estate companies are facing greater 
demands to provide flexible and adaptable office space as a 
result of trends reducing the demand for offices (in terms of 
sq.m/employees), more employees working from home, and a 
changing/increasing demand for conference areas that spur 
creativity and interaction. The short- and long-term demand 
for office premises also risks being affected by measures 
 relating to coronavirus lockdown of economies in Eastnine’s 
markets, as well as tenants concerns relating to the risk of 
virus transmission and the use of office premises.

Eastnine monitors the development on the property and office markets as 
well as of the demand from tenants relating to the design of office space, in 
order to be able to customise office premises according to needs and 
wishes. 

Eastnine is continually in dialogue with stakeholders and proactively 
implements measures to keep the properties open, accessible and safe. The 
Company has been providing support to businesses that, due to the nature 
of their business, have been particularly hard hit by the coronavirus pan-
demic. 

Eastnine has a robust tenant structure, with a large proportion of tenants 
being Nordic groups with international operations. The average remaining 
lease term of the ten largest tenants is 4.8 years.

The broadening of the strategy to also include logistics, will eventually 
reduce the Company’s exposure to risks associated with changed demand 
for office premises.

Value changes in properties  

Risk of negative changes in investment properties, which are 
taken up at fair value in the balance sheet and for which value 
changes are reflected in profit or loss. The value of properties 
depends on, and is calculated on the basis of a variety of fac-
tors. These factors include observable data such as current 
rental income, property expenses, decided and known invest-
ments, as well as current inflation, in addition to assessments 
of yield requirements, discount rates, future rent levels and 
vacancies. These input data and assessments can prove 
incorrect and conditions may come to change, which in turn 
can cause value changes.

The risk of negative value changes is primarily handled by offering modern 
and attractive office and logistics premises in the best locations, and 
thereby attracting and retaining stable tenants, which reduces the risk of 
vacancies and rent reduction levels. All properties are valued externally at 
least once during any given twelve-month period, in addition to internal val-
uations carried out in the interval. Carrying out external valuations of a 
number of properties every quarter provides an opportunity to verify the 
data used as input to other internal valuations. Valuations are carried out 
according to established internal routines for making assessments and col-
lecting data and according to a structured valuation model. 

Rental income and occupancy rate

Rental income is affected by the rent level and occupancy rates, 
in addition to the tenants’ ability to pay. External factor such as 
the business climate, population growth and the supply of 
equivalent premises will in turn affect these factors. 

Risk relating to falling rental income as well as lasting vacancies are 
 mitigated by Eastnine’s concentration on modern properties in the most 
attractive commercial areas. 

Lease agreements typically have a term of 3–5 years, and sometimes 
longer still in new developments, which provides for a gradual adjustment 
to market rents. Around 98 per cent of lease rents for offices are tied to con-
sumer price indexes, either on a country level or on the EU/Eurozone levels. 
Lease agreements are not, however, affected by a decline in the CPI.

Eastnine has around 140 tenants and a total of 175 lease agreements. High 
concentration toward specific tenants, such as Danske Bank, may result in an 
increased risk. Danske Bank’s tenancy agreements decreased from 27 per 
cent of the total annual rent to 26 per cent during the year. In the longer term, 
Eastnine aims to achieve a greater spread eventually. Rent losses were negligi-
ble in 2021.

Property expenses 

Property expenses are to a considerable degree composed  
of utilities such as electricity, waste collection, water and 
heating. Several of these goods and services can only be pur-
chased from a single provider, making the provision thereof 
more difficult to influence. In addition, there are costs for 
property taxes, property maintenance and administration. 
Unforeseen and extensive repairs can also have a negative 
impact on earnings.

Eastnine’s lettings are, first and foremost, agreed on as triple-net agree-
ments, meaning that tenants are liable to pay costs relating to their prem-
ises. Eastnine’s high surplus ratio is attributable to the fact that a majority of 
Eastnine’s leases are triple-net, which reduces the effect of rising property 
expenses, while increased vacancies may increase property expenses for 
Eastnine. 

Eastnine is working continually as part of its sustainability efforts, to 
improve the energy efficiency and optimise the operation of its proper-
ties, in order to reduce environmental impacts as well as to reduce costs 
and reduce the risk of unforeseen costs. 
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RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Investments and projects

Development projects and investments are associated with 
risks of increased construction costs, delays and counterparty 
risk when engaging external contractors. Development pro-
jects are also often associated with rental risk.

Technical risks in properties, such as construction defects, 
other defects, or other property damage, result in a risk of 
increased property costs. 

At the end of 2021, Eastnine had no actively ongoing development project. 
Eastnine’s property strategy includes development projects and the Com-
pany continually evaluates opportunities to construct new modern and 
 sustainable office and logistics properties in line with its strategy. Projects 
would normally only start after a large proportion of lease agreements have 
been signed. Eastnine is working to develop guidelines for future develop-
ment projects to reduce the risk of unforeseen additional expenses. 

Investments in existing property portfolio are continually being made in 
order to ensure that the portfolio remains modern and sustainable, and 
thereby attractive to tenants. 

 Property transactions  

The risk of property transactions falling through, or trans-
actions on disadvantageous terms, due to limited supply or 
limited demand.

For Eastnine transaction risk today relates exclusively to acquisition, and is 
mitigated by Eastnine having an organisation with considerable real estate 
experience a broad network on the relevant markets, which means that 
Eastnine can take part in the transactions of interest. Since Eastnine has  
a long investment time horizon, properties that require development or 
refurbishment may be acquired, which increases available supply. At the 
same time, strategic and financial targets set clear limits on acceptable 
 levels of risk and return.

Organisational risk and operational risks 

Risk of losses resulting from lacking routines or systems, or 
that occur as a result of ignorance of new regulatory changes 
which affect the business.

Oversight and review of internal routines and systems are carried out con-
tinually. Eastnine’s auditors review the internal routines and report directly 
to the Board once per year. The Company has a business centric organisa-
tional structure, with staff employed at the parent company’s home coun-
try, Sweden, as well as in the countries where the properties are, Lithuania 
and Latvia.

As Eastnine only has few employees, the Company is exposed to key per-
son dependency, although one that has decreased in recent years. Over the 
last few years, several new employees have been hired, and the compe-
tency among the staff broadened as the organisation has grown. The Com-
pany has a continuity policy which encompasses the Company’s central 
functions and which is reviewed annually by the Board. Internal control is 
deemed to be good and the operational risks low.

Dispute risks  

The risk of Eastnine becoming involved in litigation, which 
could affect operations, earnings and financial position. 

Eastnine structures its work in accordance with policies and internal 
 guidelines to minimise the risk of disputes, not least during property 
 transactions.

IT risk  

The risk that IT systems used by Eastnine are attacked, that 
the Company's operations are manipulated, that information 
falls in the wrong hands and is spread to wrong people. 

Eastnine’s IT systems is continually updated, including security measures 
such as firewalls, virus protection, etc.

The parts of Eastnine’s properties’ IT systems which control the proper-
ties are not connected to the internet.

Supplier risk

The risk of hiring and entering into contracts with suppliers 
that fail to fulfil the agreements, which break the law, or act  
in unethical manner, resulting in higher costs or damage to 
Eastnine's reputation.

Eastnine has a long experience of working with suppliers. Eastnine has 
implemented a Code of Conduct policy for suppliers and carries out using a 
web-based supplier evaluation tool in order to identify and follow up any 
risks relating to business ethics or the environment. In the event that a sup-
plier is unable to mitigate identified risks, agreements may be terminated.
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Sustainability risks
RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Climate-related changeover risks

Higher energy prices  

Changeover to a fossil-free community, both as a result of 
increased regulation and increased demand for fossil-free 
energy supply, may lead to energy shortages and higher mar-
ket prices if production does not develop apace with demand, 
or due to temporary imbalances between supply and 
demand. 

Eastnine works actively with energy efficiency and with increasing the 
quantity of self-produced renewable energy. The goal is for Eastnine’s prop-
erty portfolio to consume 25 per cent less energy by 2025, compared with 
2019. This would correspond to an average energy consumption of 100 
kWh/sq.m. In new construction, the aim is for energy consumption to be at 
most 50 kWh/sq.m. Properties that are certified shall achieve at least 80 per 
cent of all available points within the energy category. An analysis of prop-
erty energy performance is carried out in connection with acquisitions as 
part of ESG due diligence.

Increased regulation of property development and operations 

Statutory requirements for sustainable and certified buildings 
will increase apace with the development of the EU taxonomy. 
As a result of increased regulation, the changeover costs for 
non-green properties may increase. In addition to changeover 
costs, increased regulation will have a negative effect on 
access to financing for non-green properties. 

100 per cent of Eastnine’s property portfolio (as regards area and not 
including properties that are expected to undergo extensive development) 
shall be sustainability-certified in accordance with at least LEED Gold or 
BREEAM Excellent. At present, 81 per cent of the property area has been cer-
tified in accordance with these requirements, while the certification process  
has been started or will be started within a year after acquisition for the 
remaining 19 per cent. 

Introduction of carbon pricing

Introduction of a price for carbon dioxide will lead to 
increased costs for material with high carbon dioxide emis-
sions during production, such as concrete and steel. It will 
also lead to higher costs for climate compensation for emis-
sions from operations and development of properties. 

Eastnine's goal is to achieve climate neutral property operation at the latest 
by 2030. Energy efficiency improvements, a higher share of renewable energy 
and local production of renewable energy are our foremost strategies for lim-
iting risk. During 2021, emission intensity amounted to 8 kg/sq.m. before, and 
to 0 kg/sq.m. after, climate compensation. The cost amounted to SEK 
215,000.

Changed customer preferences

The requirements for sustainable and certified buildings, 
which moreover promote health and well-being, have 
increased for a number of years and will probably continue to 
increase in the future. Buildings, which do not comply with 
these requirements risk earning lower rental income and hav-
ing their value discounted.

At present, 81 per cent of the property area is certified within these frame-
works, while the certification process has started or will be started within a 
year for the remining 19 per cent. When acquiring non-certified properties, 
it is required that the certification process is started within a year. In addi-
tion to sustainability certifications, health and well-being certification are 
carried out in accordance with WELL and Fitwel.

Climate-related physical risks

Increased costs for property operation, due to higher average temperatures 

Climate changes involve a number of challenges for proper-
ties. Rising temperatures affect the costs of cooling and will 
make demands on cooling systems with a higher capacity 
than the current standard. 

Climate risks are taken into account already in the design phase of new 
 construction and affect the design of façades, the size and direction of 
glazed areas and the capacity of planned cooling systems. In the design of 
The Pine in Riga, specialised energy experts have been invited for a 
so-called "second opinion", on the energy model and the prerequisites for 
efficient cooling and heating systems. In the existing portfolio, cooling sys-
tems are dimensioned on the basis of current conditions, as the average age 
of the properties is relatively low. Higher energy consumption leads to 
higher costs. 

Increased risk of extreme local weather conditions

The risk of negative consequences due to climate changes 
such as, besides higher temperature, increased annual precip-
itation, heavy falls of snow, drought or higher water levels can 
result in damp or settlement damage in properties. 

Eastnine carries out a systematic analysis of local, physical climate-related 
risks in the property portfolio. A MunichRe tool, provided by GRESB, is used 
for this purpose. The analysis shows a number of IPCC based scenarios and 
time horizons until 2050 and 2100. On the basis of this analysis, the overall 
exposure is considered to be low, in the short- and long-term. See pgs. 59, 
and 117-118 for more information about climate-related risks.
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RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Other sustainability risks

Risks relating to employees and work environment  

The risk of physical and mental injury affecting employees or 
customers as a result of an unhealthy work environment, devi-
ations in the indoor climate, or risks relating to the working 
environment on construction sites.  

Construction is not carried out by Eastnine itself. The most important strat-
egies to mitigate these risks are a clear working environment policy for 
employees, as well as a focus on health promotion. Eastnine carries out an 
annual employee survey focused on employee satisfaction at work and fac-
tors in the working environment that affect performance and well-being. 
See pgs. 24-25 for more information on the Great Place to Work survey. 

Corruption and unethical conduct 

Bribes, fraud or other forms of unethical behaviour within 
Eastnine or in its relationship with suppliers, contractors,  
 customers and other parties, may lead to financial injury  
as well as a loss of confidence in the company.

Eastnine works systematically with corporate culture and values, focusing on 
ethical operations and zero toleration for corruption and nepotism. Training 
on anti-corruption and business ethics takes place at least once a year where 
all employees discuss and analyse hypothetical cases where problems may 
arise. Observations or suspicions of unethical behaviour can be reported 
anonymously to a whistleblower function on Eastnine’s website. Sustain-
ability inspection of all strategic suppliers is carried out.

External risks
RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Business cycles

The economic situation and growth affecting the economies 
of the countries in which Eastnine operates affects employ-
ment rates, supply and demand of commercial premises and 
thereby also vacancy rates and rent levels. 

Eastnine has no, or limited capacity, to affect the economic situation and 
business cycle on a macro level. Eastnine’s business strategy to provide 
modern and sustainable office and logistics properties to stable tenants in 
first-class locations in the Baltics is expected to provide a certain level or 
resilience against the negative effects of a worsening business climate. 

Inflation 

Inflation expectations affect the market interest rate, and 
actual inflation affects lease agreements with inflation index-
ation and property expenses. Over time, inflation and interest 
rate movements also affect the yield requirements on proper-
ties and thereby the market value of those properties.

The majority of Eastnine’s leases entail that the rent is adjusted to inflation. 
Property expenses are largely transferred to tenants due to triple net agree-
ments, although this does not apply to vacant areas. In the short-term, 
there is a risk that cost inflation (most often local) exceeds inflation in 
 market rents and agreed rent agreements (equally distributed between EU 
inflation and local inflation).

Legislation and taxes 

Changes in legislation in Sweden or the Baltic countries, such 
as corporate and property taxes, may change the conditions 
on which Eastnine operates.

Eastnine monitors regulatory changes internally as well as with external 
advice, and adapts the business in order to comply with relevant legislation 
and regulation. 

Local, political risk and plan risk  

Local and political risk as well as planning risk may delay or in 
other ways affect the possibility of developing properties. 
Political developments can also affect the business climate 
and, consequently, the demand for business premises.

Eastnine monitors the political development in the Company's geographi-
cal areas of focus, e.g. by establishing relationships with governing institu-
tions, in order to promote a healthy business climate and to minimise the 
risk, and maximise the potential of development projects. 

Supply of premises 
The supply of premises may affect occupancy rates and rent 
levels. The completion of large construction projects may 
affect these negatively. 

Eastnine strives to provide modern and sustainable premises in a first-rate 
property portfolio. A relevant and attractive offering to tenants limits the 
risk for falling rent levels for the Company's premises. Eastnine’s strategy is 
to hold a considerable market position in order to be able to offer alterna-
tives to tenants wishing to move to larger or smaller premises.

Price of raw materials risk

Risks relating to the price of raw materials arise primarily in 
conjunction with development projects which go on for 
longer periods, and for which considerable amounts of raw 
materials must be purchased.

There is currently no ongoing development project in Eastnine's portfolio, 
other than at the planning stage.
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RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Risk of value changes in other holdings

Value changes in non-property related holdings, i.e. 
Melon Fashion Group MFG, are chiefly affected by external 
risks as well as risks specific to MFG as a Russian fashion 
chain. MFG is reported in the balance sheet at fair value 
and value changes are recognised through profit or loss. 
The value of the holding in MFG depends, in addition to 
MFG-specific valuation factors such as the earnings of  
the underlying business, inter alia, on market risk and 
 currency exchange risk.

The market value of the holding in MFG is estimated every quarter internally 
using an established valuation method. Eastnine’s intention has been to divest 
the holding as soon as it deemed commercially optimal and according to the 
plan MFG would have potentially listed by the summer of 2022, which will not 
now happen. It has been shown after Russia's invasion of Ukraine that there is 
considerable risk attached to Russian investments. Eastnine’s influence in MFG 
is limited to the role of a shareholder and a position on the Board of Directors, 
without controlling influence over the business.

Financial risks
RISK DESCRIPTION MITIGATION, IMPACT AND PROBABILITY 

Interest rate risk  

The risk of increased cost of interest-bearing liabilities, 
tied to market interest rates, and where changes in mar-
ket interest rates affect earnings and cash flow. 

Interest expenses is normally one of the larger expenditure items in a real estate 
company, and therefore carries significant weight in the Company’s profit or 
loss. Interest rate risk is limited by ensuring that at least 50 per cent of inter-
est-bearing liabilities have a fixed interest term of at least 12 months. Eastnine 
fixes interest by using derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps. The average 
remaining interest rate term shall exceed 1.0 year. 

Credit risk  

Credit risk arises, e.g. in conjunction with bank deposits 
and through customer losses if customers become insol-
vent or are unable to meet their payment obligations.

Eastnine distributes its cash deposits in three larger Nordic banks in the 
 countries in which the Company operates. Eastnine regularly follows ups rent 
payments according to internal routines.

Liquidity risk   

The risk that the Company lacks liquid assets for future 
payment obligations.

Eastnine prepares monthly liquidity forecasts for the coming twelve months. 
The Company shall have sufficient liquidity in order to cover the needs of the 
coming six months net outflow. The interest coverage ratio shall amount to at 
least 2.0x.

Refinancing risk

Refinancing risk is the risk of not being able to obtain  
new financing to the extent needed, either when existing 
financing matures or when a need for new financing 
arises. 

The number of Nordic banks that are active in the Baltics has increased during 
2021, which has had a positive effect on access to capital. Eastnine perceives 
that the Company is a preferred borrower due to its larger long-term property 
ownership. According to the financial policy, the net loan-to-value ratio for prop-
erties shall not exceed 60 per cent and maximally 40 per cent of interest-bearing 
liabilities shall mature in any 12-month period. The requirement of limited con-
centration of maturities was not complied with at the end of 2021, but during the 
year the maturity profile has been shifted into the future and no maturities will 
occur in 2022. It is intended that the maturity profile should continuously, in 
conjunction with new financing, be more even. The capital tie-up period shall 
amount to at least 1.5 years.

Currency risk  

For Eastnine, currency exchange risk is the risk that the 
value of assets denominated in currencies other than the 
euro will decline in value as a result of a weakened 
exchange rate towards the euro.

Eastnine’s holding of MFG depends on an underlying valuation of MFG in ruble 
and the valuation is converted to euro in Eastnine’s financial statements. 
 Eastnine does not hedge against the exchange rate.

Sensitivity analysis, properties
SENSITIVITY PARAMETER ASSUMPTION EFFECT ON VALUE CHANGE

Market rent +/- 5.0 % +17.3 EURM / -17.3 EURM 

Economic occupancy rate +/- 1.0 percentage point +4.6 EURM / -4.9 EURM

Yield requirement -/+ 0.25 percentage points +16.2 EURM / -14.9 EURM

Market interest rate +/- 0.5 percentage point +0.1 EURM / -0.1 EURM (effect on earnings)
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Administration Report

General information about Eastnine
Eastnine AB (publ) is a real estate company listed on Nasdaq 
Stockholm, Mid Cap. Eastnine is to be the leading long-term 
provider of modern and sustainable office and logistics premi-
ses in first-class locations in the Baltics. 

With the exception of Melon Fashion Group, which is 
owned directly by the Parent Company, the activities are 
managed by the fully-owned Estonian operating subsidiary 
Eastnine Baltics OÜ with subsidiaries in Latvia and Lithua-
nia, together called “Eastnine” or “the Eastnine Group”. By 
the end of the year, Eastnine had 23 full-time employees.

Eastnine’s business plan
The overarching goal is to create a sustainable, attractive total 
return for its shareholders. The total return shall over time 
exceed the average of comparable European real estate com-
panies. A selection of Eastnine’s targets is shown below.

Eastnine’s operational targets 
• Annual profit from property management shall increase to 

EUR 25m, as calculated based on Q4 2023.
• The property portfolio shall grow to EUR 700m by the end 

of 2023.
• Focusing the business on real estate, by divesting invest-

ments that are not directly-owned real estate as soon as 
financially optimal exits can be found.

Eastnine’s financial targets
• Return on equity should be at least 10 per cent over time.
• Dividend is to correspond in the long term to at least  

50 per cent of profit from property management, after 
deductions for applicable taxes.

• The net loan-to-value ratio on properties should be at most 
60 per cent.

• The equity/asset ratio should be at least 35 per cent.
• The interest coverage ratio shall amount to at least 2.0x.

Eastnine’s sustainability targets  
• Property operations are to be carbon dioxide-neutral by the 

end of 2030.
• All properties should have obtained sustainability certifica-

tes on the level of at least LEED Gold or BREEAM Excellent.
• 100 per cent of the properties’ energy consumption should 

be sourced from renewable energy.
• Increase use of sustainable materials in new construction 

and refurbishment.
• Increase the proportion of green financing.
• Proportion of green leases to increase over time.

Key events during the year
In the second quarter, the property Zala 1 in Riga and the pro-
perty Uniq in Vilnius were acquired and taken into possession 
for a total purchase price of EUR 35.5m.

Eastnine issued its first green bond of EUR 45m at the 
beginning of July.

In December, Eastnine acquired and took into possession 
the office property Uptown Park in Vilnius for a purchase 
price of EUR 40.0m.

Administration
At year-end, the lettable area amounted to 143,219 sq.m. 
During the year, new leases have been signed for a total of 
9,262 sq.m. at an average rent of EUR 178/sq.m. and year. The 
rental level for renegotiated leases, amounting to 19,915 sq.m. 
has on average been EUR 183/sq.m. and year. 

Net letting, i.e. new leases less terminated leases, has been 
negative during the year and amounted to -9,007 sq.m., cor-
responding to annual rents of EUR -1,720k. 

The Board of Directors of Eastnine AB (publ), Corporate registration number 556693-7404, hereby sub-
mits the annual report for the 2021 financial year. The reporting currency of the Parent Company and 
the Group is the euro.
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Rental income, occupancy rate and WAULT
At year-end, annual agreed rental income amounted to EUR 
24,538k (20,992) corresponding to an economic occupancy 
rate of 90.0 per cent (92.1). Rental income for the year 
increased by 12 per cent to EUR 21,530k (19,186). This increase 
is an effect of a larger property portfolio and higher rent levels. 
Rental income in a comparable portfolio decreased by 6 per 
cent compared to the previous year. 

The average remaining lease term for lease agreements at 
the year-end, weighted in accordance with agreed rental 
income (WAULT), amounted to 4.3 years (4.4).

Annual rental income, EURk 2021 2020

Comparable properties 16,444 17,571
Acquisitions 5,086 1,615
Total 21,530 19,186

Earnings
Net operating income was EUR 19,237k (17,497) and the sur-
plus ratio amounted to 89 per cent (91). Profit from property 
management amounted to EUR 9,527k (10,011). The increase 
in net operating income is related to acquisitions, while the 
decrease in profit from property management is caused by 
higher interest expenses attributable to the bond issue in July, 
the capital of which was not invested in properties until the 
end of December. 

Unrealised value changes of properties amounted to EUR 
16,306k (17,383). Unrealised value changes for investments 
amounted to EUR 43,648k (13,443).

Unrealised value changes in derivatives amounted to EUR 
1,349k (-782). Realised changes in value and dividends from 
investments amounted to EUR 5,113k (640).

Profit before tax amounted to EUR 75,943k (40,695). Tax for 
the year was EUR -3,609k (-4,540), all related to deferred tax 
in Lithuania. Net profit for the year amounted to EUR 72,334k 
(36,155).

Segment Reporting
The segment Properties in Lithuania generated a profit from 
property management of EUR 13,621k (11,503) and a profit 
after tax of EUR 24,741k (28,219). The segment Properties in 
Latvia generated a profit from property management of EUR 
1,098k (2,107) and a profit after tax of EUR 4,025k (-2,548). 
The segment Other investments generated a net profit after 
tax for the period of EUR 48,761k (14,082), of which dividends 
and realised value changes amounted to EUR 5,113k (640) and 
unrealised value changes to EUR 43,648k (13,443). Unalloca-
ted central administration expenses and other financial 
income and expenses amounted to EUR -5,193k (-3,599).

Earnings per segment, EURk 2021

Properties in Lithuania
Profit from property management 13,621
Unrealised changes in value of properties 13,302
Unrealised changes in value of derivatives 1,426
Deferred tax -3,609
Profit/loss, Properties in Lithuania 24,741

Properties in Latvia
Profit from property management 1,098
Unrealised changes in value of properties 3,004
Unrealised changes in value of derivatives -77
Profit/loss, Properties in Latvia 4,025

Other investments
Unrealised value changes 43,648
Dividends and realised value changes 5,113
Profit/loss, Other investments 48,761

Unallocated
Central administration and other operating 
expenses -3,853
Unallocated net financial income/expense -1,340
Profit Unallocated -5,193

Net profit/loss for the year 72,334

Financial position and net asset value
Equity amounted to EUR 375,994k (309,942) and the equity/
asset ratio to 58 per cent (62). Long-term net asset value per 
share was EUR 17.6 (14.6) corresponding to SEK 182 per share 
(147). Equity per share was EUR 16.9 (14.0), corresponding to 
SEK 174 per share (141).

Interest-bearing liabilities amounted at year-end to EUR 
241,084k (173,151), corresponding to a net loan-to-value ratio 
of 35 per cent (31) and a net loan-to-value ratio of properties of 
45 per cent (40). Unutilised overdraft credit facilities amoun-
ted to EUR 3,000k (3,000). 

Interest rate level, capital tie-up periods and  
derivatives
The average interest rate at the end of the year was 2.8 per 
cent (2.3). The capital tie-up period for interest-bearing liabi-
lities was on average 2.5 years (3.0). Average fixed interest 
term was 1.5 years (2.3). The derivatives are measured at fair 
value and the change in value is recognised through profit or 
loss, with no effect on cash flow. At the end of the year, the 
fair value of derivatives was EUR -1,395k (-2,745). At the end 
of the term, the value of derivatives is always zero.
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Cash flow and cash and cash equivalents
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working 
capital amounted to EUR 14,768k (11,001) during the year. 
Change in working capital was EUR 2,726k (-41). Cash flow 
from investing activities amounted to EUR -75,450k (-64,778). 
Cash flow from financing activities was EUR 62,938k (40,750), 
of which dividends to shareholders contributed a negative 
cash flow of EUR -4,890k (-5,403). Total cash flow amounted 
to EUR 4,982k (-13,068) and cash and cash equivalents to EUR 
29,201k (24,278) at year-end.

Cash flow from acquisitions, invest-
ments and divestments, EURm 2021 2020

3Bures-1,2 -0.7 -1.1
3Bures-3 -0.0 -0.0
Alojas Biroji -0.2 -0.7
Alojas Biroji, The Pine development -1.4 -
Kimmel -0.4 -0.2
S7-1 -0.0 -
S7-2 -0.0 -
S7-3 -0.0 -42.4
Uniq -21.2 -
Uptown Park -40.0 -
Valdemara -0.2 -0.1
Vertas-1 -0.2 -0.2
Vertas-2 -1.5 -20.1
Zala 1 -14.8 -
Total property investments -80.6 -64.8

EC Baltic Property Fund II 5.3 -
Total divestment 5.3 -

Total cash flow from acquisitions, 
investments and divestments -75.4 -64.8

Parent company
Net profit after tax for the year amounted to EUR 45,304k 
(12,355). The profit is chiefly attributable to an unrealised 
value change in the MFG holding of EUR 42,509k (12,423). 
Other income and financial income relate to income within 
the group. Dividends from MFG amounted to EUR 3,266k (-).

Key events after the end of the financial year 
After the end of the year, East Capital has divested all 
remaining properties in East Capital Baltic Property Fund II, 
where Eastnine had an ownership stake of 39 per cent. East-
nine has received reimbursement of EUR 14.9m in the first 
quarter of 2022 and the remaining value of EUR 4.1m is 
expected to be reimbursed later during 2022. 
 The Board has decided to evaluate real estate investments 
in Poland. 
 Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has led to a serious deteriora-
tion of the security situation in Europe and the world. 
Eastnine’s real estate operations are not visibly affected, alt-
hough the situation is rapidly changing and it is difficult to 
foresee the consequences. The surrounding world’s decision 

on economic sanctions against Russia has, among other 
things, led to a marked depreciation of the rouble. Eastnine is 
continuing to analyse the situation and will evaluate the hol-
ding at the latest in connection with the interim report for 
the period January-March 2022. The holding was value on 31 
December at approximately EUR 122m.

Risks and uncertainties  
The investment strategy, i.e. to make long-term investments 
in modern and sustainable office and logistics premises in 
prime locations in the Baltics, means that Eastnine is chiefly 
exposed to risks relating to interest rates and credit risk, as 
well as rent level and vacancy risks. Risk management and fol-
low-up is an important and integrated part of Eastnine’s ope-
rations. The Company uses a number of different tools to con-
tinually identify, evaluate and limit risks. Risk management is 
handled by Eastnine’s management in accordance with poli-
cies that have been established by the Board. Financial risks 
are primarily handled by the finance function in accordance 
with the Company’s financial policy.  The risk in Eastnine’s 
investment in MFG has proven to be significant, after Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine. A more detailed description of Eastnine’s 
material risks and uncertainties is provided in note 30, 
(Financial risks and risk management).

Share information
The total number of shares issued in Eastnine amounted to 
22,370,261 on 31 December 2021. Adjusted for repurchased 
shares held in treasury, the number of issued shares amoun-
ted to 22,207,746. The weighted average number of shares 
issued for the period, after dilution, was 22,232,097. The 
number of shareholders amounted at year-end to 6,769. The 
free float was 49.7 per cent. At the end of the year, the share 
price was SEK 158.4, an increase of SEK 33.4 corresponding to 
27 per cent since the beginning of the year. Further informa-
tion about the share can be found on pgs. 54-55.

Share buy-back 
At the AGM 2021, the Board received a new mandate to decide 
on share buy-back, providing that Eastnine’s holding of trea-
sury shares not exceed at any time 10 per cent of all shares in 
the Company.

The Company’s holding of own shares in treasury amoun-
ted at year-end to 162,515. The average acquisition value of 
own shares in treasury has been SEK 96 per share.

Dividends 
The Board of Directors proposes a dividend of SEK 3.00 per 
share (3.00) for the 2021 financial year, with payments 
evenly distributed over four occasions in 2022 and early 
2023. The proposed dividend would correspond to about 68 
per cent of the profit from property management, net of tax. 
According to the current dividend policy, dividends are to 
correspond over time to at least 50 per cent of profit from 
property management after deductions for current taxes.
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Proposed disposition of earnings 
The Board of Directors proposed that the unappropriated ear-
nings in Eastnine AB (publ) are distributed as follows:

Total available funds for distribution by the AGM, EUR: 

Other contributed capital/Share premium reserve 251,564,847
Accumulated profit or loss -490,721
Net profit/loss for the year 45,304,325
Total  296,378,451

To be allocated as follows, EUR:

Dividend to shareholders SEK 3.00/share1 6,440,246
To be carried forward 289,938,205
Total  296,378,451

1   No dividend is paid for the Company’s holding of own shares, whose exact number is 
determined on the record dates for cash payment of the dividend. EUR 1 = SEK 10.30 on 31 
December 2021 (Source: Reuters). Number of issued shares on 31 December 2021, less tre-
asury shares, was 22,207,746.

Remuneration guidelines
The 2021 Annual General Meeting decided on the following 
guidelines for remuneration to executive management: com-
pensation to executive managers may consist of fixed and 
variable salary components, pension and insurance benefits 
as well as other customary benefits. In addition and indepen-
dently of this, the Annual General Meeting may decide on e.g. 
long-term share-based or share-related incentive remunera-
tion programmes. The Board determines at its own discretion 
on the basis of personal key performance indicators whether 
the executive management should be paid any variable salary. 
The variable salary to senior executives may maximally cor-
respond to 50 per cent of their fixed salary.

The executive management have individual premium-
based pension plans, pursuant to which the Company pays 
premiums corresponding to 4.5 per cent of the amount of 
fixed salary up to 7.5 income base amounts and premiums of 
30 per cent of the fixed salary exceeding 7.5 income base 
amounts. Other benefits may comprise e.g. health insurance, 
wellness allowance and company cars, and may in total 
amount to at most 10 per cent of the fixed salary.

In the event that Eastnine terminates the CEO’s employ-
ment, the Company is required to observe a six-months’ 
notice period. In addition, the CEO is entitled to a severance 
payment corresponding to six months’ salary. In the event the 
CEO terminates his employment, he is required to observe a 
six-months’ notice period. For deputy CEO, a notice period of 
six months applies in case of termination at own request and 
12 months in case of termination at the Company’s request. No 
severance pay is valid. Information on salaries and current 
remuneration guidelines are presented in note 5 (Employees, 
staff expenses and remuneration to executive management).

Corporate governance and the Board of Directors  
The Board shall be comprised of three to six directors without 
deputies. Board Members are elected annually at the Annual 
General Meeting for the period up to the end of next Annual 
General Meeting. The complete Articles of Association can be 
found on www. eastnine.com.

Information about how the Company is governed and con-
trolled, e.g. through the Board and its committees, as well as 
internal control and risk management, can be found in the Cor-
porate Governance Report on pgs. 102-105.
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Financial Reports 
Statement of Comprehensive Income
EUR thousands Note 2021 2020

Rental income 3 21,530 19,186
Property expenses 4,5 -2,294 -1,689
Net operating income 19,237 17,497
Central administration expenses 5,6,7,8 -3,853 -3,515
Interest expenses 9 -5,600 -3,703
Other financial income and expenses 9 -257 -268
Profit from property management 9,526 10,011
Unrealised changes in value of properties 10 16,306 17,383
Unrealised changes in value of investments 11 43,648 13,443
Unrealised changes in value of derivatives 12 1,349 -782
Realised values and dividends from investments 13 5,113 640
Profit/loss before tax 75,943 40,695
Current tax 15 - -
Deferred tax 15 -3,609 -4,540
Net profit/loss for the year 1 72,334 36,155

Earnings per share before dilution, EUR 33 3.27 1.70
Earnings per share after dilution, EUR 33 3.25 1.70

1 Total Comprehensive income for the year corresponds to net profit/loss for the year. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EUR thousands Note 31 December, 2021 31 December, 2020

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 16 2 2
Investment properties 10 469,817 372,400
Right-of-use  assets, leasehold 8 1,353 1,197
Equipment 17 207 174
Long-term securities holdings 11 121,830 102,152
Other non-current receivables 18 129 465
Total non-current assets 593,339 476,389

Current assets
Trade receivables 19 837 959
Short-term receivables 8,597 27
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 20 1,517 571
Short-term securities holdings 11 19,028 -
Cash and cash equivalents 21 29,201 24,278
Total current assets 59,180 25,836
TOTAL ASSETS 652,518 502,225

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 22
Share capital 3,660 3,660
Other contributed capital 251,567 257,850
Retained earnings including other reserves 48,432 12,278
Net profit/loss for the year 72,334 36,155
Total equity 375,994 309,942

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 23 234,574 153,208
Derivatives 12 1,395 2,745
Deferred tax liabilities 24 14,464 10,855
Lease liability 8 1,334 1,175
Other non-current liabilites 25 2,420 1,790
Total non-current liabilities 254,187 169,772

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 23 6,510 19,943
Trade payables 10,208 440
Other liabilities 26 3,899 1,262
Accrued expenses and deferred income 27 1,720 865
Total current liabilities 22,338 22,510
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 652,518 502,225
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EUR thousands Share capital
Other contributed 

capital

Retained earnings 
incl. profit/loss  

for the year

Total equity for 
 shareholders in 

Parent Company

Opening equity 1 January 2020 3,660 252,252 12,280 268,192
Net profit /loss for the year 2020 - - 36,155 36,155
Total comprehensive income - - 36,155 36,155
Dividend to shareholder - -5,403 - -5,403
Sale of treasury shares - 10,872 - 10,872
Long-term incentive program - 126 - 126
Closing equity 31 December 2020 3,660 257,850 48,432 309,942

Net profit /loss for the year 2021 - - 72,334 72,334

Total comprehensive income - - 72,334 72,334
Dividend to shareholder - -6,520 - -6,520
Long-term incentive program - 237 - 237
Closing equity 31 December 2021 3,660 251,567 120,766 375,993
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EUR thousands Note 2021 2020

Operating activities
Operating income before tax 75,943 40,695
Adjustments not included in cash flow 32 -61,175 -29,694
Income tax paid - -
Cash flow from operation activities before changes in working capital 14,768 11,001

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-)/decrease(+) in other current receivables -9,059 508
Increase (+)/decrease(-) in other current payables 11,785 -549
Cash flow from operating activities 17,494 10,960

Investing activities
Investments in existing properties -4,632 -2,300
Acquisition of properties -76,007 -62,461
Purchase of equipment -99 -17
Repayment of other financial assets 5,287 -
Cash flow from investing activities -75,450 -64,778

Financing activities
Issue bond 45,000 -
New loans 29,277 40,950
Repayment of loans -6,344 -5,570
Payment of lease liabilities -105 -99
Dividend to shareholders -4,890 -5,403
Sale of treasury shares - 10,872
Cash flow from financing activities 62,938 40,750

Cash flow for the period 4,982 -13,068
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 24,278 37,406
Exchange rate differences in cash and cash equivalents -59 -60
Cash and cash equivalent at year-end 21 29,201 24,278
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Income Statement – Parent Company
EUR thousands Note 2021 2020

Other income 14 1,933 1,738
Central administration expenses 5,6,7,8 -3,542 -3,104
Operating profit/loss -1,609 -1,366
Unrealised changes in value of investments 11 42,509 12,423
Dividend received from investments 13 3,266 -
Financial income 9 2,477 1,381
Financial expense 9 -1,340 -84
Profit/loss before tax 45,304 12,355
Income tax 15 - -
Net profit/loss for the year1 45,304 12,355

1 Total comprehensive income for the year corresponds to net profit/loss for the year. 

Balance Sheet – Parent Company
EUR thousands Note 31 December, 2021 31 December, 2020

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Right-of-use asset, leaseholds 8 417 491

Equipment 17 52 70
Shares in group companies 28 144,048 142,447
Long-term securities holdings 11 121,830 79,320
Loans to group companies 31 73,027 27,527
Total non-current assets 339,375 249,856

Current assets
Other receivables 145 4

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 20 1,967 1,393
Cash and cash equivalents 21 7,147 10,995
Total current assets 9,258 12,393
TOTAL ASSETS 348,633 262,248

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 22
Restricted capital
Share capital 3,660 3,660
Unrestricted capital
Share premium reserve 251,565 257,848
Retained earnings including other reserves -491 -12,845
Net profit/loss for the year 45,304 12,355
Total equity 300,038 261,017

Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 23 45,000 -
Lease liability 8 399 468
Other non-current liabilites 25 36 113
Total non-current liabilities 45,435 581

Current liabilities
Trade payables 93 150
Other liabilities 26 2,005 5
Accrued expenses and deferred income 27 1,062 496
Total current liabilities 3,160 651
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 348,633 262,248
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Statement of Changes in Equity – Parent Company

EUR thousands Share capital

Other contributed 
capital/Share 

 premium reserve

Retained earnings 
incl. profit/loss  

for the year

Total equity for 
 shareholders in 

parent company

Opening equity 1 January 2020 3,660 252,252 -12,845 243,066
Net profit /loss for the year 2020 - - 12,355 12,355
Total comprehensive income - - 12,355 12,355
Dividend to shareholder - -5,403 - -5,403
Sale of treasury shares - 10,872 - 10,872
Long-term incentive program - 126 - 126
Closing equity 31 December 2020 3,660 257,848 -491 261,017

Net profit /loss for the year 2021 - - 45,304 45,304
Total comprehensive income - - 45,304 45,304
Dividend to shareholder - -6,520 - -6,520
Long-term incentive program - 237 - 237
Closing equity 31 December 2021 3,660 251,565 44,814 300,038

Statement of Cash Flows – Parent Company
EUR thousands Note 2021 2020

Operating activities
Operating income before tax 45,304 12,355
Adjustments not included in cash flow from operating activities 32 -42,082 -12,079
Income tax paid - -
Cash flow from operation activities before changes in working capital 3,222 276

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Increase (-)/decrease(+) in other current receivables -713 1,419
Increase (+)/decrease(-) in other current payables 802 -48
Cash flow from operating activities 3,311 1,647

Investing activities
Loan to group companies -45,500 -
Cash flow from investing activities -45,500 -

Financing activities
Bond issue 45,000 -
Payment of lease liabilities -105 -99
Repayment of shareholder contributions -1,601 1,000
Dividend to shareholders -4,890 -5,403
Sale of treasury shares - 10,872
Cash flow from financing activities 38,404 6,370

Cash flow for the period -3,785 8,017
Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the year 10,995 3,038
Exchange rate differences in cash and cash equivalents -63 -60
Cash and cash equivalent at year-end 21 7,147 10,995
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1 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

General information
Eastnine AB (publ), corporate ID no. 556693-7404, is a Swedish lim-
ited company, listed on Nasdaq Stockholm, with its registered office 
in Stockholm. The annual accounts and consolidated accounts for 
Eastnine AB (publ) relate to the January - December 2021 financial 
year and have been approved for publication by the Board on date 
of signature (see supporting documents), and will be presented for 
adoption by the Annual General Meeting on 26 April 2022. With the 
exception of the holding in JSC Melon Fashion Group, which is 
owned directly by Eastnine AB (the Parent Company), property man-
agement activities are carried out by the Estonian operating subsidi-
ary Eastnine Baltics OÜ with subsidiaries in Latvia and Lithuania, 
together called the Eastnine Group or the Company. 

Compliance with standards and legislation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) as approved by the 
European Commission for application within the European Union. In 
addition, the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation 
RFR 1 (Supplementary accounting rule for groups) has been applied. 
The accounting policies have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented in the financial statements, unless otherwise stated. 

The accounting policies and calculation methods for the Group 
and the Parent Company are in all material respects unchanged 
compared to those applied for the 2020 annual accounts. 

New or amended IFRS and new interpretations applied  
from 1 January 2021
No new or amended standards or interpretations published by the 
IASB are considered relevant to the Group and have been applied for 
the financial year starting 1 January 2021.

New or amended IFRS standards or new interpretations that 
are not yet in force
None of the new or amended IFRS standards or new interpretations 
from the IFRS Interpretations Committee, which have been 
approved by the EU, are currently considered to impact Eastnine’s 
reporting or financial position.

Functional currency and presentation currency
The Parent Company’s functional currency is EUR, which is also the 
presentation currency for the Parent Company and the Group. Con-
sequently, all financial statements are prepared in EUR. Amounts 
within brackets relate to the corresponding period in the previous 
year. All figures are presented in EUR thousands unless  otherwise 
stated. Rounding differences may occur.

Estimates and assumptions in the financial statements
In preparing these financial statements according to the IFRS, the 
executive management makes judgements, estimates and assump-
tions that affect the application of the Company’s accounting poli-
cies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may deviate from these estimates and 
assessments. Estimates and underlying assumptions are regularly 
reviewed. Revisions to estimates are reported in the period that the 
change takes place and in the future periods that are affected. The 
Company’s executive management has discussed developments, 
the choice of and information on the Company’s most important 

accounting policies and estimates, as well as the application of 
these policies and estimates, with the Board of Directors.

Key sources of uncertainty  
The sources of uncertainty in the estimates below refer to such 
sources that result in a significant risk that the value of assets and 
liabilities may have to be substantially adjusted during the upcom-
ing financial year.

For valuation of investment properties, assessments and assump-
tions can have a significant effect on the Group’s income and finan-
cial position. These valuations require, inter alia, estimates and 
assumptions of future cash flows as well as a determination of the 
discounting rate and yield requirements. To reflect the uncertainty 
inherent in the assumptions and assessments made, a sensitivity 
analysis is provided for material valuation parameters.

In regards to other investments that are not traded on an active 
market and where fair value is determined not by actual bid quotes 
but by means of valuation models (see below in the section on 
financial instruments), there is a risk that the holdings may have sub-
stantially higher or lower fair values in future periods. The Company 
applies its valuation models consistently from period to period, but 
the determination of fair value is inherently uncertain. 

Given the control procedures applied, Eastnine considers the  
fair values reported in the balance sheet to have been carefully calcu-
lated and considered in order to reflect the underlying financial values.  

Important considerations in the application of the Group’s 
accounting policies
The holdings in MFG, one of the holdings in which Eastnine invested 
during its period as an investment entity, constitutes an associated 
company as Eastnine has considerable influence over the company. 
This holding is recognised at fair value through profit/loss, using the 
exemption from the equity method in IAS 28. The exemption is appli-
cable for activities that constitute a venture capital organisation or a 
securities fund, share fund or similar company including invest-
ment-linked insurance funds.

The assessment is that this exemption is applicable to Eastnine. 
This is the same assessment as was made during the time Eastnine 
was an investment entity. The purpose of the holdings in Eastnine’s 
remaining activities from the time as an investment entity is exclu-
sively to generate returns from dividends and/or value growth, and 
on the condition that the holdings are retained for a limited time. 
The activities from the investment entity business are moreover 
clearly and objectively separable from the real estate company 
activities, and there are no points of contact between the holdings 
in the investment entity activities and the real estate company.

Eastnine has ownership shares in East Capital (Lux) SCA, SICAV-
SIF (umbrella fund), amounting to around 10 per cent. For Eastnine, 
this holding results in a 39 per cent share of the returns from the sub-
fund East Capital Baltic Property Fund II. These shares have been 
assessed not to constitute associated companies, as Eastnine can-
not and has not been able to exert significant influence over the 
funds. The funds were started by a General Partner, whose business 
consists of managing funds. The rules that apply to the fund, and 
that have been accepted by the investors in the fund and by the gen-
eral partner, prescribe that the general partner handles all manage-
ment and makes all investment decisions. The investors, including 
Eastnine, have no ability to influence this management and appur-
taining decisions. For that reason, the Company has determined that 
there is no influence over the fund, neither significant or controlling. 
The holding is therefore reported as an investment in accordance 
with IFRS 9, Financial instruments.

Notes to the financial statements
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Material accounting policies for the group
Consolidated Financial Statement
The consolidated financial statement includes the Parent Company, 
subsidiaries and associated companies. Subsidiaries are those com-
panies over which the Parent Company has control. Controlling 
influence means that the Parent Company has power over the 
investment object, is exposed to or has the right to variable returns 
from its commitment and can use its power over the investment to 
influence returns. In the assessment of whether control exists, con-
sideration is given to whether potential share voting rights and de 
facto control exist.

The consolidated accounts have been drawn up in accordance 
with the acquisition accounting method. This means that assets and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities have been recognised at fair 
value at the time of acquisition. Income and costs of acquired busi-
nesses are included in the income statement from such time as they 
are available. The income statements of divested companies are 
included until the date the company was vacated.

Asset deal versus business combinations
Acquisitions of companies may either be classified as business 
combinations or asset deals. In the case of asset deals, no deferred 
tax attributable to the property acquisition is recognised; instead, 
any discounts for deferred tax reduce the property’s acquisition 
value. All acquisitions made during the year have been classified as 
asset deals.

Share-related incentive programmes
Share-related incentives relate to compensation to employees, 
including executive management, according to the long-term incen-
tive programmes which Eastnine established in 2018, 2020 and 2021. 
Staff expenses are recognised as the value of services rendered, 
accrued over the vesting periods of the programme, calculated as 
the fair value of the allotted equity instruments. The fair value is 
determined at the time of allotment. The programmes are settled 
with equity instruments, which are classified as “equity settled”, and 
an amount corresponding to the reported staff expenses is reported 
directly toward equity (other contributed capital).

The provision for social charges is based on the fair value of the 
share rights at each reporting date and determined finally when the 
shares are allotted.

Income and expenses
The Group’s revenues primarily consist of rents for the provision of 
premises.

The Group’s costs are reported in the period to which they refer 
and consist chiefly of property expenses, administration costs and 
interest expenses. Only the part of property expenses that is not 
passed on to the tenants is reported.

Lease agreements with the Group as a lessor
Rental income is classified as operational leasing agreements in 
compliance with IFRS 16 and is reported linearly over the agreed 
leasing term. Agreed rent reductions, for example, discounts, 
reported as a reduction of rental income, are taken up linearly over 
the remaining term of the lease. 

Lease agreements with the Group as a lessee
For Eastnine as a lessee, the pertinent agreements are leases for 
premises and site leasehold fees. Eastnine’s leasing contracts are 
reported in the balance sheet as a usage right and a leasing liability. 
The usage right and the liability are initially valued at the present 
value of all future lease payments. To the extent that fees are pre-
paid or to which there are other related costs, these are added to the 
value of the usage right. 

In those cases where the site leaseholds cannot be terminated, 
the lease term is to be seen as perpetual, meaning that the value of 
the leasing liability is considered unchanged until the fee is renegoti-

ated. The usage right is similarly considered to be infinite, as with 
the leasing liability, with the effect that it does not depreciate. 

In regards to other agreements, currently the rent for the Compa-
ny’s premises in Stockholm for which the lease term is fixed, the 
leasing liability is amortised when the fee is paid. The site leasehold 
fee exceeding amortisation is reported as interest expense. The 
usage right asset is depreciated using the straight-line method over 
the lease period.

In addition to the stated usage rights, Eastnine as a tenant also 
has some lease agreements at a smaller value relating to e.g. cars or 
office equipment. These are expensed linearly over the rental 
period.

Foreign currency transactions
The functional currency of Eastnine is the Euro (EUR). Transactions 
in currencies other than Euro are translated into the functional cur-
rency at the exchange rate prevailing on the transaction date. Mone-
tary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to the functional currency at the closing rate of exchange. 
Exchange rate differences arising on currency translations are recog-
nized net as either financial income or financial expense in the 
income statement.

Financial income and expenses
Financial income consists of interest income from bank balances 
and receivables, as well as interest-bearing securities. Financial 
expenses consist of interest expenses on borrowings and other 
interest-bearing liabilities. Exchange rate gains and losses on mone-
tary assets and liabilities are reported net.

Interest income on receivables and interest expenses on liabilities 
are calculated applying the effective interest method. The effective 
interest rate is the interest rate that discounts the instrument’s 
future cash flows to the initial reported value of the instrument.
Transaction costs in connection with borrowing is allocated as an 
expense over the term of the loan.

Interest and other financial expenses relating to new construction 
are capitalized during the construction period, while expensed on 
an ongoing basis when related to renovation and extension, since 
the investments are smaller and execution time normally shorter.

Taxes
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is such which is to be paid or received in the current 
year, applying the applicable tax rate. Current tax also includes any 
adjustments of tax relating to previous periods.

Deferred tax is calculated based on temporary differences 
between reported and tax values of assets and liabilities. Temporary 
differences are not taken into account when there is a difference 
between the first recognition of assets and liabilities in asset acqui-
sitions, and which at the time of the transaction does not affect 
either the reported or the taxable profits. Deferred tax is calculated 
using the tax rates and tax rules that are in force or expected to be in 
force when the deferred tax is expected to be used or paid. Deferred 
tax deductibles relating to deductible temporary differences or defi-
cit deductions are reported only to the extent that it is probably 
these will be exploited. Deferred tax relating to asset acquisitions is 
only reported when temporary differences appear after the date of 
acquisition. 

Changes in a deferred tax deductible or liability is reported in the 
income statement as deferred tax. Deferred tax deductibles or liabil-
ities are eliminated when they refer to income tax debited by the 
same authority, and when the group intends to settle the tax with a 
net amount. 

In Estonia and Latvia, a corporate tax of 20 per cent is levied. 
However, the tax does not fall due for payment until the profit is dis-
tributed. Deferred tax is calculated at zero per cent, and no deferred 
tax has therefore been taken up in the accounts, based on the cur-
rent assessment that no profit will be distributed. The tax effect will 
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be reported as current or deferred tax when the tax expense of 
determined dividends may be calculated.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any form of agreement that generates a 
financial asset or liability. For Eastnine, cash and bank, trade receiv-
ables, certain other receivables, other financial stakes and loan 
receivables are to be seen as financial assets, and derivatives, trade 
payables, certain other liabilities and debt are to be seen as financial 
liabilities. A financial asset or liability is normally reported in the bal-
ance sheet on the date of transaction.

Financial instruments are reported initially at fair value plus any 
transaction expenses attributable to the acquisition, with the excep-
tion of trade payables which is reported at its transaction price, and 
of financial instruments in the category fair value via profit or loss, 
for which transaction expenses are initially carried. A financial asset 
and financial liability are offset and reported in the balance sheet in 
a net amount only when there is legal right to offset and when it is 
intended to settle the item with a net amount or to simultaneously 
realise the asset and settle the liability. 

Classification and measurement
Eastnine classifies its financial instruments in accordance with IFRS 
9 Financial instruments. The group’s financial instruments are classi-
fied in the following categories:

Assets:
- Financial assets valued at amortised cost
- Financial assets valued at fair value through profit/loss

Liabilities:
- Financial liabilities valued at amortised cost
- Financial liabilities valued at fair value through profit/loss

The classification of financial instruments is determined when ini-
tially reported, and thereafter valued according to the description 
below.

Financial assets valued at amortised cost
Long-term receivables are valued at accrued acquisition value, using 
the effective rate method. Cash and cash equivalent and short-term 
receivables, for which discounting does not have a material effect, 
are reported at nominal amount.

Financial liabilities valued at amortised cost
Loans payable and other financial liabilities, e.g. accounts payable, 
(except for any interest rate swaps with negative value) are meas-
ured at amortised cost.

Financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value through profit 
or loss
Shares and stakes as well as short-term investments are valued at 
fair value through the income statement. Investments in shares of 
funds (refer also to the section “Important considerations when 
applying the Group’s accounting policies” and note 11), where the 
purpose of the holding is exclusively to generate returns through div-
idends and/or increases in value, and where Eastnine as a share-
holder does not have significant influence over the fund’s ongoing 
management nor its capital investments, are valued at fair value. 

For investments classified as associated companies, the Group 
applies an exemption in IAS 28 p. 18-19 which means that the hold-
ing is recognised at fair value through profit/loss. Refer also to the 
section below about associated companies. Interest derivatives are 
valued at fair value through profit/loss.

Unlisted holdings are initially reported at acquisition value and 
thereafter at fair value, in accordance with IAS 13. 

In short, the following methods are used, in descending order:
- price of recent transactions;
- independent, reliable valuation that can be verified;
-  other valuation methods that clearly and indisputably gives a 

 better estimation of the fair value; or
-  if the fair value on the previous balance day remains the best esti-

mation of the fair value, considering value changes due to events  
or changes in circumstances. The Company may request, when 
necessary, an independent appraiser to perform a valuation of  
any investment.

Associated companies
Up until 30 June 2018, Eastnine applied the IFRS 10 principles for 
investment entities, whereby all holdings were reported at fair value 
via profit/loss. Regarding those holdings held for the exclusive pur-
pose of generating returns via dividends and/or increases in value, 
and which were reported at fair value through profit/loss up until 30 
June 2018, the assessment is that the holdings are most accurately 
represented by reporting their fair value via profit/loss, in accord-
ance with the exemption in IAS 28 p. 18-19. The holding in MFG is 
clearly and objectively separated from Eastnine’s primary business 
in investment properties, and there are no points of contact 
between MFG and the real estate business. At year-end, the holding 
only relates to shares in MFG. See also note 11.

Hedge accounting
Hedge accounting is not applied to interest derivatives. Derivatives 
are reported at fair value in the statement of financial position and 
as unrealised value changes in the income statement.

Investment properties
Definition and valuation
Investment properties are properties that are held for the purposes 
of securing rent revenue, an increase in value, or a combination  
of the two. Investment properties comprise buildings, land, land 
improvements, and building equipment. Properties under construc-
tion or redevelopment that are intended to be used as investment 
properties will also be included in the investment property category. 

Investment properties are initially reported at acquisition value 
and thereafter at fair value, in accordance with IAS 40. Valuation of 
the group’s investment properties have been made in accordance 
with Level 3 of IFRS 13. For a description of the valuation methods 
applied and material input data, refer to note 10.

Both realised and unrealised changes in value are recognised in 
the statement of income. Realised value changes refer to value 
changes from the most recent interim report up until the date of 
divestment for those properties that were divested in the period, 
after consideration of capitalised investment expenses during the 
period. Unrealised value changes refer to other value changes that 
do not arise from acquisitions or capitalised investment expenses.

Acquisitions and divestments of properties are recognised in con-
junction with the transfer of control over the property from the seller 
to the buyer, which normally takes place on the date of taking pos-
session.

Additional investments
Additional investments attributable to investment properties are 
capitalised if it is probable that the future financial benefits associ-
ated with the asset will be available to the Company, and that the 
investments increase the property’s value. Examples of additional 
investments are measures to improve energy efficiency and thereby 
to improve net operating income, or when investments result in new 
letting, increases in the rent levels or lease extensions. Repairs and 
maintenance are carried as expenses in the period when the meas-
ure is carried out. 

Note 1 cont.
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Equipment and intangible assets
Equipment and intangible assets are recognised at amortised cost 
less accumulated depreciation and any impairments. Depreciation 
takes place on a straight-line basis over the useful life.

Provisions
A provision is reported in the balance sheet when the Group has an 
existing legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, 
when it is likely that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation and when the amount can be estimated reliably. In 
cases in which the date of payment has a material effect, the 
amount of the provision is calculated via the discounting of the 
expected future cash flow to an interest rate before taxes which 
reflects the relevant market assessments of the effect of the time 
value of money and, if applicable, the risks associated with the liabil-
ity. A provision for restructuring is reported when the Group has 
established an explicit, formal restructuring plan and restructuring 
has either begun or been publicly announced. No provision is made 
for future operating expenses.

Impairment
Expected credit losses are recognised in relation to financial assets 
not recognised at fair value through profit or loss. Expected loss 
rates are based on historical experience and additional information 
about current and future conditions.

Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets not recognised at fair 
value through profit or loss are tested for impairment whenever 
there is an indication of impairment. An impairment is recognised if 
the higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal is lower 
than the carrying amount. If an asset does not generate cash inflows 
that are largely independent of cash inflows from other assets, the 
asset is tested in the smallest group of assets that generate largely 
independent cash inflows (a cash generating unit). A cash generating 
unit cannot be larger than an operating segment. Value in use is esti-
mated as the present value of expected future cash flows generated 
by the asset / cash generating unit. Any impairment loss is recog-
nised as expense in profit or loss.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared in accordance with the indirect 
method. This implies that profit or loss is adjusted for transactions 
which have not resulted in payments or receipts during the period, 
and for any income or expenses attributable to cash flow from 
investing or financing activities.

Repurchase of shares
Repurchase of own shares is recognised as a deduction from equity. 
These shares are issued but not outstanding and are not included in 
the calculation of dividends or earnings per share.

Dividend
The dividend reduces equity when approved by the Annual General 
Meeting.

Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the year’s profit or 
loss for the Group, attributable to the shareholders in the Parent 
Company and on the weighted average number of shares outstand-
ing during the year. When calculating earnings per share after dilu-
tion, the average number of shares is adjusted to take account of the 
effects of the diluting potential ordinary shares. Potential ordinary 
shares consists, during the reporting period, of share rights 
(so-called matching or performance share rights). Matching shares 
which are held by employees on the reporting day are considered 
diluting. Performance shares are diluted to the extent that the per-

formance targets are met as of the reporting day. In order to calcu-
late the dilution effect, an exercise price for the shares is applied cor-
responding to the value of future services per outstanding share 
right, calculated as the remaining expense to be reported in accord-
ance with IFRS 2.

Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability will be recognised when there is a possible obli-
gation arising from past events and whose existence is confirmed by 
one or more uncertain future events, or when there is a commitment 
which is not reported as a provision due to the fact that it is unlikely 
that an outflow of resources will be required.

Parent Company’s accounting policies
The Parent Company prepares its annual accounts according to the 
Annual Accounts Act and the Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s 
recommendation RFR 2, Reporting of a legal entity. According to RFR 
2, the Parent Company shall apply all of the IFRS approved by the EU 
and opinions to the greatest possible extent in the annual accounts 
for the legal entity within the framework of the Annual Report Act 
and taking into consideration the link between accounting and 
 taxation. The differences between the Group’s and the Parent 
 Company’s accounting policies are shown below.

Layout
The income statement and balance sheet of the Parent Company is 
laid out according to the schema in the Annual Accounts Act, which 
results in e.g. equity being laid out in a different way. The presenta-
tion of the income statement has changed in comparison to the pre-
vious year.

Shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are reported at the historical acquisition 
 values, less any impairment.

Dividends 
Dividends from subsidiaries and associated companies are reported 
as financial income. 

Shareholder contributions
Shareholder contributions are reported as an increase in the num-
ber of shares in so far as there is no impairment.

Financial guarantees
The Parent Company’s financial guarantee agreement consists of 
guarantees on behalf of companies within the Group. For reporting 
of financial guarantees, the Parent Company applies the relief regu-
lations permitted in RFR2, compared to the regulations in IFRS 9 
Financial instruments. The Parent Company reports financial guar-
antee agreements as a provision in the balance sheet when the com-
pany has a commitment for a probable payment. Otherwise the obli-
gation is reported as a contingent liability. 
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2 SEGMENT REPORTING

Eastnine classifies and evaluates the various segments based on geography and the nature of the investments. Segments are  
presented from the point of view of management and are divided into the following segments: Properties in Lithuania, Properties in  
Latvia and Other investments. 

EURk 
1 Jan–31 Dec 2021

Properties in  
Lithuania

Properties in 
Latvia

Other 
investments Unallocated Total

Rental income 18,699 2,831 - - 21,530
Property expenses -1,266 -1,028 - - -2,294
Net operating income 17,434 1,803 - - 19,237
Central administration expenses - - - -3,853 -3,853
Interest expenses -3,784 -705 - -1,111 -5,600
Other financial income and expenses -28 - - -229 -257
Profit from property management 13,621 1,098 - -5,193 9,526
Unrealised changes in value of properties 13,302 3,004 - - 16,306
Unrealised changes in value of investments - - 43,648 - 43,648
Unrealised changes in value of derivatives 1,426 -77 - - 1,349
Realised values and dividends from investments - - 5,113 - 5,113
Profit/loss before tax 28,350 4,025 48,761 -5,193 75,943
Deferred tax -3,609 - - - -3,609
Net profit/Loss for the year 24,741 4,025 48,761 -5,193 72,334

Investment properties 389,134 80,683 - - 469,817
 of which investments/acquisitions during the year 64,132 16,979 - - 81,111
Securities holdings - - 140,858 - 140,858
Interest-bearing liabilities 163,327 32,757 - 45,000 241,084

EURk 
1 Jan–31 Dec 2020

Properties in  
Lithuania

Properties in 
Latvia

Other 
investments Unallocated Total

Rental income 15,848 3,338 - - 19,186
Property expenses -1,102 -587 - - -1,689
Net operating income 14,746 2,751 - - 17,497
Central administration expenses - - - -3,515 -3,515
Interest expenses -3,509 -644 - - -3,703
Other financial income and expenses -184 - - -84 -268
Profit from property management 11,503 2,107 - -3,599 10,011
Unrealised changes in value of properties 22,038 -4,655 - - 17,383
Unrealised changes in value of investments - - 13,443 - 13,443
Unrealised changes in value of derivatives -782 - - - -782
Realised values and dividends from investments - - 640 - 640
Profit/loss before tax 32,759 -2,548 14,082 -3,599 40,695
Deferred tax -4,540 - - - -4,540
Net profit/Loss for the year 28,219 -2,548 14,082 -3,599 36,155

Investment properties 311,300 60,700 - - 372,400
 of which investments/acquisitions during the year 63,842 919 - - 64,761
Securities holdings - - 102,152 - 102,152
Interest-bearing liabilities 146,684 26,467 - - 173,151
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3 RENTAL INCOME

Rental income 2021
For the financial year 2021, the Group’s rental income amounted to 
EUR 21,530k, of which the rent for office premises amounted to EUR 
20,016k, retail and service to EUR 541k, parking to EUR 789k and 
other rental income to EUR 184k. Rental income does not include 
property expenses that is passed on to the tenants.   

Operational leases – the Group as lessor
The Group’s income is mainly rental income from lease agreements 
classified as operating leases, in accordance with IFRS 16. The rental 
income is reported linearly over the term of the lease. Advance 
rental payments are reported as prepaid rental income. 
 The table below shows the sum of agreed annual rents for prem-
ises, parking spaces and other agreements at year-end, calculated 
by date of rents expiration. The total contract volume at the end of 
the period, excluding future adjustments to index, amounted to EUR 
103,548k (92,074).

Group
Contractual future rental income, EURk 2021 2020

Rental income expiring within 1 year 22,760 20,023
Rental income expiring in 2-5 years 49,162 42,766
Rental income expiring in 5 years or later 31,626 29,285
Total 103,548 92,074

The maturity structure of existing premises agreements is shown in 
the table below. All agreements, which expire during the stated year, 
are recalculated as annual rent. Discounts from agreed annual rent 
have not been made for rental discounts applying for less than 12 
months. The weighted average remaining term for all lease agree-
ments amounted at year-end to 3.7 years (4.4).

Expiration structure, existing leases, on 2021-12-31

Contract expiry 
date, year Sq.m.

Contracted ren-
tal  income, 

yearly, EURk

Proportion 
of rental 

income, %

20211 - - -
2022 14,570 2,715 11
2023 14,707 2,582 10
2024 32,726 5,861 24
2025 5,020 897 4
2026 3,441 648 3
2027- 72,755 10,411 42
Total, premises 143,219 23,114 94
Parking & other - 1,424 6
Total  143,219 24,538 100

1 Refers to lease agreements expiring 2021-12-31.

4 PROPERTY EXPENSES

Group
Distribution by type of cost, EURk 2021 2020

Expenses related to ongoing consumption, 
repairs and maintenance -540 -382
Other direct property expenditure -330 -206
Personnel costs -1,093 -956
Depreciation -47 -41
Other indirect property expenditure -283 -104
Total -2,293 -1,689

5 EMPLOYEES, STAFF EXPENSES AND EXECUTIVE  
MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION

Remuneration, other 
benefits and social costs, Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Board, CEO and deputy 
CEO

Salaries 942 888 942 888
Pension costs 
(premium based plans) 100 93 100 93
Social charges 374 311 374 311

Others
Salaries 1,849 1,702 678 566
Pension costs 
(premium based plans) 108 91 108 91
Social charges 468 410 265 210
Total 3,841 3,495 2,467 2,159

Average number of Group Parent Company
employees 2021 2020 2021 2020

Men 7 7 5 5
Women 13 12 3 3
Total 20 19 8 8

Remuneration to executive management 
 
Remuneration to the Board of Directors
On 5 May 2021, the Annual General Meeting (AGM) determined that 
the Chairman of the Board shall receive annual compensation of SEK 
800,000 for the period until the next AGM. Other Board members will 
receive SEK 400,000 per person in compensation for the time until 
the next AGM. Appointed members receive compensation as of the 
date of appointment (normally, the date of the annual general meet-
ing), while resigning members have received compensation up until 
the date of resignation. 

Remuneration to senior executives and other conditions of 
employment
Guidelines for salary and other remuneration to the Company’s sen-
ior executives will be resolved on a yearly basis at the annual general 
meeting, based on proposals by the Board. Remuneration to senior 
executives consists of fixed salary, variable salary as well as pension, 
insurance and customary benefits. The Board decides at its own dis-
cretion, on the basis of internal performance criteria, whether the 
senior executives shall receive variable salary. The variable salary to 
senior executives may maximally correspond to 50 per cent of their 
fixed salary. In addition, senior executives have individual premi-
um-based pension plans, pursuant to which the Company pays pre-
miums corresponding to 4.5 per cent of the amount of fixed salary 
up to 7.5 income base amounts and premiums of 30 per cent of the 
fixed salary exceeding 7.5 income base amounts. In the event the 
Company terminates the CEO’s employment, the Company is 
required to observe a six-month notice period. In addition, the CEO 
is entitled to a severance payment corresponding to six months’ sal-
ary. In the event the CEO terminates his employment, he is required 
to observe a six-month notice period. For the Deputy CEO, a notice 
period of six months applies in the event of termination at her own 
request and twelve months in the event of termination at the Com-
pany’s request. No severance pay is paid.
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Remuneration and other  
benefits, EURk 

Board fee /  
Fixed salary Variable salary LTIP1 Other benefits

Pension 
expenses Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Board members 
Liselotte Hjorth, Chairman  79 76 - - - - - - - - 79 76
Peter Elam  Håkansson 39 38 - - - - - - - - 39 38
Peter Wågström 39 38 - - - - - - - - 39 38
Christian Hermelin2 39 25 - - - - - - - - 39 25
Ylva Sarby Westman2 39 25 - - - - - - - - 39 25
Johan Ljungberg3 - 13 - - - - - - - - - 13
Nadya Wells3 - 13 - - - - - - - - - 13

Executive management 
Kestutis Sasnauskas, CEO 246 238 103 100 96 72 8 8 62 57 515 474
Britt-Marie Nyman, deputy CEO 
and CFO 171 163 70 79 10 - 0 0 38 36 290 278
Total 654 629 174 179 106 72 8 8 100 93 1,042 981

1  Provisions for LTIP amounted to EUR 106k (72); does not include the market value of vested shares in LTIP 2018 at vesting date. The market value of vested shares 
related to LTIP 2018 for Kestutis Sasnauskas amounted to EUR 410k (0), and for Britt-Marie Nyman EUR 0k (0).

2 Appointed as a member of the Board at the AGM 2020.
3 Resigned as a member of the Board as from the AGM 2020.

Long-term incentive programme
Eastnine has two ongoing long-term incentive programmes (LTIP) 
available to employees in the Group (LTIP 2020 and LTIP 2021). The 
purpose of LTIPs is to boost shareholder value and the Company’s 
long-term value creation, by creating the conditions required to retain 
and recruit competent staff, increasing motivation among the partici-
pants, encouraging employees’ shareholding in the Company and 
aligning the interests of employees and the company’s shareholders. 

LTIP 2018
Eastnine’s 2018 Annual General Meeting decided to introduce a long-
term incentive programme for all of the Company’s employees (LTIP 
2018). The duration of the programme was just over three years. At 
the end of this period, 10 November 2021, all of the conditions had 
been met and the Board decided on full allocation to the partici-
pants during the fourth quarter of 2021, a total of 58,685 shares. The 
weighted average share price at the time of the final allocation of 
shares on conclusion of the programme was SEK 152.71. The out-
come for the conditions is shown below.

Criteria for performance shares
Requirement 1: The profit from property management in the Real 
Estate Direct segment for the period 1 October to 31 December 2020 
shall amount to EUR 3.75m.

Requirement 2: The average annual return on equity in the Real 
Estate Direct segment during the period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2021 
shall exceed 13 per cent.

Conditions Target Outcome Vested Shares

Matching shares - - 100% 13,902
Performance shares - 
requirement 1 EUR 3.75m EUR 3.95m 100% 22,391
Performance shares - 
requirement 2 >13% 14.6% 100% 22,392
Total number of shares 58,685

LTIP 2020
The Annual General Meeting on 12 May 2020 approved the Board’s 
proposal to introduce a long-term incentive programme (LTIP 2020) 
for all staff employed by the Group on 1 January 2020. The incentive 
programme is divided in three categories: Category A (CEO), Cate-
gory B (CFO and other management) and Category C (other employ-
ees). Participation required participants to hold shares in Eastnine 

equivalent in value to one twelfth of the participant’s annual, fixed 
gross salary, by 1 April 2020. Each participant is thereafter granted 
rights to performance shares, which confer to the participant the 
right to acquire shares in the Company, provided that certain perfor-
mance preconditions are fulfilled. In order to receive performance 
shares, the Participant must remain in employment with the Com-
pany and must also have held the participation shares throughout 
the vesting period. Performance shares will be awarded to the 
employees within 45 days of publication of the interim report for the 
period 1 January to 30 June 2023. 

Criteria for performance shares
Each performance criteria represents one third (1/3) of the total allo-
cation of performance shares to LTIP 2020. If the minimum level of a 
performance criteria is not met, no performance shares relating to 
that criteria will be distributed. If the maximum level is reached, a 
third (1/3) of the maximum number of performance shares in LTIP 
2020 will be awarded.

Requirement 1: The development of the Company’s return on 
equity, i.e. the average earnings in relation to average equity, for the 
period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2023.

• Maximum level: 12 per cent per year
• Minimum level: 8 per cent per year 

Requirement 2: The size of the Company’s profit from property 
management during the period 1 April 2023 to 30 June 2023.

•  Maximum level: EUR 5.75m (corresponding to an annual amount 
of EUR 23.0m)

•  Minimum level: EUR 5.00m (corresponding to an annual amount 
of EUR 20.0m) 

Requirement 3: The percentile ranking of the Company’s total 
return, i.e. the average share price development including dividends, 
for the period 1 April 2023 to 30 June 2023, in relation to a number of 
comparable companies, specifically 20 European real estate compa-
nies.

•  Maximum level: Total return corresponding to the uppermost 
quartile in the reference group

•  Minimum level: Total return corresponding to the median in the 
reference group

Share buy-back
Eastnine AB intends to use 43,756 previously repurchased treasury 
shares in order to ensure the ability to deliver shares to the Participants.
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LTIP 2021
The Annual General Meeting on 5 May 2021 approved the Board’s 
proposal to introduce a long-term incentive programme (LTIP 2021) 
for all staff employed by the Group on 1 January 2021. The incentive 
programme is divided into three categories: Category A (CEO), Cate-
gory B (CFO and other positions deemed to be business critical) and 
Category C (other employees). Participation required participants to 
hold shares in Eastnine equivalent in value to one twelfth of the par-
ticipant’s annual, fixed gross salary, by 1 April 2021. Each participant 
is thereafter granted rights to performance shares, which confer to 
the participant the right to acquire shares in the Company, provided 
that certain performance preconditions are fulfilled. In order to 
receive performance shares, the Participant must remain in employ-
ment with the Company and must also have held the participation 
shares throughout the vesting period. Performance shares will be 
awarded to the employees within 45 days of publication of the 
interim report for the period 1 January to 30 June 2024. 

Criteria for performance shares
Each performance criteria represents half (1/2) of the total alloca-
tion of performance shares to LTIP 2021. If the minimum level of a 
performance criteria is not met, no performance shares relating to 
that criteria will be distributed. If the maximum level is reached, half 
(1/2) of the maximum number of performance shares in LTIP 2021 
will be awarded.

Requirement 1: The development of the Company’s return on 
equity, i.e. the average earnings in relation to average equity, for the 
period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2024.

• Maximum level: 12 per cent per year
• Minimum level: 10 per cent per year 

Requirement 2: The percentile ranking of the Company’s total return, 
i.e. the average share price development including dividends, for the 
period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2024, in relation to a number of compa-
rable companies, specifically 20 European real estate companies.

•  Maximum level: Total return corresponding to the uppermost 
quartile in the reference group

•  Minimum level: Total return corresponding to the median in the 
reference group

Share buy-back
Eastnine AB intends to use 37,995 previously repurchased treasury 
shares in order to ensure the ability to deliver shares to the Participants.

Group Parent Company
Number of share rights 2021 2020 2021 2020

Outstanding at the 
 beginning of the year 102,787 67,550 66,645 43,061
Awarded 38,311 44,102 20,583 23,584
Forfeited -662 -8,865 -662 -
Vested -58,685 - -43,061 -
Outstanding at the  
end of the period 81,751 102,787 43,505 66,645

Outstanding share rights LTIP 2020 LTIP 2021

Number of share rights 43,756 37,995
Number of participants still 
employed on 31 December 2021 16 17

Vesting period
July 2020 

- July 2023
July 2021 

- July 2024
Value per share right, requirement 1 and  
21, SEK 109.22 -
Value per share right, requirement 32, SEK 27.30 -
Value per share right, requirement 11, SEK - 123.98
Value per share right, requirement 22, SEK - 31.00
Remaining term of share rights, year 1.5 2.5

1 Fair value as on the award date, adjusted for dividends during the vesting period. 
2 Fair value as on the award date, adjusted for dividends during the vesting
period and for the probability that the requirement is not fully fulfilled.

Note 5 cont.

Staff expenses for share-
related compensation, EURk

Group Parent Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

Share rights 237 126 159 112
Social charges 125 49 125 49
Total 363 175 285 161

The costs are recognised over the vesting period in the income state-
ment in accordance with IFRS 2. The share-related cost is recognised 
as part of equity and social charges as an accrued expense.

6  CENTRAL ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Central administration expenses are the costs of the management of 
the Group as well as other costs relating to the listing of the company 
on Nasdaq, Stockholm. Costs relating to the administration of proper-
ty-managing subsidiaries is recognised as part of property expenses.

Leasing 
Lease fees of minor value is recognised as a cost through profit  
or loss and linearly distributed over the term of the agreement.  
For Eastnine, these lease fees relate to costs for typical equipment  
of minor value.

Distribution by type Group Parent Company
of cost, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Marketing and PR -296 -204 -296 -204
IT and accounting services -85 -84 -74 -70

Legal services and 
consulting fees -82 -112 -82 -112
Staff expenses -2,784 -2,559 -2,502 -2,179
Other external costs -607 -556 -588 -540
Total -3,853 - 3,515 -3,542 -3,104

 
Allocation in the income Group Parent Company
statement, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Central administration 
expenses -3,853 -3,515 -3,542 -3,104
Total -3,853 - 3,515 -3,542 -3,104

7  FEES AND COMPENSATIONS TO AUDITORS 

Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Audit assignment -153 -166 -81 -93
Audit in addition to the audit 
assignment -28 -18 -28 -18
Tax assignments  -12 -9 -10 -2
Other assignments - -20 - -20
Total -193 -213 -118 -133

Audit assignment refers to the audit of the annual report, the account-
ing records and the administration of the Board of Directors and the 
CEO, other tasks incumbent on the Company’s independent auditor, 
as well as advice or other assistance prompted by obser vations from 
such audits or the performance of other such tasks. Any other assign-
ments are reported as separate items in the table above.
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8 LEASING AGREEMENTS

Group Parent Company
Right of use asset, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Carrying amount at  
beginning of year  1,197 1,204 491 596
Restated according to IFRS 16 35 - 35 -
Additional right of use 230 98 - -
Depreciation of usage rights -109 -105 -109 -105
Carrying amount at end of year 1,353 1,197 417 491

Group Parent Company
Leasing liability, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Carrying amount at  
beginning of year 1,174 1,175 468 567
Restated according to IFRS 16 35 - 35 -
Additional leasing liability 230 98 - -
Amortisation of leasing liability -105 -99 -104 -99
Carrying amount at end of year 1,334 1,174 399 468

Cash flow attributable to lease 
agreement, EURk

Group Parent Company
2021 2020 2021 2020

Cash flow from lease agreements 
recognised as right of use asset -148 -142 -118 -114
Cash flow from leases of  
lesser value -10 -6 -10 -6
Total cash flow from lease 
 agreements -158 -148 -128 -120

The standard means that lease agreements are taken up in the 
accounts as an asset (usage right) and a liability (leasing liability). 
The liability has been initially valuated to the present value of future 
lease payments. The corresponding value of the usage right has 
been stated as an asset. Concerning site leasehold agreements 
where the Company as a lessee can not terminate the agreement, 
the lease term is to be seen as perpetual, meaning that no repay-
ment of the leasing liability is reported. Instead, the value is consid-
ered unchanged until the fee is renegotiated. The usage right like-
wise is considered to be perpetual with the effect that it does not 
depreciate; see maturity structure in note 30. The lease term up until 
renegotiation of the Company’s site leasehold varies between 20-78 
years. In regards to other agreements, currently the rent for East-
nine’s premises in Stockholm for which the lease term is fixed, the 
usage right is depreciated on the straight-line method and the leas-
ing liability is amortised when the fee is paid. The cost, in addition to 
depreciation of all site leasehold fees, has been recognised as a 
financial expense and amounted during the year to EUR 42k (41). In 
addition to the stated usage rights, Eastnine as a tenant also has 
some lease agreements at a smaller value relating to e.g. office 
equipment. These are expensed linearly over the rental period.

9 INTEREST EXPENSES AND OTHER FINANCIAL 
INCOME AND EXPENSES    

Group Parent Company
Financial expenses, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest expenses on loans -3,465 -2,963 -11 -11
Interest expenses on 
derivatives -1,035 -740 - -
Interest expenses on bond -1,100 - -1,100 -
Other financial expenses -168 -214 -134 -14
Net foreign exchange loss1 -95 -59 -95 -59
Total financial expenses -5,863 -3,976 -1,340 -84

Group Parent Company
Financial income, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest income from group  
companies - - 2,477 1,380
Other financial income 6 5 - 1
Total financial income 6 5 2,477 1,381

1  Exchange rate gain/loss on cash and cash equivalent.

All interest income is attributable to financial assets measured at 
amortised cost.
     Interest expenses are mainly attributable to financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost, as well as interest expenses on deriva-
tives measured at fair value.

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Definition
Investment properties are such properties that are held for the pur-
pose of generating a positive net operating income (rental income 
less property expenses). Properties that are considered to be invest-
ment properties are reported in the balance sheet at fair value, and 
value changes are recognised in the income statement.

Investment properties during the financial year
The property portfolio primarily comprises centrally located office 
properties in Vilnius and Riga. The fair value of the investment prop-
erties, excluding usage right assets, amounted to EUR 469,817k 
(372,400). During the year, Eastnine has invested a total of EUR 
81,111k (64,761), of which acquisition payments amounted to EUR 
76,479k (62,461) and investments in existing properties to EUR 
4,632k (2,300). The realised value change amounted to EUR 16,306k 
(17,383). The value change during the year have primarily been 
affected by lower yield requirements. The value of usage right 
assets, relating to site leaseholds, relating to the investment proper-
ties are reported as an item in the balance sheet, and amounted to 
EUR 1,353k (707).

Group
EURk 2021 2020

Carrying amount at beginning of year 372,400 290,256
Acquisitions 76,479 62,461
Investments in owned properties 4,632 2,300
Unrealised value changes 16,306 17,383
Carrying amount at end of year 469,817 372,400
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Valuation of properties
Eastnine values its properties quarterly, with an external valuation 
taking place at least once over a rolling twelve-month period, by a cer-
tified valuation institute. External and internal valuations are carried 
out using the same valuation methodology and software, so that the 
same observable and non-observable input data can be included 
each quarter.

Valuation model
The valuation model is based on the present value of future cash 
flows calculated for a five or ten-year calculation period with supple-
ments for the present value of the residual value at the end of the 
calculation period. The cash flow determinations with a longer cal-
culation period than five years is normally applied to properties with 
only one or a handful of tenants with long lease terms, where the 
cash flow is more predictable. In the case of development properties 
where the total cost is uncertain and in the absence of future lease 
agreements, the fair value is estimated to correspond to the costs 
incurred, unless other information is available at the time of valua-
tion. The external valuations are carried out in accordance with 
international valuation standards (IVS 2020). When external valua-
tions are carried out, the properties are inspected on site. As in the 
previous years, the external valuations have been carried out by Col-
liers International Advisors in both Latvia and Lithuania.

Future cash flows from the property during the calculation period 
are calculated according to the following model:

+ Rental income, including rent supplements
- Operating costs
- Maintenance costs
Total net operating income

- Less investments
Total cash flow

Valuation assumptions
Property valuations are based on assessments and assumptions, 
made at the time of the valuation, of both observable and non-ob-
servable input data. Observable data which have a considerable 
impact on the value are current rent levels, past and budgeted prop-
erty expenses, determined and known future investments and 
actual inflation. Non-observable data are yield requirements as well 
as expected future market rents, vacancies and inflation. 

Cash flow from rent payments are estimated based on current 
lease agreements and known and agreed upon future changes. The 
rent development follows indexing clauses in existing lease agree-
ments. At the end of lease terms, an assessment is made of potential 
lease extensions and the then applicable market rent. As of 31 
December, the average rent amounted to EUR 15.0 per sq.m. The 
estimated market rent in the valuations amounted on average to 
EUR 15.2 per sq.m. 

Operating and maintenance costs are based on historical out-
comes and budgeted costs. Reservations for maintenance costs and 
property investments are normally calculated according to budget 
for year 1, and thereafter as a percentage of the estimated rental 
income or as a cost per square meter.

Inflation, discount rate, yield requirements, market rent as well as 
vacancy estimates are also important parameters in the valuation 
assumptions. The inflation is based on the market’s assessment, in 
the short as well as the long term. The discount rate and yield 
requirement are based on the market return requirement for similar 
investment objects, with the addition of risks related to real estate, 

e.g. geographical location, the condition of the property, and future 
vacancy risk. The market rent is based on the actual current rent 
level for similar objects. Vacancies are individually calculated on the 
lease level, as well as with a long-term, normalised vacancy rate.

The discount rate is the cost of capital on total capital. The discount 
rate used in the valuations amounted on average to 6.9 per cent (7.2) 
for investment properties, excluding development projects. 

Yield requirements are derived from actual transactions. The 
weighted average yield requirement was 5.6 per cent (5.8).

Tenant-specific customisations and investments made for new 
letting are calculated in the interval EUR 180-230 per sq.m. (180-190). 
Other planned property investments have been calculated on aver-
age at 2.7 per cent (2.2) of the total rental income.

The long-term vacancy rate is generally set at 4.5 per cent (4.5) in 
the valuation models. Inflation for market rents has been considered 
to be 0.5 per cent for 2022, and is thereafter expected to rise to 1.5 
per cent annually.

Valuation of investment properties for property develop-
ment
In the case of development properties where the total cost is uncer-
tain and in the absence of future lease agreements, the fair value is 
estimated to correspond to the costs incurred, unless other informa-
tion is available at the time of valuation.

Sensitivity analysis, property valuation
Property valuations require an assessment of a property’s market 
value and is based on calculations in accordance with established 
and customary principles as well as assumptions and assessments 
from certified valuation institutes.

The sensitivity analysis below shows the impact of changes to 
individual valuation parameters on the investment properties’ esti-
mated market value. The sensitivity analysis does not take into 
account that changes to one valuation parameter often may have an 
impact on other parameters included in the sensitivity analysis.

Sensitivity analysis, 
EURk

Assump-
tions

Properties in 
Lithuania

Properties in 
Latvia

Market rent, % +/- 5.0 14,545 -14,518 2,750 -2,738
Occupancy rate,  
percentage points +/- 1.0 3,846 -4,101 781 -782
Yield, percentage 
points +/- 0.25 -12,608 13,806 -2,269 2,366

Valuation assumptions Latvia Lithuania Total

Yield, %
5.6-5.8  

(6.0-6.2)
5.25-5.75 
(5.5-6.0)

5.25-5.8 
(5.5-6.2)

Yield requirement, weighted, % 5.8 (6.1) 5.5 (5.8) 5.6 (5.8)
Average property  
investments, % 4.9 (1.3) 2.3 (2.4) 2.7 (2.2)
Average rent, 
EUR/s.qm./month 15.2 (14.6) 15.2 (15.1) 15.2 (15.0)
Average discount rate, % 7.3 (7.9) 6.9 (7.0) 6.9 (7.2)
Investments at new  
rentals, EUR/s.qm.

180-190 
(180)

190-230 
(190)

180-230 
(180-190)

Long-term inflation, % 1.5 (1.5) 1.5 (1.5) 1.5 (1.5)
Long-term vacancy rate, % 4.5 (4.5) 4.5 (4.5) 4.5 (4.5)

Note 10 cont.
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11  SECURITIES HOLDINGS

Eastnine’s securities holdings are presented below. For a sensitivity analysis and description of risks, see note 29 (Financial instruments) and 
note 30 (Financial risks and risk management.)

Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2020 2020

Carrying amount at beginning of year 102,152 88,709 79,320 66,897
Sales -5,287 - - -
Unrealised changes in value 43,648 13,443 42,509 12,423
Realised changes in value 346 - - -
Carrying amount at end of year 140,859 102,152 121,829 79,320

All investments in the table below are recognised at fair value through the income statement.
EURk

Portfolio 2021
Place of 
business

IFRS  
 classification Segment Shares, % Dividend

Changes in 
value

Carrying 
amount

East Capital Baltic Property Fund II1 Luxembourg Investment  
Other 
investments 39 1,501 1,484 19,028

JSC Melon Fashion Group2 Russia
Associated 
 company

Other 
investments 36 3,266 42,509 121,830

Total 140,858

EURk

Portfolio 2020
Place of 
business

IFRS  
 classification Segment Shares, % Dividend

Changes in 
value

Carrying 
amount

East Capital Baltic Property Fund II1 Luxembourg Investment  
Other 
investments 43 640 1,019 22,831

JSC Melon Fashion Group2 Russia
Associated 
 company

Other 
investments 36 - 12,423 79,320

Total 102,152

¹ Fund shares
The reported shares in the table relates to the Group’s share in profits. The sub-fund East Capital Baltic Property Fund II are part of the umbrella fund, East Capital (Lux) 
SCA, SICAV-SIF, in which Eastnine’s ownership and voting shares amount to 10 per cent (12) at year-end. The funds have been created and are managed by a General 
Partner, who makes all decisions on the ongoing management of the fund and its capital investment without any influence from the investors. The investment in fund 
shares is held exclusively for the purpose of generating returns from dividends and/or increases in value. Total return during the year amounted to 13.1 per cent (7.6).     
     EUR 19,028k in ECBPF2 is expected to be obtained through redemption of fund units in 2022, the majority of which during the first quarter.

² Associated companies
Eastnine AB owns 36 per cent of JSC Melon Fashion Group (“Melon Fashion Group” or “MFG”), an unlisted company registered in Russia. MFG is one of the fastest growing 
Russian fashion retail companies. Up until 30 June 2018, Eastnine applied the IFRS 10 principles for investment entities, whereby all holdings were reported at fair value. 
The purpose of Eastnine’s holding is exclusively to generate returns from dividends and/or increases in value. Total return during the year amounted to 57.7 per cent 
(18.6). The holding in MFG is clearly and objectively separated from Eastnine’s primary business in investment properties, and there are no points of contact between 
MFG and the real estate business. The assessment is that the holding is best represented by reporting its fair value through profit/loss, in accordance with the exemp-
tion in IAS 28 p.18-19.

Melon Fashion Group
The table below is a summary of financial information on the associated company Melon Fashion Group. The company’s official presentation 
currency is the ruble. The financial information below is presented in euro. The balance sheet has been recalculated using the exchange rate 
prevailing on the reporting date, and the income statement using the year’s average exchange rate. At year-end, the exchange rate is 1 EUR = 
85.30 RUB (90.50). Average exchange rate for the year, 1 EUR = 87.19 RUB (82.67), (source: Reuters).

Condensed balance sheet, EURk 2021 2020

Non-current assets 101,983 110,286
Current assets 157,949 138,625
Total assets 259,932 248,911
Equity 60,947 45,602
Non-current liabilities 47,010 59,358
Current liabilities 151,975 143,952
Total equity and liabilities 259,932 248,911

Condensed Income Statement, EURk 2021 2020

Income 430,063 305,070
Cost of sales -217,002 -148,615
Gross profit 213,062 156,455
Other operating expenses -156,831 -131,571
Financial income and expenses -5,942 -8,724
Tax -9,727 -3,227
Net profit for the year 40,561 12,932
Profit/loss from discontinued operations 3 95
Total comprehensive profit for the year 40,564 13,027
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12 DERIVATIVES

Eastnine does not apply hedge accounting. The derivatives are clas-
sified as financial instruments, and comprise of interest rate swaps 
where the Company receives variable interest and pays fixed inter-
est. The derivatives are valued at fair value according to level 2, and 
value changes are presented as an item in the statement of compre-
hensive income. No derivative positions have been closed early and 
all value changes during the year are unrealised. At maturity, the 
value is always zero and no contingent payments remain. For cash-
flow from Eastnineś  derivatives, refer to note 30 (Financial risks and 
risk management). Refer also to note 29 (Financial instruments). 

Year of 
 maturity

Nominal, 
EURk

Market value, 
EURk

Average 
 interest, %

2022 - - -
2023 57,355 -742 0.94
2024 56,896 -409 0.61
2025 22,308 -168 0.66
2026 7,192 -76 0.67
Total 143,751 -1,395 0.80

Group
Value derivates, EURk 2021 2020

Carrying amount at beginning of year -2,745 -1,963
Unrealised changes in value 1,349 -782

Carrying amount at end of year -1,395 -2,745

13 REALISED VALUE CHANGES AND DIVIDENDS FROM  
INVESTMENTS

Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Dividend, MFG 3,266 - 3,266 -
Dividend, ECBPF2 1,501 640 - -
Realised value change, 
ECBPF2 346 - - -
Total 5,113 640 3,266 -

14 OTHER INCOME

Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Advisory and management 
services to group companies - - 1,933 1,738
Total - - 1,933 1,738

15 TAXES

Reconciliation of effective Group Parent Company
tax, EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Profit/loss before tax 75,943 40,695 45,304 12,355
Tax as per applicable tax rate 
in Sweden, 20.6% (21.4) -15,644 -8,709 -9,333 -2,644
Difference in tax rate in  
foreign subsidiaries 2,625 1,183 - -
Tax effect on non-taxable 
fair value adjustments 12,422 6,597 8,757 2,659
Tax effect on non-taxable 
income from dividend 982 137 673 -
Tax effect of other non- 
taxable income 278 1 - -
Tax effect on non tax- 
deductible expenses -78 -236 -3 -3
Tax effect on tax-deductible 
expenses not recorded -4,098 -3,531 - -
Not recognized tax on tax 
losses carried forward for 
the year 1) -94 -11 -94 -11
Adjustment of deferred tax 
attributable to previous 
years - 31 - -
Total -3,609 -4,540 - -

Average applicable tax 
rate, % 4.8 11.2 - -

1  Deferred tax assets are reported to the extent it is possible that they can be 
 utilised by future taxable profits. Potential unrealised tax effects on tax losses 
forward amount to EUR 0.8m in Parent Company, which has not been recog-
nised in the balance sheet as future profits will mainly deemed to be attributa-
ble to direct investments which are not taxable according to Swedish tax law.

16  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
EURk 2021 2020

Accumulated acquisition values   
at beginning of year 14 14
Accumulated acquisition values 
at end of year 14 14

Accumulated depreciation at beginning of year -12 -12
Depreciation of the year - -

Accumulated depreciation at end of year -12 -12
Carrying amount at end of year 2 2
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17 EQUIPMENT

Group Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020 2021 2020

Accumulated acquisition values 
at beginning of year 395 379 89 89
Acqusitions for the year 96 16 - -
Accumulated acquisition 
values at end of year 491 395 89 89

Accumulated depreciation at 
beginning of year -221 -163 -19 -1
Depreciation of the year -63 -58 -18 -18
Accumulated depreciation 
at end of year -284 -221 -37 -19
Carrying amount at end of year 207 174 52 70

18 OTHER NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES

EURk
Group

2021 2020

Deposits 109 109
Other 20 356
Total 129 465

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Age structure, EURk
Group

2021 2020

Not past due 631 748
Past due 0-30 days 74 164
Past due 31-60 days 25 45
Past due 61-90 days 14 4
Past due, more than 90 days 99 -
  of which bad debts provision1 -6 -2
Total 837 959

1 Provisions is made on individual basis.

20 PREPAID EXPENSES AND ACCRUED INCOME  

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Accrued interest income - - 1,298 1,380
Accrued income 476 412 - -
Other prepaid expenses and
accrued income 1,041 159 670 13
Total 1,517 571 1,968 1,393

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalent 29,201 24,278 7,147 10,995
Total 29,201 24,278 7,147 10,995

Cash and cash equivalents comprise assets with a term of maximally 
three months and which with negligible risk of value changes may be 
converted into cash. On the reporting day, 100 per cent of cash and 
cash equivalents referred to cash in the Company’s bank accounts.

22  EQUITY

Eastnine AB (publ) has, on reporting day, a total of 22,370,261 ordi-
nary shares, each share conferring voting rights of one (1) vote. Dur-
ing the year, Eastnine vested 58,685 shares to participants in East-
nine’s long-term incentive plan introduced in 2018 (LTIP 2018). After 
the transaction, as on 31 December 2021, the Company’s holding of 
own shares in treasury have decreased to 162,515, corresponding to 
a decrease from around 1.0 per cent to about 0.7 per cent of all 
shares issued. At the AGM 2021, the Board received a new mandate 
to decide on share buy-back, providing that Eastnine’s holding of 
treasury shares not exceed at any time 10 per cent of all shares in the 
Company.

Number of ordinary shares 2021 2020

Shares, issued at 1st of January  22,370,261 22,370,261

Shares, issued at 31st of December 22,370,261 22,370,261
of which shares held in treasury 162,515 221,200

The Group’s equity
Equity corresponds to the Parent Company’s share capital, other 
contributed capital and earned profits. Other contributed capital 
consists of capital contributions from the owners and share pre-
mium reserve  which has been added in conjunction with new share 
issues. Earned profits relate to profits earned within the Group. Total 
equity amounted, on 31 December 2021, to EUR 376.0m (EUR 
309.9m).

Capital management
Capital is defined as total equity and amounted on 31 December 2021 
to EUR 376.0m (309.9). Cash and cash equivalents in the Group 
amounted to EUR 29.2m (24.3). Eastnine’s Board has decided that the 
net loan-to-value ratio on properties shall not exceed 60 per cent on 
the Group level, and that the equity/asset ratio shall amount to at 
least 35 per cent. On reporting day, the net loan-to-value ratio on 
properties amounted to 45 per cent (40) and the equity/asset ratio 
amounted to 58 per cent (62). In addition to cash and cash equiva-
lents, Eastnine has obtained an overdraft facility of EUR 3.0m which, 
in addition to the possibility to extend property credits, is a further 
source of financing to cover short-term liquidity requirements and for 
investments. 

Parent Company’s restricted and non-restricted equity 
According to the Companies Act, equity is composed of restricted 
(non-distributable) and non-restricted (distributable) equity. East-
nine AB’s restricted equity consists of the share capital. Non-re-
stricted equity includes the share premium reserve, net profit/loss 
for the year and retained earnings.  

The non-restricted equity in the Parent Company may be paid out to 
shareholders only if there is sufficient, after the dividend, to complete 
cover restricted equity. Furthermore, a dividend may only be paid out if, 
given an assessment of the scope, requirements and risks in the busi-
ness, such a dividend is defensible considering the Group’s need to 
strengthen the balance sheet, liquidity and general financial position. 

Dividend 
The Annual General Meeting determines the dividend. The Board of 
Directors proposes to the 2022 AGM a dividend of SEK 3.00 per share, 
with payments evenly distributed over four occasions in 2022 and 
the beginning of 2023. Dividends are not distributed to the Compa-
ny’s holding of own shares, whose exact number is determined on 
the record dates for cash payment of the dividend. Based on the cur-
rent number of shares issued on the reporting day, excluding own 
shares held in treasury, the proposed dividend amounts to SEK 
66,6m, corresponding to EUR 6,5m.

EUR 1 = SEK 10.30 on 31 December 2021 (Source: Reuters). 
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23 INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing liabilities relate to liabilities to credit institutions 
and bond holders, of which EUR 234,574k (153,208) are classified as 
non-current liabilities as they mature later than 12 months from the 
reporting day, and EUR 6,510k (19,943) are classified as current liabil-
ities maturing within 12 months. See also note 29 (Financial instru-
ments). Eastnine’s liabilities to credit institutions and bond holders 
are reported at accrued acquisition value, and the assessment is 
that this is a good approximation of fair value. During the year, the 
Parent Company has raised a bond loan of EUR 45,000k.

Interest-bearing liabilities, EURk
Group

2021 2020

Interest-bearing liabilities at the beginning of 
the year 173,151 137,771
Bond issue 45,000 -
New debt raised 29,277 40,950
Amortisations, according to plan -6,344 -5,570
Carrying amount at end of year 241,084 173,151

In accordance with Eastnine’s financial policy, the capital tie-up 
period on loans shall never be below 18 months. Moreover, no more 
than 40 per cent of loans are to mature within any given 12-month 
period. See also the section on Financing and capital structure. The 
table below presents the maturities of loans and the annual propor-
tion of loans that are maturing. Annual amortisation according to 
agreement amounted at year-end to EUR 6.5m (6.1), corresponding 
to 2.7 per cent (3.5) of the outstanding debt. No credits fall due for 
repayment in 2022. The average interest rate level refers to annual 
interest at the beginning of the maturity year in relation to the cur-
rent loan debt at the beginning of the respective year, and is calcu-
lated in accordance with the conditions applicable on 31 December 
2021. The following tables show the maturity structure of the inter-
est-bearing liabilities excluding and including derivatives respec-
tively. The tables do not reflect that debt credits may be refinanced 
at maturity. See note 30 (Financial risks and risk management) for 
the effect of interest-bearing liabilities on the cash flow.

Maturity structure on interest-bearing liabilities, excluding 
derivatives.

Year of maturity Debt, EURk Proportion, %
Average  

interest, %

2022 6,510 2.7 2.40
2023 61,538 25.5 2.42
2024 132,719 55.1 2.65
2025 33,707 14.0 1.61
2026 6,610 2.7 1.48
Total 241,084 100.0 2.40

Capital tie-up period on interest-bearing liabilities, including 
derivatives.

Year of maturity Debt, EURk Proportion, %

2022 - -
2023 60,010 24.9
2024 136,436 56.6
2025 37,446 15.5
2026 7,192 3.0
Total 241,084 100.0

24 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

EURk
Group

2021 2020

Deferred tax liabilities at beginning of year 10,855 6,315
This year’s change reported in income 
statement 3,609 4,540
Carrying amount at end of year 14,464 10,855

Deferred tax on temporary 
differences, EURk

Group
2021 2020

Investment properties 19,852 14,802
Derivatives -198 -412
Tax deficits -5,190 -3,535
Carrying amount at end of year 14,464 10,855

All deferred tax relates to Eastnine Lithuania, on which a corporate 
income tax of 15 per cent is applied. The deferred tax is attributable to 
the difference between reported values and tax values, unrealised 
value changes in derivatives and tax deficits. No corporate income tax 
is reported in Estonia or Latvia, where a 20 per cent corporate income 
tax is principally levied on distributed profits, which is to say that no 
tax is paid on undistributed profits. As Eastnine does not intend to dis-
tribute profits from Estonia and Latvia, no deferred tax is reported on 
the basis of earnings from previous years. A tax impact will be 
reported if a decision on dividends in the future may come to be con-
sidered. Distributable retained earnings in the group’s subsidiaries in 
Estonia and Latvia, including net profit or loss for the year, amounted 
at year-end to EUR 51,013k (47,781), and the deferred tax on these 
profits may maximally amount to EUR 10,203k (9,556). 

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITES

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Tenant deposits 2,384 1,677 - -
Other 36 113 36 113
Total 2,420 1,790 36 113

26 OTHER LIABILITIES

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Property tax liabilities - 1,185 - -
Advance payments from 
tenants 56 48 - -
Unpaid dividend 1,630 - 1,630 -
Other 876 29 375 5
Total 2,562 1,262 2,005 5

27 ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Accrued salary-related 
expenses 501 516 382 404
Accrued interest expenses 538 10 525 -
Accrued property expenses 278 233 - -
Other accrued expenses 403 106 155 92
Total 1,720 865 1,062 496
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28 SHARES AND PARTICIPATIONS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Parent Company
EURk 2021 2020

Opening acquisition values 142,447 143,433
Repayment of shareholder contributions -45,577 -1,000
Additional acqusition values1 47,178 14
Closing accumulated acquisition values 144,048 142 447

¹ Of additional acquisition values, EUR 78k (14) is attributable to the long-term incentive programme for employees, LTIP.

Directly-owned subsidiaries Place of business Number of shares
Share of capital 

and votes, %
Carrying amount, 

EURk

Eastnine Baltics OÜ Tallinn, Estonia 2,500 100 144,048

Indirectly owned subsidiaries Place of business Number of shares
 Share of capital 

and votes, %

Eastnine Prop1 OÜ Tallin, Estonia 1 100
Eastnine Latvia SIA Riga, Latvia 14,955,000 100

Eastnine Alojas Biroji SIA Riga, Latvia 8,565,000 100
Eastnine Kimmel SIA Riga, Latvia 1,950,000 100
Eastnine Prop 6 SIA Riga, Latvia 3,500,000 100
Eastnine Valdemara Centrs SIA Riga, Latvia 10,000,000 100
Eastnine Zala 1 SIA Riga, Latvia 6,830,000 100

Eastnine Lithuania UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 10,000 100
Eastnine 3Burés-1-2 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 101 100
Eastnine 3Bures-3 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 3,620 100
Eastnine Prop 1 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,600 100
Eastnine S7-1 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,600 100
Eastnine S7-2 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,800 100
Eastnine S7-3 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,800 100
Eastnine Uniq UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,700 100
Eastnine Vertas-1 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,600 100
Eastnine Vertas-2 UAB Vilnius, Lithuania 2,600 100

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

A financial asset or financial liability is normally added to the bal-
ance sheet on the date of transaction. A financial asset is removed 
from the balance sheet when the rights, according to the given 
agreement, are realised or mature, or when material risks or benefits 
relating to the asset are transferred. A financial liability (or part of 
thereof) is removed from the balance sheet when the obligation 
specified in the agreement is discharged or in any other manner 
extinguished.

Calculation of fair value
The following summarises the methods and assumptions used to 
determine the fair value of financial instruments.

Financial instruments valued at fair value in the year’s profit/loss 
For a description of the methods that are used when estimating the 
fair value of financial instruments through profit/loss for the year, 
refer to note 1 (Accounting policies). 

Financial instruments not valued at fair value in the year’s 
profit/loss
For accounts receivable and accounts payable, the carrying amount 
is assessed to reflect fair value since the remaining maturity is gen-
erally short. This is also the case for cash and cash equivalents. The 
fair value of other long-term and short-term loans is deemed not to 
deviate materially from the carrying amount.

Fair value estimation
Eastnine applies IFRS 13 for fair value estimations and IFRS 13 and 
IFRS 7 for disclosures. This requires the Company to classify, for dis-
closure purposes, fair value measurements using a fair value hierar-
chy reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the 
measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

Level 1:   Quoted, unadjusted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities.

Level 2:   Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., 
as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).

Level 3:   Input data for the asset or liability which are not based on 
observable market data (i.e., non-observable inputs). 

The categorisation of a fair value measurement into a level on the 
fair value hierarchy shall be determined based on the lowest level of 
input data which is significant for the measurement in its entirety. 
For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed in relation 
to the entirety of the fair value measurement. If a fair value measure-
ment uses observable inputs which require significant adjustments 
based on non-observable inputs, the measurement is to be catego-
rised as  a level 3 measurement. In order to assess the significance of 
a particular input to the fair value measurement as a whole, factors 
that are specific to the asset or liability must be taken into consider-
ation. A description of how fair value is determined may be found in 
note 1 (Accounting principles).
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Financial assets and 
 liabilities, EURk 

Financial instruments  
at fair value through  

profit or loss
Financial assets at  

amortised cost
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total carrying 

amount

Group 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Long-term securities  
holdings (level 3) 121,830 102,152 - - - - 121,830 102,152
Accounts receivable - - 837 959 - - 837 959
Other receivables - - 8,597 27 - - 8,597 27
Short-term securities  
holdings (level 2) 19,028 - - - - - 19,028 -
Cash and cash equivalent - - 29,201 24,278 - - 29,201 24,278
Total financial assets 140,858 102,152 38,635 25,264 - - 179,493 127,416

Interest-bearing liabilities - - - - 241,084 173,151 241,084 173,151
Derivatives (level 2) 1,395 2,745 - - - - 1,395 2,745
Trade payables - - - - 10,208 440 10,208 440
Other financial liabilites - - - - 4,437 1,272 4,437 1,272
Total financial liabilites 1,395 2,745 - - 255,729 174,863 257,124 177,608

Financial assets and 
 liabilities, EURk  

Financial instruments  
at fair value through  

profit or loss
Financial assets at  

amortised cost
Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost
Total carrying 

amount

Parent Company 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Long-term securities  
holdings (level 3) 121,830 79,320 - - - - 121,830 79,320
Loan to group companies - - 73,027 27,527 - - 73,027 27,527
Other receivable - - 1,441 1,385 - - 1,441 1,385
Cash and cash equivalent - - 7,147 10,995 - - 7,147 10,995
Total financial assets 121,830 79,320 81,615 39,907 - - 203,445 119,227

Interest-bearing liabilities - - - - 45,000 - 45,000 -
Trade payables - - - - 93 150 93 150
Other financial liabilites - - - - 2,005 5 2,005 5
Total financial liabilites - - - - 47,098 155 47,098 155

The following tables analyse securities holdings measured at fair value in compliance with level 3. The segment Other investments refers to the 
holding in the East Capital Baltic Property Fund II (ECBPF2), which during the year has changed classification, according to the valuation hierar-
chy, and was valued at level 2 at the end of the year and the holding in JSC Melon Fashion Group (MFG), valued at level 3. At year-end, ECBPF2’s 
properties have been valued at the agreed sale price.  MFG has been valued internally by Eastnine using a discounted cash flow model.

Changes in securities holdings valued at  
fair value in level 3, EURk

Other investments

ECBPF2 MFG Total

Group 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Opening balance at the beginning of the year 22,831 21,812 79,320 66,897 102,152 88,709
Divestments/reductions -5,287 - - - -5,287 -
Unrealised value changes through profit/loss for the year 1,138 1,019 42,509 12,423 43,648 13,442
Realised value changes through profit/loss for the year 346 - - - 346 -
Reclassification to level 2 -19,028 - - - -19,028 -
Closing balance at the end of the year - 22,831 121,830 79,320 121,830 102,152

Parent Company 2021 2020 2021 2020

Opening balance at the beginning of the year 79,320 66,897 79,320 66,897
Unrealised value changes through profit/loss for the year 42,509 12,423 42,509 12,423
Closing balance at the end of the year 121,830 79,320 121,830 79,320

Note 29 cont.

The table below presents the categories of financial instruments that are present in the Group and the Parent Company, respectively. Financial 
assets and liabilities, valued at amortised cost and fair value respectively, classified in accordance with IFRS 9 with the exception of invest-
ments in related companies, which are valued at fair value according to the exemption in IAS 28 p. 18-19.
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Valuation methods for unlisted holdings

Holding Segment
Valuation 
method1 Valuation assumptions1

East Capital Baltic Property Fund II Other investments Agreed exit price -

JSC Melon Fashion Group Other investments DCF
Long-term growth 3.8%, long-term operating margin 9.6%, 
WACC 16.5%, a 25% minority and liquidity discount is applied.

1 Discounted cash flow model (DCF), weighted average cost of capital (WACC).

For the value of the holding in Melon Fashion Group, recognised at fair value through profit or loss, changes at the reporting date to one of the 
significant unobservable inputs, while other inputs remain unchanged, would have the following impact on the fair value:

Sensivity analysis

Other investments

Long-term securities holdings, EURk Assumptions MFG
Weighted average cost of capital, percentage points +/- 1.0 -8,892 10,468
Long-term growth, percentage points +/- 0.4 2,437 -2,288
Long-term operating margin, percentage points +/- 0.5 3,822 -3,822

30 FINANCIAL RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Through its operations, Eastnine is exposed to various risks. The 
Company’s financing policy is determined by the Board. Financial 
risk management is handled primarily by the finance function in 
accordance with the Board’s established finance policy. For more 
information, see also note 23 (Interest-bearing liabilities).

Financial risks
Eastnine is exposed to the following financial risks:

(A) Interest rate risk
Interest expenses are Eastnine’s largest single expense item and 
amounted as at 31 December to EUR 6.9m annualised.

The interest rate risk is defined as the risk for negative effect on the 
Company’s profits due to higher interest expenses, with negative 
effects on earnings and the cash flow. Interest rate risk also includes 
the risk of having a disproportional part of interest expenses with 
fixed interest, when variable interest rates fall or are considered to be 
low over a long period.

According to the financial policy, the interest rate risk shall be limi-
ted through the capital tie-up period not be less than 18 months and 
at least 50 per cent of the interest-bearing liabilities shall have fixed 
interest of a minimum of 12 months. Eastnine shall, normally, handle 
fixed-interest periods by use of interest derivatives.

The average capital tie-up period of the interest-bearing liabilities 
amounted at year-end to 30 months (36). The proportion of interest-
bearing liabilities, see note 23 (Interest-bearing liabilities), with fixed 
interest amounted at year-end to 60 per cent (75), and the average 
fixed-interest period was 18 months (28).

The tables below summarise the effects on Eastnine’s earnings and 
equity of changes to the market interest rate, excluding value changes 
to the Company’s interest rate swaps.

 Sensitivity analysis market interest rate

Cash flow and current earning, EURk 2021 2020

Market interest rate +/- 50 bps +76 / -76 +87 / -87
Market interest rate +/- 100 bps -345 / -152 -107 / -173

(B) Currency risk
Eastnine’s functional currency is the euro. Currency risk means the 
risk arising from volatility in currency exchange rates, as the repor-
ted value of recognised monetary assets and liabilities, which are 
denominated in currencies other than EUR, fluctuate due to changes 
in exchange rates. Eastnine operates internationally and holds both 
monetary (cash and cash equivalents) as well as non-monetary 
(investments in securities holdings) financial assets denominated in 
currencies other than EUR. Eastnine’s holding in MFG depends on an 
underlying valuation of MFG in ruble, and the valuation is converted 
to euro in Eastnine’s financial statements. Moreover, the Parent 
Company’s operating expenses chiefly comprise costs in SEK, and 
Eastnine’s shareholder dividends are denominated in SEK. 

To avoid currency risk, cash and cash equivalents are mainly held in 
EUR. During the year, Eastnine has not hedged assets in ruble or in SEK. 

The table below presents a sensitivity analysis relating to those 
assets and liabilities which are denominated in currencies other 
than EUR.

Assets and liabilities in other currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities, EURk 2021 2020

Currency in Swedish crowns (SEK) 83 270
Lease liability in SEK 399 468

Non-monetary assets1, EURk 2021 2020

Currency in ruble (RUB) 121,830 79,320

1 Exchange rate risk in ruble, which in its entirety refers to Eastnine’s holding in 
Melon Fashion Group, valued at fair value.

Sensitivity analysis of exchange rate risks
 

Effect on profit or  
loss and equity, EURk

Risk factors Change, % 2021 2020

Currency rate EUR/RUB +/- 10 12,183 7,932
Value of ECBPF2 and MFG +/- 10 14,086 10,215
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Maturity structure financial instruments
31 December 2021, EURk Total 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026-

Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 6,510 61,538 132,719 33,707 6,610
Interest of interest-bearing liabilities 14,183 5,730 5,428 2,495 498 32
Interest of derivatives 2,013 994 755 153 95 16
Lease liability 575 151 151 151 91 31
Trade payables 10,208 10,208 - - - -
Other liabilities 1,630 1,630 - - - -
Total cash flow from financial instruments 269,693 25,223 67,872 135,518 34,391 6,689

Maturity structure financial instruments
31 December 2020, EURk Total 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025-

Interest-bearing liabilities 173,151 19,943 16,772 50,152 63,289 22,995
Interest of interest-bearing liabilities 8,403 2,936 2,557 2,135 508 267
Interest of derivatives 2,372 869 837 611 47 8
Lease liability 679 141 141 142 141 114
Trade payables 440 440 - - - -
Total cash flow from financial instruments 185,045 24,329 20,307 53,040 63,985 23,384

31 RELATED PARTIES

Related party relationships
Eastnine AB has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries,  
see note 28 (Shares and participations in subsidiaries), as well as 
with Board members and employees.

Investment agreement
The management fee for East Capital Baltic Property Fund II is 1.75 
per cent. The carried interest is 20 per cent, on the condition that a 
threshold value increase of 7 per cent per year is achieved.

Transactions with senior executive staff and their related 
companies
Eastnine AB’s management, Board members and their close rela-
tives and related companies control 31 (29) per cent of voting rights 
in the Company. Information about remuneration to executive man-
agement is provided in note 5 (Employees, staff expenses and 
 executive management compensation).

Other transactions with related parties

EURk 2021 2020

Eastnine Lithuania UAB
Nominal loan amount 27,527 27,527
Interest received during the year 1,376 1,380
Accrued interest receivable 1,057 1,380
Eastnine Baltics OÜ
Nominal loan amount 45,500 -
Interest received during the year 1,101 -
Accrued interest receivable 240 -

(C) LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk of Eastnine having insufficient liquidity to be 
able to meet its payment obligations. The Company’s investments in 
unlisted and less liquid assets result in liquidity risk concerning the 
capacity to quickly divest holdings. Since Eastnine has a high equity/
asset ratio, the assessment is that the risk of suspension of pay-
ments is low. Eastnine prepares monthly liquidity forecasts for the 
coming twelve months. According to the financial policy, the Com-
pany shall have sufficient liquidity in order to cover the needs of the 
coming six months.

At the end of 2021, the Eastnine Group had cash and bank depo-
sits equivalent to 4.5 per cent of total assets as well as an unutilised 
overdraft facility amounting to EUR 3,000k.

(D) REFINANCING RISK 
Refinancing risk is the risk of not being able to obtain new financing 
to the extent needed, either when existing financing matures or 
when a need for new financing arises. According to the financial pol-
icy, the net loan-to-value ratio for properties shall not exceed 60 per 
cent, the capital tie-up period shall amount to at least 18 months 
and a maximum of 40 per cent of the interest-bearing liabilities shall 
mature within each 12-month period. At year-end, the net loan-to-

value ratio for properties was 45 per cent (40) and the capital tie-up 
period was 2.5 years (3.0) while credit maturity exceeding 40 per 
cent in particular twelve-month periods does occur.

(E) CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is primarily the risk that tenants are unable to fulfill their 
obligations, and relating to holding of cash and cash equivalents 
which may cause Eastnine to suffer a financial loss.

According to the financial policy, counterparties are to provide 
satisfactory guarantees or have a credit rating with two of the follo-
wing three criteria in the short and long term respectively: S&P (A-1/A), 
Moody’s (P-1/A) and Fitch (F1/A). Tenants normally pay a rent security 
deposit corresponding to two-three monthly rents. Liquidity reserves 
can be placed in bank deposits or in securities issued in euro by states 
or Nordic banks with at least rating A and a maturity of less than three 
months.

Rent losses during 2021 were negligible. Granted discounts due to 
Covid-19 amounted to EUR 178k, corresponding to 0.8 per cent of total 
annual rent.

Note 30 cont.
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34 PLEDGED ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Pledged assets for interest-bearing
liabilitis, EURk

Group
2021 2020

Investment properties 419,695 364,300
Shares in subsidiaries 139,793 120,702
Total 559,488 485,002

Security for credit loans. The majority of credit agreements include 
covenants relating to, inter alia, loan-to-value ratios, minimum 
equity, interest and amortisation coverage ratios, and requirements 
on cash deposits in bank accounts.

Contingent liabilities, EURk
Parent Company

2021 2020

Guarantees in favor of subsidiaries 196,083 154,378
Total 196,083 154,378

35 INFORMATION ABOUT THE PARENT COMPANY

Eastnine is a Swedish limited liability company with its registered 
office in Stockholm. The Parent Company is listed on Nasdaq Stock-
holm. The head office is located on Kungsgatan 30, Box 7214, 103 88 
Stockholm. 

36 EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

After the end of the year, East Capital has divested all remaining 
properties in East Capital Baltic Property Fund II, where Eastnine 
had an ownership stake. Eastnine has received reimbursement of 
EUR 14.9m in the first quarter of 2022 and the remaining value is 
expected to be reimbursed later during 2022.

The Board has decided to evaluate real estate investments
in Poland.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has led to a serious deterioration
of the security situation in Europe and the world. Eastnine’s real 
estate operations are not visibly affected, although the situation is 
rapidly changing and it is difficult to foresee the consequences. The 
surrounding world’s decision on economic sanctions against Russia 
has, among other things, caused a depreciation of the rouble and 
thus also affects the value of Eatsnine’s holdings in the Russian fash-
ion chain, Melon Fashion Group. The planned IPO of MFG has been 
postponed. At present it is major uncertainties about the rouble 
exchange rate and future developments. Eastnine is continuing to 
analyse the situation and will evaluate the holding at the latest in 
connection with the interim report for the period January-March 
2022.

32  SPECIFICATIONS FOR THE CASH-FLOW  
 STATEMENT 
 

Adjustments for non-cash items for operating activities 

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020
Realised changes in value 
of investments -346 - - -
Unrealised changes in 
value of properties -16,306 -17,383 - -
Unrealised changes in 
value of investments -43,648 -13,443 -42,509 -12,423
Unrealised changes in 
value of derivatives -1,349 782 - -
Depreciations and 
 write-downs 174 165 126 123
Long-term incentive 
 programme (LTIP) 237 126 237 126
Other 63 59 63 95
Total -61,175 -29,694 -42,082 -12,079

Paid and received interest

EURk
Group Parent Company

2021 2020 2021 2020

Interest received - - 2,561 2,753
Interest paid -5,071 -3,713 -586 -11

33  EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share, EUR 2021 2020

Earnings per share, before dilution 3.27 1.70
Earnings per share, after dilution 3.25 1.70

The origin of the numerator and denominator used in the above cal-
culations of earnings per share is shown below:

Calculations and profit/loss 2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to the 
holders of ordinary shares in Parent 
Company 72,334 36,155
Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares, adjusted for repurchades shares, 
before dilution, thousands of shares 22,154 21,269
Effect from the Company’s long-term 
incentive program for employees (LTIP),  
thousands of shares 78 50
Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares, adjusted for repurchased shares, 
after dilution,  thousands of shares 22,232 21,319
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Five-year overview of key figures
Key figures 2021 2020 2019 20184 20174

Property-related
Leasable area, sq.m. thousands 143.2 121.0 99.5 62.8 37.8
Number of properties 13 10 9 5 3
Investment properties, EURk 469,817 372,400 290,256 158,862 107,505
Surplus ratio, % 85 91 89 84 71
Occupancy rate, financial, % 90.0 92.1 92.0 88.9 93.8
Average rent, EUR/ sq.m./month 15.0 14.9 14.7 14.5 13.8
Average rent, EUR/ sq.m./year 179 179 177 174 167
WAULT, years 4.3 4.4 5.0 2.8 2.5
Weighted yield requirement, % 5.6 5.8 - - -
Enviromentally certified properties1, % of sq.m. 81 87 72 56 -

Financial
Rental income, EURk 21,530 19,186 13,348 9,130 5,703
Net operating income, EURk 19,237 17,497 11,946 7,690 4,035
Profit from property management, EURk 9,526 10,011 5,489 3,180 -1,344
Loan-to-value ratio, % 39 36 36 27 14
Net loan-to-value ratio, % 35 31 26 1 Neg.
Loan-to-value ratio, investment properties, % 51 46 47 43 30
Net loan-to-value ratio, investment properties, % 45 40 35 2 Neg.
Capital tie-up period, year 2.5 3.0 3.5 4.6 -
Interest tie-up period, year 1.5 2.3 3.1 4.6 -
Debt ratio, multiple 15.7 12.4 17.1 15.7 -
Equity/asset ratio, % 58 62 64 76 86
Interest coverage ratio, multiple 2.7 3.7 3.5 3.6 -
Average interest rate, % 2.8 2.3 2.3 2.5 2.7
Return on equity, % 21.1 12.5 13.9 6.5 7.0

Share-related
Equity, EURk 375,994 309,942 268,192 240,819 242,457
Long-term net asset value, EURk 391,853 323,542 276,470 245,521 245,050
Market cap, EURk 341,658 275,527 276,546 205,052 206,348
Market cap, SEKk 3,517,707 2,768,633 2,905,881 2,078,197 2,028,711
Number of shares issued at period end, thousand 22,370 22,370 22,370 22,370 24,816
Number of shares outstanding at the end of the period, 
adjusted for repurchased shares, thousand 22,208 22,149 21,149 21,501 22,948

Weighted average number of shares,  
adjusted for repurchased shares, thousand 22,169 21,269 21,187 22,128 24,334

Cashflow per share from operating activities, EUR 0.79 0.52 0.40 0.08 -0.07
Cashflow per share, EUR 0.22 -0.61 -1.31 0.14 -0.70
Profit from property management per share, EUR 0.43 1.70 1.66 0.71 0.70
Earnings per share before dilution, EUR 3.27 0.47 0.26 0.14 -0.05
Earnings per share after dilution, EUR 3.25 1.70 1.66 0.71 0.70
Dividend per share, EUR 2) 0.29 0.30 0.26 0.22 0.21
Dividend per share, SEK 2) 3.00 3.00 2.70 2.30 2.10
Equity per share, EUR 16.9 14.0 12.7 11.2 10.6
Equity per share, SEK 174 141 133 114 104
Long-term net asset value per share, EUR 17.6 14.6 13.1 11.4 10.7
Long-term net asset value per share, SEK 182 147 137 116 105
Share price, EUR 3 15.4 12.4 13.1 9.2 8.3
Share price, SEK 3 158.40 125.00 137.40 92.90 81.75

Other
EUR/SEK 10.30 10.05 10.51 10.14 9.83
EUR/RUB 85.30 90.50 69.72 79.30 69.13

1 Sustainability-certified area in proportion to total area (excluding area expected to undergo significant redevelopment).
2 Proposed dividend for 2021, SEK 3.00 per share corresponding to EUR 0.29 per share.
3 Not adjusted for dividend.
4 Comparative figures for income items relating to 2017 and 2018 are pro-forma.
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Derivation of key figures
Key figures 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Rental income 21,530 19,186 13,348 9,130 5,703

Net operating income 19,237 17,497 11,946 7,690 4,035
Surplus ratio, % 89 91 89 84 71

Investment properties and securities holdings 610,675 474,552 378,965 251,760 234,782
Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 173,151 137,771 67,550 32,545
Loan-to-value ratio, % 39 36 36 27 14

Investment properties and securities holdings 610,675 474,552 378,965 251,760 234,782
Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 173,151 137,771 67,550 32,545
Cash and cash equivalents 29,201 24,278 37,406 65,119 44,991
Net loan-to-value ratio, % 35 31 26 1 Neg.

Investment properties 469,817 372,400 290,256 158,862 107,505
Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 173,151 137,771 67,550 32,545
Loan-to-value ratio, properties, % 51 46 47 43 30

Investment properties 469,817 372,400 290,256 158,862 107,505
Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 173,151 137,771 67,550 32,545
Cash and cash equivalents 29,201 24,278 37,406 65,119 44,991
Net loan-to-value ratio, properties, % 45 40 35 2 Neg.

Equity 309,942 309,942 268,192 240,819 242,457
Reversal of derivatives 2,745 2,745 1,963 957 176
Reversal of deferred tax 10,855 10,855 6,315 3,745 2,417
 Long-term net asset value, EURk 323,542 323,542 276,470 245,521 245,050

Net operating income 19,237 17,497 11,946 7,690 4,035
Central administration expenses -3,853 -3,515 -3,873 -3,387 -4,154
Total 15,383 13,982 8,073 4,303 -119
Interest-bearing liabilities 241,084 173,151 137,771 67,550 32,545
Debt ratio, multiple 15.7 12.4 17.1 15.7 Neg.

Profit from property management 9,526 10,011 5,489 3,180 -1,344
Interest expenses 5,600 3,703 2,225 1,212 -908
Profit before interest expenses 15,126 6,308 7,714 4,392 -2,252
Interest coverage ratio, multiple 2.7 3.7 3.5 3,6 Neg.

Net profit/loss for the year 72,334 36,155 35,266 15,641 17,085
Average equity 342,968 289,067 254,506 241,638 245,008
Return on equity, % 21.1 12.5 13.9 6.5 7.0



95Eastnine  •  Annual Report 2021

Financial information  •  Assurance from the Board and CEO

Stockholm, 31 March 2022

Our Auditors’ Report was submitted on 31 March 2022.

KPMG AB

Peter Dahllöf
Authorized Public Accountant

The annual accounts and consolidated accounts, as indicated above, have been approved for publication by the Board on 31 March 2022. 
The statement of income statement and balance sheet of the Group and the Parent Company will be  

submitted to the Annual General Meeting for adoption on 26 April 2022.

Liselotte Hjorth
Chairman of the Board

Christian Hermelin
Board member

Peter Elam Håkansson
Board member

Ylva Sarby Westman
Board member

Peter Wågström
Board member

Kestutis Sasnauskas
CEO

Assurance from the Board and CEO

The Board and the CEO assure that these annual accounts have 
been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in Sweden and the consolidated accounts have been pre-
pared in accordance with the international financial reporting stand-
ards referred to in Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and of the council of 19 July 2002 on the application of 
international accounting standards. The annual accounts give a true 

and fair view of the Group’s and Parent Company’s financial position 
and earnings. The statutory Administration Report of the Group and 
the Parent Company provides a fair review of the development of 
the Group’s and the Parent Company’s operations, financial position 
and results of operations and describes material risks and uncer-
tainties facing the Parent Company and the Group.
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Auditor's Report
To the general meeting of the shareholders of Eastnine AB (publ), corp. id 556693-7404

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
of Eastnine AB (publ) for the year 2021, except for the corporate 
governance statement on pages 102-105. The annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts of the Company are included on pages 
64-95 and 102-105 in this document. 

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the parent com-
pany as of 31 December 2021 and its financial performance and 
cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual 
Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the group as of 31 
December 2021 and their financial performance and cash flow for 
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the 
Annual Accounts Act. Our opinions do not cover the corporate 
governance statement on pages 102-105. The statutory adminis-
tration report is consistent with the other parts of the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of share-
holders adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the par-
ent company and the statement of comprehensive income and 
statement of financial position for the group.

Our opinions in this report on the the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts are consistent with the content of the 
additional report that has been submitted to the parent compa-
ny’s Board of directors in accordance with the Audit Regulation 
(537/2014) Article 11. 

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing 
standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those stand-
ards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities sec-
tion. We are independent of the parent company and the group 
in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Swe-
den and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. This includes that, based 
on the best of our knowledge and belief, no prohibited services 
referred to in the Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have 
been provided to the audited Company or, where applicable, its 
parent company or its controlled companies within the EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current 
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of, and in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a sepa-
rate opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of investment properties and long-term 
securities holdings
See disclosures 1, 10 and 11 and accounting principles on pages 
74-77 in the annual account and consolidated accounts for 
detailed information and description of the matter.

Description of key audit matter
The group has unlisted investments in the form of investment 
properties, shares in associated companies and fund units that 
are measured at fair value, which is determined with reference 
to market information as well as unobservable input.

 The investments are valued based on models and assump-
tions not observable by third parties (“level 3” investments in 
accounting terms). The fact that sales transactions of similar 
investments are rare, makes it difficult to support the estimated 
fair values with reference to other transactions. 

Therefore, valuation of level 3 investments are inherently risky 
and subsequent transactions in such securities may have signifi-
cantly different outcomes compared to the previous valuations. 

As of December 31, 2021, assets classified as level 3 amount 
to EUR 592m, which corresponds to 91 per cent of the group’s 
total assets.

Response in the audit
We have assessed the group’s valuation principles in relation to 
the accounting framework. 

We have also assessed key controls over the valuation pro-
cess including assessment and approval of assumptions and 
methodologies used in model-based calculations, as well as 
the group’s review of valuations provided by external experts. 

As a part of our audit procedures, we have challanged the meth-
odology and assumptions used in the valuation of level 3 assets. 

We have assessed the methods of valuation models in com-
parison with industry practices and valuation guidelines. We 
have also involved KPMG specialists.

In addition, we have checked completeness and adequacy of 
the information disclosed in the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts.

Other Information than the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts 
This document also contains other information than the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1-63, 
100-101 and 106-123. The other information comprises also of 
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the remuneration report which we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts does not cover this other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion regarding this other 
information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and con-
solidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 
identified above and consider whether the information is mate-
rially inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our 
knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether 
the information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this informa-
tion, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are respon-
sible for the preparation of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts and that they give a fair presentation in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning 
the consolidated accounts, in accordance with IFRS as 
adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the assessment of the Company’s and the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, mat-
ters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is however 
not applied if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director 
intend to liquidate the Company, to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise pro-
fessional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
–  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.
– Obtain an understanding of the Company’s internal control 
relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control.
– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclo-
sures made by the Board of Directors and the Managing Director.
– Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and 
the Managing Director’s, use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclo-
sures in the annual accounts and consolidated accounts or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audi-
tor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause a 
Company and a group to cease to continue as a going concern.
– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.
– Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
accounts. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other mat-
ters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also 
inform of significant audit findings during our audit, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified. 

We must also provide the Board of Directors with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 
measures that have been taken to eliminate the threats or 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Direc-
tors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, 
including the most important assessed risks for material mis-
statement, and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in the auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes disclosure about the matter.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Auditor’s audit of the administration and the proposed appropriations of profit or loss 

Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts, we have also audited the administration of the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director of Eastnine AB 
(publ) for the year 2021 and the proposed appropriations of the 
Company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that 
the profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in 
the statutory administration report and that the members of 
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director be dis-
charged from liability for the financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 
section. We are independent of the parent company and the 
group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in 
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appro-
priations of the Company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a div-
idend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is 
justifiable considering the requirements which the Company’s 
and the group’s type of operations, size and risks place on the 
size of the parent company’s and the group’s equity, consolida-
tion requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Company’s 
organization and the administration of the Company’s affairs. 
This includes among other things continuous assessment of the 
Company’s and the group’s financial situation and ensuring that 
the Company’s organization is designed so that the accounting, 
management of assets and the company’s financial affairs oth-
erwise are controlled in a reassuring manner. 

The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing administra-
tion according to the Board of Directors’ guidelines and instruc-
tions and among other matters take measures that are necessary 
to fulfill the Company’s accounting in accordance with law and 
handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 
thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 
audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance 
whether any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing 
Director in any material respect:
– has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission 
which can give rise to liability to the Company, or

– in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies 
Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropria-
tions of the Company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion 
about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance 
whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect 
actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the Com-
pany, or that the proposed appropriations of the Company’s 
profit or loss are not in accordance with the Companies Act.

As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judg-
ment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. The examination of the administration and the proposed 
appropriations of the Company’s profit or loss is based primarily 
on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit procedures per-
formed are based on our professional judgment with starting 
point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus the 
examination on such actions, areas and relationships that are 
material for the operations and where deviations and violations 
would have particular importance for the Company’s situation. 
We examine and test decisions undertaken, support for deci-
sions, actions taken and other circumstances that are relevant to 
our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis for 
our opinion on the Board of Directors’ proposed appropriations 
of the Company’s profit or loss we examined the Board of Direc-
tors’ reasoned statement and a selection of supporting evidence 
in order to be able to assess whether the proposal is in accord-
ance with the Companies Act. 

The auditor’s examination of the Esef report

Opinion
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, we have also examined that the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director have prepared the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts in a format that enables uniform elec-
tronic reporting (the Esef report) pursuant to Chapter 16, Sec-
tion 4(a) of the Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528) for 
Eastnine AB (publ) for year 2021. 

Our examination and our opinion relate only to the statutory 
requirements. 

In our opinion, the Esef report #0td2Wr3eRK1slOQ= has 
been prepared in a format that, in all material respects, enables 
uniform electronic reporting.

Basis for opinion
We have performed the examination in accordance with FAR’s 
recommendation RevR 18 Examination of the Esef report. Our 
responsibility under this recommendation is described in more 
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Stockholm 31 March 2022
KPMG AB

Peter Dahllöf, Authorized Public Accountant

detail in the Auditors’ responsibility section. We are independ-
ent of Eastnine AB (publ) in accordance with professional ethics 
for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethi-
cal responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsi-
ble for the preparation of the Esef report in accordance with the 
Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities Market Act 
(2007:528), and for such internal control that the Board of Direc-
tors and the Managing Director determine is necessary to pre-
pare the Esef report without material misstatements, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance whether 
the Esef report is in all material respects prepared in a format 
that meets the requirements of Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the 
Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528), based on the proce-
dures performed. 

RevR 18 requires us to plan and execute procedures to achieve 
reasonable assurance that the Esef report is prepared in a format 
that meets these requirements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not 
a guarantee that an engagement carried out according to RevR 
18 and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the Esef report. 

The audit firm applies ISQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that 
Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and other 
Assurance and Related Services Engagements and accordingly 
maintains a comprehensive system of quality control, including 
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance 
with professional ethical requirements, professional standards 
and legal and regulatory requirements.

The examination involves obtaining evidence, through vari-
ous procedures, that the Esef report has been prepared in a for-
mat that enables uniform electronic reporting of the annual 
accounts and consolidated accounts. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement in the report, whether due to 

fraud or error. In carrying out this risk assessment, and in order 
to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
the auditor considers those elements of internal control that are 
relevant to the preparation of the Esef report by the Board of 
Directors and the Managing Director, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of those internal con-
trols. The examination also includes an evaluation of the appro-
priateness and reasonableness of the assumptions made by the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director. 

The procedures mainly include a technical validation of the 
Esef report, i.e. if the file containing the Esef report meets the 
technical specification set out in the Commission’s Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 and a reconciliation of the Esef report 
with the audited annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

Furthermore, the procedures also include an assessment of 
whether the Esef report has been marked with iXBRL which 
enables a fair and complete machine-readable version of the 
consolidated statement of financial performance, financial 
 position, changes in equity and cash flow.

The auditor’s examination of the corporate 
governance statement

The Board of Directors is responsible for that the corporate 
 governance statement on pages 102-105 has been prepared in 
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination of the corporate governance statement is 
conducted in accordance with FAŔ s auditing standard RevR 16 
The auditoŕ s examination of the corporate governance state-
ment. This means that our examination of the corporate govern-
ance statement is different and substantially less in scope than 
an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Swe-
den. We believe that the examination has provided us with suffi-
cient basis for our opinions. 

A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Disclo-
sures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second para-
graph points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 sec-
tion 31 the second paragraph the same law are consistent with 
the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts and are in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

KPMG AB, Box 382, 101 27, Stockholm, was appointed auditor of 
Eastnine AB by the general meeting of the shareholders on the 
15 May 2021. KPMG AB or auditors operating at KPMG AB have 
been the Company’s auditor since 2007.



Governance

Telia’s employees have access to flexible workplaces at the S7-2 building.
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The basis for the Board’s decision to broaden our 
approach to investment  
Five years ago, property investments were a rather small part of 
Eastnine’s total investment. Now it is by far the largest part and 
the aim is for investment to consist solely of directly-owned 
properties. Eastnine is the largest owner of office properties in 
Vilnius and one of the largest in Riga. We have set a high target for 
growth and a clear time framework for achieving it, while, at the 
same time, competition for and the price level of the top-quality 
office properties in the Baltics has increased. It is, of course, three 
separate markets but, taken as a whole, the offering of first-class 
offices is relatively small with a low volume of transactions. A 
broadening of types of property and the geographic area will lead 
to better spread of risks, both as regards tenants and the market. 
It felt a natural step to include logistics properties in first-class 
locations, which have quite a few similarities with management 
of equivalent office properties. Poland has advantages in the form 
of a considerably larger and more liquid property market with 
good yield potential. A broadening to logistics, which may now 
include Poland, increases our growth potential and provides a 
good yield. 

What are the main issues that the Board has worked 
with during 2021 and what will be in focus in 2022?
We have, of course, had a great focus on strategy for growth, 
acquisition and financing, as these are important for the Com-
pany’s profitability. Profitability also creates value for our share-
holders. We have also made sustainability a priority and spent 
considerable time discussing the provision of competence as 
well as the compensation and incentive structure with a view to 
making Eastnine an attractive employer with well-educated, 
competent and committed personnel. It is very probable that 
these will continue to be important issues during 2022. 

Can you tell us more about how the Board has 
worked with sustainability during the year?
For a couple of years, we have stepped up the attention given to 
sustainability on the Board’s agenda as it is a strategic issue for 
Eastnine. There have been ongoing discussions about various 
sustainability-related issues during the year and every quarter 
we carry out a major review of developments in this area. We are 
proud of the awards we have received, not least during 2021; we 
are in the top layer In a number of comparisons and surveys, 
both nationally and Internationally. Eastnine has an ambitious 

Statement by the Chairman of the Board Liselotte Hjorth

Increased need for analysis in  
current world situation

Liselotte Hjorth, Chairman of the Board.

Our strategy was broadened in 2021 by the addition of another property segment, logistics, and in 
early 2022, the Board decided to investigate Poland as a geographic investment area. The difficult 
geopolitical situation, after Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, has led to an increased need for analysis 
and greater flexibility in the work of the Board.

overall goal to achieve climate-neutral property operations by 
2030. After climate compensation, we have already achieved 
this goal in 2021. We are working with energy efficiency and 
strive for continuous development as a landlord and employer. 
We have a strong brand with increasing recognition, as shown 
by our annual customer survey.

How is the work of the Board affected by the marked 
deterioration in the geopolitical situation?
The increased uncertainty and fast pace of events, after Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine, has led to a greater need for analysis and 
discussion as well as demanding more flexibility in both pro-
cesses and decisions.
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Corporate Governance Report

Applicable regulatory frameworks  
Corporate governance at Eastnine is based on both external and 
internal rules. The external rules are the Companies Act, Nasdaq 
Stockholm’s Rules for Issuers, the Swedish Code of Corporate 
Governance (”the Code”), as well as other applicable Swedish and 
foreign legislation and provisions. The Company’s internal rules 
include the articles of association, rules and guidelines for corpo-
rate governance, the board’s rules of procedures, instructions to 
the CEO and the policy documents adopted by the Company. The 
Company follows the code.

The purpose and nature of the Company
Eastnine is a Swedish public limited company, established and 
listed in 2007, which invests in modern and sustainable office and 
logistics properties in first-class locations in the Baltics. Eastnine’s 
headquarters is located in Stockholm. Eastnine’s clients comprise 
to a considerable degree large and stable Nordic tenants with inter-
national operations.

The Company’s efforts to streamline its investment portfolio and 
focus investment on directly-owned real estate has progressed 
well. At the end of 2021, only two non-real-estate investments 
remained: holdings in East Capital Baltic Property Fund II (the 
fund) and holdings in the Russian fashion chain, Melon Fashion 
Group. In 2021, one of four properties in the fund was divested and 
the corresponding shares redeemed. At the end of 2021, the sale of 
the remaining three properties was agreed on, and Eastnine recov-
ered EUR 14.9m of total of EUR 19.0m in the first quarter of 2022, the 
remainder is be repaid later in 2022.  MFG was planned to have been 
publicly listed before the summer of 2022, at which point all or part 
of Eastnine’s investment could have been liquidated. The Russian 
invasion of Ukraine and the follow-on effects of this has resulted in 
the public listing being postponed.

The share and shareholders
Eastnine’s share capital amounted at year-end to EUR 3,660k 
(3,660). The number of ordinary shares issued amounted to 
22,370,261, corresponding to a quotient value of EUR 0.1636 per 
share. All shares, except repurchased shares in treasury, confer 
one vote and an equal share of the Company’s assets and profits. 
At the end of 2021, Peter Elam Håkansson held, directly and indi-
rectly, 26.6 per cent of the total number of issued shares; Bonnier 
Fastigheter held 13.7 per cent while Arbona AB held 10.0 per cent. 
There are no other owners holding 10.0 per cent or more of the 
shares in the Company.

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting is the Company’s highest deci-
sion-making body and is where the shareholders can exercise their 
influence. The Annual General Meeting shall be held within six 
months after the end of the financial year. All shareholders who are 
registered in the shareholders’ register and who have announced 
their attendance in time are entitled to attend the Annual General 
Meeting. Shareholders can vote according to the total number of 

shares that they own and may be accompanied by a maximum of 
two assistants. Shareholders may choose to be represented by a 
proxy. Shareholders are entitled to have issues discussed at the 
meeting provided that these have been properly notified to the 
Company in ample time before the publication of the notice of the 
Annual General Meeting. Notice of the AGM is distributed by the 
Board in accordance with the Companies Act. Notice of the AGM, 
or alternatively any extraordinary general meeting where the arti-
cles of association will be discussed, is to be distributed at the earli-
est six weeks in advance, and at the latest four weeks in advance. 
Notice of any other extraordinary general meetings is to be distrib-
uted at the earliest six weeks in advance and at the latest two weeks 
in advance. Notice of the AGM is to be published in the Swedish 
Official Gazette and on the Company’s web site. At the time of 
notice, information about the published notice will also be adver-
tised in Svenska Dagbladet. The Annual General Meeting is an 
important channel for communicating with shareholders. Barring 
any circumstances preventing this, the Board and the Company’s 
management attend the general meeting to answer questions 
from shareholders. The Annual General Meeting considers, inter 
alia, questions relating to:
• election of members and Chairman of the Board
• when applicable, election of the auditor
• dividends
• adoption of the income statement and balance sheet
• discharge from liability of the members of the Board and the CEO

The Annual General Meeting 2021
The Annual General Meeting for 2021 was held on 5 May through 
postal voting pursuant to sections 20 and 22 of the Act 
(2020:198) on Temporary Exceptions to Facilitate the Execution 
of General Meetings in Companies and Associations. 42 share-
holders were represented at the Annual General Meeting, corre-
sponding to 62 per cent of the shares in the Company (excluding 
treasury shares). The AGM 2021 approved, inter alia:
• adoption of the financial statements of the 2020 financial year
• discharge from liability of the Board and executive management
• a dividend of SEK 3.00 per share, corresponding to 
        SEK 66,447,183, paid out in quarterly payments of SEK 0.75   

per share
• the number of Board members
• election of Board members and Chairman of the Board
• remuneration to the Board
• election of the auditor
• mandate of the Board to decide on the acquisition and   

transfer of shares in treasury, in accordance with the proposal 
presented to the AGM

• the introduction of a long-term incentive programme, LTIP 2021
• amendment to the Articles of Association 
All documents from the Annual General Meeting presented at 
the meeting, along with the minutes - are available on www.
eastnine.com.

For Eastnine AB (publ) (“the Company”) corporate governance involves the way in which the 
Company works and is organised for the purposes of safeguarding all the shareholders’ inte-
rests and achieving the Company’s objectives.
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The Annual General Meeting 2022
The Annual General Meeting for Eastnine AB will take place on 
Tuesday, 26 April 2022 at 15.00 at IVA, the Royal Swedish Acad-
emy of Engineering Sciences, on Grev Turegatan 16 in Stockholm. 
For more information, refer to pg. 121. The complete notice is 
available on www.eastnine.com.

The Nomination Committee
The task of the nomination committee is to evaluate the board 
and its work before the Annual General Meeting, to prepare and 
present proposals to the meeting regarding the chairman of the 
meeting, chairman of the board and board members, and to pro- 
pose an auditor where appropriate. The committee also proposes 
board remuneration, any remuneration to sub-committees and 
fees to the Company’s auditor, as well as proposing a process to 
appoint a nomination committee for the next AGM. All share-
holders have the opportunity to present suggestions with the 
Nomination Committee.

Work in the Nomination Committee during 2021/2022
According to the decision of the AGM on 15 May 2017, Eastnine shall 
have a nomination committee consisting of at least three and no 
more than four members, a maximum of three of whom shall be 
appointed by the three largest shareholders (or ownership groups) 
in the Company who wish to appoint a representative. The final 
member is appointed by the Company’s Chairman of the Board. 
Before the 2022 Annual General Meeting, the Nomination Commit-
tee has consisted of:
• Liselotte Hjorth, as the chairman of Eastnine
• Karine Hirn, as the representative of Peter Elam Håkansson 

and companies (the chairman of the Nomination Committee)
• Erik Haegerstrand, as the representative of Bonnier Fastig-

heter Invest
• Martin Zetterström, as the representative of Arbona
The composition of the nomination committee was announced 
in a press release and on the Company’s website on 19 October 
2021. As of 4 March 2022, the nomination committee held three 
recorded meetings ahead of the 2022 AGM. No remuneration has 
been paid to the members of the nomination committee. The 
shareholders have been given the opportunity to present sugges-
tions to the committee. The committee’s proposals to the Annual 
General Meeting will appear in the notice to the Annual General 
Meeting and will be found on www.eastnine.com prior to the 
Annual General Meeting.

External auditors
At the Annual General Meeting 2021, the registered public 
accounting firm KPMG was appointed, with Peter Dahllöf (born 
1972) as the Company’s external auditor in charge, for the period 
up until the end of the Annual General Meeting 2022. Peter Dahl-
löf is an Authorized Public Accountant and partner in KPMG, and 
is also active in KPMG’s international real estate network. Peter 
has been the auditor in charge for Eastnine AB since 2018. Peter 
Dahllöf’s other audit engagements include: Annehem, Areim, 
Humlegården, Intea, K2A and Midstar Hotels.

Auditor fees
The company’s auditors have received fees for auditing and other 
prescribed review, as well as for advice in respect to observations 
made during auditing and review. For the 2021 financial year, the 
fees paid to KPMG totalled EUR 181k.

Communication with the company’s auditors
The Board maintains a regular contact with the auditors. The 
auditors attend those board meetings in which the annual 

reports are considered, and normally also when the Board will 
consider interim reports which have been reviewed by the audi-
tors. The auditors then present their observations from the audit 
of the year-end report and the January-September interim 
report, and also present their assessment of the Company’s 
internal control. The Board also meets the auditor once per year, 
without management present, at which time the auditor reports 
its observations to the Board.

The board of Eastnine 
The composition of the board
According to the articles of association the board shall consist of 
three to six members without deputies. Board members are 
elected by the Annual General Meeting for a period of one year. At 
the 2021 Annual General Meeting, Board members Liselotte 
Hjorth, Christian Hermelin, Peter Elam Håkansson, Ylva Sarby 
Westman and Peter Wågström were re-elected. Liselotte Hjorth 
was re-elected President of the Board. The members of the Board 
of Directors have, according to the nomination committee, been 
appointed due to their broad experience in real estate and finance, 
as well as their knowledge of various international markets and 
the conditions thereof.

The board’s independence
According to applicable regulations, Liselotte Hjorth, Peter Wåg-
ström, Christian Hermelin and Ylva Sarby Westman are consid-
ered independent in relation to the Company and its manage-
ment, as well as in relation to the Company’s major shareholders. 
Peter Elam Håkansson is considered independent in relation to 
the Company and its executive management, but not considered 
independent in relation to major shareholders as he is closely 
related to East Capital, which was a major shareholder in 2021 as 
defined in the Code. For more information, refer to pg. 106.

The board’s responsibility and duties
The Board holds the overarching responsibility for the Compa-
ny’s strategy, internal control, risk management and long-term 
business focus. The Board is also responsible for other material 
concerns which, based on Eastnine’s size and focus, is of extraor-
dinary financial, legal or general character. The Board is, among 
others, responsible for the following points:
• Determining business plans, key policies, short and long term 

goals for Eastnine, and continually ensuring that they are fol-
lowed, updated and revised.

• Deciding on overall organisational structure and ensure that 
the organisation is laid out in a satisfactory manner.

• Appointing and, if necessary, dismissing the CEO, as well as 
continually evaluating the CEO’s performance in relation to 
the short- and long-term goals that have been set.

• Recommending the principles for remuneration of the Compa-
ny’s management to the Annual General Meeting, and deter-
mining the fixed and variable compensation to the manage-
ment.

• Regularly monitor and evaluate Eastnine’s financial position 
and development, as well as deciding on questions relating to 
Eastnine’s capital structure, including presenting proposals to 
the AGM in regards to shareholder dividends.

• Approving acquisitions and divestments of holdings as well as 
major additional investment.

• Approving all financial reports before they are released. 

The work of the board is governed by the rules of procedures that 
have been adopted. The chairman of the board, Liselotte Hjorth, 
leads the work of the Board and maintains ongoing contact with 
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the CEO and CFO for the purpose of monitoring the Company’s 
activities. The Board has developed and approved the work 
instruction for the CEO as well as policy documents. The Compa-
ny’s CEO and CFO attended all board meetings in 2021 in order to 
report on their areas of responsibility. The Board shall meet for at 
least five ordinary meetings per year. Further meetings are held 
as necessary in order to discuss and decide on e.g. investment and 
financial recommendations, the budget and other strategic 
issues.

Board meetings and key topics
In 2021, 15 board meetings were held, of which seven were ordi-
nary meetings, three extraordinary meetings, one statutory 
meeting and four per capsulam meetings. Areas of particular 
focus during the year have included:
• Investment recommendations and divestments of non-essen-

tial holdings.
• Reporting from the executive management regarding operat-

ing activities.
• Financial reports.
• Financing.
• Valuations.
• Sustainability issues.
• Effects of the coronavirus pandemic on operations.
• Strategic issues as well as updates to the existing business plan 

with financial, operational and sustainability targets.
• Long-term incentive programmes, the conditions of goal ful-

filment, and outcomes.
• Internal risk and control issues.

The Board’s governance of sustainability efforts 
The Board holds the overarching responsibility for the govern-
ance of the Company’s sustainability efforts. Monitoring of sus-
tainability outcomes and target achievement is an integrated 
part of the process of strategic monitoring. The Company’s Head 
of Sustainability provides the Board with an update at least once 
quarterly, and is in direct dialogue with the Chairman. In addi-
tion, the Board is offered at least one seminar annually relating to 
a specific area of sustainability. In 2021, this seminar was 
devoted to a discussion of growing sustainability trends with a 
particular focus on social sustainability. When properties are 
acquired, climate risks are reviewed on the basis of the ESG due 
diligence report, which includes physical climate risks for the rel-
evant geographic focus area and adjustment risks related to 
energy performance, emissions and certification status.

Evaluation of the Board
The work of the Board is annually evaluated. Evaluations are 
used to improve the Board’s work and as a basis for the nomina-
tion committee’s evaluation of the composition of the Board. In 
the autumn of 2021, the Board’s work was evaluated by the 
Chairman of the Board, the members of the Board, the executive 
management of the Company as well as the nomination com-
mittee. The evaluation was carried out with the aid of an exter-
nal evaluation tool as well as through individual meetings with 
the nomination committee. The aim was to gather information 
to provide a basis for the nomination committee’s proposals for 
the 2022 AGM as well as to gather ideas for the improvement of 
the effectiveness of the Board’s efforts. An equivalent evaluation 
took place in the autumn of 2020.

Audit committee
The duties of the audit committee is performed by the Board as a 
whole. The Board considers the financial statements as well as 

issues relating to audits and valuation. The Company’s author-
ised public accountant from KPMG provided a general review of 
the year-end report 2020 as well as the January - September 2021 
interim report to the Board during the year. An equivalent 
review of the 2021 year-end report took place during the first 
quarter of 2022.

The management of Eastnine
The management team consists of the CEO and CFO. The manage-
ment is responsible for ensuring that the ongoing administration 
of operating activities is performed in line with the Board’s guide-
lines and directions. Management is responsible for the internal 
controls that are necessary for the Board to supervise investment 
and property management activities. Management regularly 
reports to the board on these issues. The management team has 
weekly meetings where transactions, organisation, communica-
tion and results are discussed. Weekly meetings also take place 
between the management team and country managers. 

CEO
The CEO is responsible for the day-to-day activities of the Com-
pany according to the instructions from the Board and other 
guidelines and policy documents. Together with the Chairman 
of the Board, the CEO prepares the agenda for board meetings 
and is responsible for the preparation of such data and informa-
tion as is necessary for the Board’s decision-making. In addition, 
the CEO ensures that the Board is continually informed by the 
internal management about Eastnine’s development and condi-
tions in its markets, so that the Board can make well-informed 
decisions.

The Company’s CEO, Kestutis Sasnauskas, has one board 
appointments outside of the Company: as a Board member of 
Melon Fashion Group. The CEO holds, directly and indirectly, 
856,565 shares in Eastnine, corresponding to 3.8 per cent of the 
number of shares issued in the Company. For more information 
about the CEO, please refer to pg. 108.

Remuneration
Remuneration to board members
On 5 May 2021 the Annual General Meeting decided that remuner-
ation to the Chairman of the Board should amount to SEK 800,000 
for the period up until the 2022 Annual General Meeting. Other 
board members should receive an annual remuneration of SEK 
400,000 each for the same period.

Remuneration to management
During the year, remuneration to the management team con-
sisted of fixed and variable salary as well as pension and insur-
ance benefits. The board decides on a discretionary basis on 
whether variable salary shall be paid to management. The deci-
sion is based on internal evaluation criteria, including an evalu-
ation of e.g. activity-based strategic and operational goals. The 
targets are set and evaluated yearly by the board. Variable com-
pensation for the CEO and CFO may at most amount to 50 per 
cent of fixed compensation. The Board has the right to diverge 
from guidelines decided on by the AGM, if there are particular 
reasons to do so in isolated cases. The Company’s management 
have individual premium based pension plans, of which the 
Company pays premiums corresponding to 4.5 per cent of the 
amount of fixed salary up to 7.5 income base amounts and pre-
miums of 30 per cent of the parts of the fixed salary exceeding 
7.5 income base amounts. In the beginning of 2021, the CEO was 
granted variable compensation corresponding to 42 per cent of 
fixed annual compensation, and the CFO to 50 per cent of fixed 
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annual compensation, respectively, for the 2020 financial year. 
In the beginning of 2022, the Board granted variable compensa-
tion to both the CEO and the CFO of 42 per cent of fixed annual 
compensation for the 2021 financial year. For more information 
about remuneration to management, see note 5 on pgs. 79-81.

Remuneration committee
The Board has not appointed a formal remuneration committee 
during the year, but a smaller group, consisting of Liselotte 
Hjorth, Peter Elam Håkansson and Ylva Sarby Westman, has set 
aside a specific time to prepare remuneration questions within 
the Company for the Board. For 2022, the Board has decided to 
establish a formal remuneration committee.

Share-related incentive programmes
Eastnine has two long-term incentive programmes: LTIP 2020 
and LTIP 2021. In addition, Eastnine had a long-term incentive 
programme, LTIP 2018, which ended in 2021. The purpose of 
these programmes is to boost shareholder value and the Compa-
ny’s long-term value creation, by creating the conditions 
required to retain and recruit competent staff, increase motiva-
tion among the participants, and encourage employees’ share-
holding in the Company.

LTIP 2018
The AGM on 24 April 2018 approved the Board’s proposal to 
introduce a long-term incentive programme (LTIP 2018), open 
to all staff permanently employed by the Company. The pro-
gramme ended in November 2021 and the Board decided to 
award the full number of shares in the programme, as all condi-
tions had been met. 

LTIP 2020
The AGM 2020 approved the Board’s proposal to introduce a long-
term incentive programme (LTIP 2020). The incentive pro-
gramme is divided in three categories: Category A (CEO), Cate-
gory B (CFO, other management and key staff) and Category C 
(other employees). Participation required participants to hold 
shares in the Company equivalent in value to one twelfth of the 
participant’s annual, fixed gross salary, by 1 April 2020. Each par-
ticipant is thereafter granted rights to performance shares, which 
confer to the participant the right to acquire shares in the Com-
pany, provided that certain performance preconditions are ful-
filled. Performance shares would be awarded to the employees 
within 45 days of publication of the interim report for the January 
- June 2023. In total, 16 employees are part of the programme.

LTIP 2021
The AGM 2021 approved the Board’s proposal to introduce a long-
term incentive programme (LTIP 2021). The incentive programme 
is divided in three categories: Category A (CEO), Category B (CFO, 
other management and key staff) and Category C (other employ-
ees). Participation required participants to hold shares in the 
Company equivalent in value to one twelfth of the participant’s 
annual, fixed gross salary, by 1 April 2021. Each participant is 
thereafter granted rights to performance shares, which confer to 
the participant the right to acquire shares in the Company, pro-
vided that certain performance preconditions are fulfilled. Per-
formance shares would be awarded to the employees within 45 
days of publication of the interim report for the January - June 
2024. In total, 17 employees are part of the programme.

Conditions of the long-term incentive programmes
For details as to the terms and performance conditions that are to 

be met in order to receive performance shares in accordance with 
each of these incentive programmes, please visit our web site on 
www.eastnine.com.

Risk management and internal control
Risk management
Through its operations, Eastnine is exposed to different kinds of 
risks. Most of Eastnine’s business is exposed to directly-owned 
real estate investments in the Baltics, with a considerable por-
tion of tenants being Nordic companies, and all bank tenants 
being Nordic. The investment strategy, i.e. to make long-term 
investments in modern and sustainable office and logistics 
properties in first-rate locations in the Baltics, means that East-
nine is chiefly exposed to risks relating to interest rates and 
credit risk, as well as rent level and vacancy risks. These risks are 
reflected in value changes. The Company’s other holding, which 
are to be divested, comprise a minority of the assets. The holding 
in MFG, however, does result in an exposure to Russia. Public 
listing of MFG was planned to take place before the summer of 
2022. This offering has had to be delayed as a consequence of the 
Russian invasion of Ukraine.

Risk management and follow-up is an important and inte-
grated part of Eastnine’s operations. The Company uses a num-
ber of different tools to continually identify, evaluate and limit 
risks. Risk management is handled by the Company’s manage-
ment in accordance with relevant policies that have been estab-
lished by the Board. Financial risks are primarily handled by the 
finance function in accordance with the Company’s financial 
policy. More information on the Company’s risk management 
can be found on pgs. 56-61 and in note 30 on pgs. 90-91.

Internal control
Internal control at Eastnine is designed to manage risks associ-
ated with financial reporting and property management activi-
ties. It includes ensuring that the buying and selling of holdings 
is reliably reported, that holdings and properties are valued cor-
rectly and that information is conveyed to the market effectively 
and correctly. 
 The Board is responsible for monitoring investment and prop-
erty management activities and ensuring, by means of defined 
reporting routines and relevant policies, that it has access to the 
necessary information. The Board evaluates the suitability of all 
policies each year, and any change of policy are to be approved by 
the Board. The Board maintains an effective control environment 
for investment activities and financial reporting by means of a 
clear delegation of responsibilities and authority to management 
and employees. The Board discusses on a continual basis issues 
relating to accounting, valuations and financial reporting. The 
Company’s management continually monitors that policies, 
instructions and administrative agreements are followed.

Each year, the Board of Eastnine assesses whether the Company 
is in need of an internal auditing function, an independent investi-
gative function that performs ongoing review and presents reports 
to the board and management with recommendations for improve-
ments to internal control of the Company’s activities, such as out-
sourced service functions and internal procedures, in order to 
maintain good governance and compliance with the Company’s 
policies. In 2021, the board decided that, because of its limited size 
and its adequate competencies in evaluating service functions and 
internal activities itself, the Company did not need an internal 
auditing function. Eastnine acts in accordance with generally 
accepted practice on the stock market and regularly follows-up that 
the Company is in compliance with the listing agreement.
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Board of Directors

Liselotte Hjorth
Chairman of the Board

Christian Hermelin
Member of the Board

Peter Elam Håkansson
Member of the Board

Born 1957 1964 1962

Education BSc. Economics, Lund  
University.

BSc. Business Administra-
tion from Umeå University. 

Masters of Business Administration, 
Stockholm School of Economics.     
Studied at EDHEC in Lille.

Selected work 
experience

Former deputy CEO and 
Group Credit Officer and 
Global Head of Commer-
cial Real Estate, SEB

Former CEO at Fabege and 
various roles in Storheden, 
Wihlborgs and Nacka 
Strand Förvaltning.

Founder of, Chairman and former 
investment manager at East Capital. 
Former Nordic area Equity Manager 
and Global Chief Analyst for Enskilda 
Securities.

Board appointments 
(14 February 2022)

Chairman, White arkitek-
ter, and Brunswick Real 
Estate Captital Advisory; 
Board member of Rikshem 
(publ) and Fastighetsbola-
get Emilshus (publ).

Board member in Prior & 
Nilsson Fond- och kapital-
förvaltning, and Doloradix.

Chairman in East Capital Holding and 
Board appointments within the East 
Capital group. Chairman of the founda-
tion Swedish Music Hall of Fame. Board 
member in Agro Region Stockholm Hol-
ding, Bonnier Business Press, Atlantic 
Grupa in Croatia, Cicero Holding AB, 
LaSpa Group in Estonia and the Royal 
Swedish Academy of Engineering Sci-
ences (IVA), Finance section.

Share holdings
(23 March 2022)

14,000, incl. related par-
ties and companies

9,000, incl. related parties 
and companies

5,954,965, incl. related parties and 
companies

Appointed in 2014, chairman since 2018 2020 2014

Independent in rela-
tion to the Company 
and management

Yes Yes Yes

Independent in 
relation to major 
shareholders

Yes Yes No

Annual remunera-
tion, SEK thousands

800 400 400

Attendance at Board 
Meetings 2021, (15)

15 15 15
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Peter Wågström
Member of the Board

Ylva Sarby Westman
Member of the Board

Born 1964 1973

Education Master of Engineering, Royal 
Institute of Technology in 
Stockholm.

Master of Engineering, Royal Insti-
tute of Technology in Stockholm.

Selected work 
experience

Interim CEO at New Real Estate 
Sweden. Former CEO and group 
chief executive at NCC; head of 
business area at NCC Property 
Development and NCC Housing. 

Deputy CEO of Castellum since 2021, 
before that Deputy CEO and CFO of 
Kungsleden. Ylva held various posi-
tions at NCC during 1995–2007 as 
Property Development Manager in 
Stockholm and was Regional Mana-
ger Stockholm and Deputy CEO of 
Newsec Investment in 2008.

Board appointments 
(14 February 2022)

Chairman of the Board in 
Arlanda Stad Group, Assentio, 
Brunkeberg Systems and New 
Real Estate Sweden. Board 
member in Niam, Tredje AP-
fonden (the Third Pension 
Insurance Fund) and their own 
company, Arrecta.

Board Member of Ikano Bostad.

Share holdings
(23 March 2022)

10,000, incl. related parties 
and companies

2,638, incl. related parties and 
companies

Appointed in 2018 2020

Independent in rela-
tion to the Company 
and management

Yes Yes

Independent in 
relation to major 
shareholders

Yes Yes

Annual remunera-
tion, SEK thousands

400 400

Attendance at Board 
Meetings 2021, (15)

15 15
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Management

Kestutis Sasnauskas
CEO since 2017

Britt-Marie Nyman
Deputy CEO and CFO since  
2019

Born 1973 1965

Education Studies in Economics at the 
Stockholm School of Econo-
mics, Vilnius University and 
Gotland University.

Masters of Business Adminis-
tration, Umeå University.

Selected work 
experience

Former Chief Investment 
 Officer Eastnine. Partner, co-
founder and head of private 
equity and real estate, East 
Capital.

Former Head of Capital 
 Markets at Catella Corporate 
Finance; deputy CEO, Head  
of Finance and Investor Rela-
tions at Klövern; and Head  
of Communications and IR  
at Fastighets AB Tornet.

Board appointments
(14 February 2022)

Board member in Melon 
Fashion Group.

None

Share holdings
(23 March 2022)

856,545 18,000, incl. related parties 
and companies
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Kestutis Sasnauskas
CEO since 2017

Britt-Marie Nyman
Deputy CEO and CFO since  
2019

Born 1973 1965

Education Studies in Economics at the 
Stockholm School of Econo-
mics, Vilnius University and 
Gotland University.

Masters of Business Adminis-
tration, Umeå University.

Selected work 
experience

Former Chief Investment 
 Officer Eastnine. Partner, co-
founder and head of private 
equity and real estate, East 
Capital.

Former Head of Capital 
 Markets at Catella Corporate 
Finance; deputy CEO, Head  
of Finance and Investor Rela-
tions at Klövern; and Head  
of Communications and IR  
at Fastighets AB Tornet.

Board appointments
(14 February 2022)

Board member in Melon 
Fashion Group.

None

Share holdings
(23 March 2022)

856,545 18,000, incl. related parties 
and companies

Julius Niedvaras
Country Manager, Lithuania   
since 2018

Saule Zabulionyte 
Country Manager, Latvia 
since 2019

Born 1978 1976

Education 
 

Master of Business Adminis-
tration and Management at 
Vilnius University, MSc. in 
technology and finance at the 
Pforzhaim Hochschule für 
Gestaltung.

Professional qualification, 
FCCA from the Association of 
Chartered-Certified Accoun-
tants; BSc. in Economics at 
Vilnius University.

Selected work 
experience

Former country manager for 
East Capital Real Estate in 
 Lithuania, Head of SEB Real 
Estate.

Former CEO of the Acropolis 
Group, in Lithuania and Head 
of Auditing at PwC Russia.

Board appointments
(14 February 2022)

None None

Share holdings
(23 March 2022)

10,665, incl. related parties 
and companies

1,699

Country managers
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Eastnine’s sustainability reporting is prepared in accordance with the GRI Standards, using the Core 
option and with regards to the Construction & Real Estate Sector Supplement, CRESSE. In addition to 
the sustainability notes on pgs. 111-116 , the description of Eastnine’s sustainability efforts is integrated 
into the company’s annual accounts. The GRI index contains references to where in the annual accounts 
or the sustainability notes certain information may be found. Those cases where requirements accord-
ing to the GRI framework have not been met are presented in the GRI index on pgs. 119-120.

GENERAL INFORMATION
   ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE

102-8  Information about employees and other workers

2021

Total Eastnine Sweden Lithuania Latvia 2020 2019 2018

Number of employees 23 9 9 5 22 19 15

of which, women 15 4 7 4 14 11 7
- full-time 15 4 7 4 14 11 7
- part-time 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- temporary staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
of which, men 8 5 2 1 8 8 8
- full-time 8 5 2 1 8 8 7
- part-time 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
- temporary staff 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

102-11  Precautionary principle or approach

Eastnine’s sustainability efforts are based on the precautionary princi-
ple, meaning that if there is a risk that potentially serious damage to the 
environment may occur, a lack of scientific evidence should not be con-
sidered as a reason not to take this concern into account. In this case, 
measures must be taken to avoid or mitigate the risk. Eastnine’s sustaina-
bility efforts are governed by the following policies:  Code of Conduct,

Environmental Policy, IT Security Policy & Privacy Guidelines, Equal 
Treatment Policy, Whistleblower Policy, Anti-Corruption Policy and 
Code of Conduct for Suppliers. Eastnine conducts its operations in 
compliance with all applicable local and international laws and regu-
lations, and conducts environmental risk assessment as a part of the 
due diligence process at acquisitions. Read more about Eastnine’s 
risk management on pgs. 56-61.

Sustainability notes

   STAKEHOLDERS

102-40  List of stakeholder groups
102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders
102 43 Approach to stakeholder engagement
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised

Eastnine strives toward creating effective routines for continual dia-
logue with stakeholders in order to ensure that the company stays 

focused on the questions that are deemed critical to our stakehold-
ers. The table below presents the groups that we identify as major 
stakeholders with respect to Eastnine’s business operations. It also 
gives examples of main channels for communication with our stake-
holders and issues revealed as important in the dialogue with these 
groups.  

Group Channels Key sustainability topics
Tenants Customer meetings, continual dialogue regard-

ing property management, customer satisfac-
tion surveys

Office premises with good services and working environment, 
reduced environmental impact, business ethics

Staff Workshops and seminars, employee surveys, 
performance reviews

Professional development, good conditions of employment, 
 diversity, good working environment, business ethics and reduced 
environmental impact

Investors Annual General Meeting, interim and annual 
reports, press releases, conference calls, 
 seminars, investor meetings

Business ethics and anti-corruption measures, energy efficiency, 
reduced environmental impact, customer and employee satis-
faction, sustainable supply chain

Society Dialogue with stakeholder and industry organi-
sations, networking meet-ups, conferences

Energy efficiency, reduced environmental impact, business ethics 
and anti-corruption, sustainable supply chain

Suppliers Supplier meetings, contract tenders, orders Good business ethics in purchasing processes
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Effect / Boundaries

Eastnine's material topics GRI Standards topics Supply chain Business Tenants Pages
Business ethics and anti- 
corruption measures

Anti-corruption • • • 24-25, 112
Customer satisfaction Customer health and safety • • 26, 116
Employee satisfaction Staff training and education • 115
Equality of opportunity and 
non-discrimination

Diversity and equal opportunity,  
non-discrimination • 24-25, 116

Energy efficiency Energy • • 22-23, 112
Carbon dioxide emissions Emissions • • • 22-23, 114
Waste management Waste • • • 22-23, 115
Material usage - • • 22-23
Sustainable supply chain Supplier reviews based on social and 

 environmental requirements • • 24-25, 115

102-54   Claims of reporting in accordance with the  
GRI Standards

102-56  External assurance

Eastnine’s sustainability report is prepared in accordance with GRI 
Standards, level Core option with supplement indications for the con-

struction and real estate industry (CRESSE). Deviations from GRI 
Standards requirements are provided in the GRI index and sustaina-
bility notes. This report presents Eastnine’s communication on pro-
gress in line with the UN Global Compact guidelines. This report has 
not been externally assured.

MATERIAL TOPICS DISCLOSURES
   ANTI-CORRUPTION

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / Eva-
luation of the management approach

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption 
policies  and procedures

205-3 Confirmed cases of corruption and actions taken

There is widespread corruption in the construction and real estate 
industry. Eastnine has zero tolerance of corruption and the goal of the 
anti-corruption efforts is to eliminate the risk of corruption in the 
business. Eastnine’s General Counsel is responsible for leading the 
efforts against corruption. The Company has a whisteblower function 
to facilitate employees and others to report confirmed or suspected 
cases of corruption. Suspicions of corruption may result in discipli-
nary actions, termination and/or reports being made to the police.

The anti-corruption efforts within the company is based on Eastnine’s 
Code of Conduct for employees and for suppliers, and the Company’s Anti-
Corruption Policy. At least once per year, an anti-corruption training ses-
sion is conducted for all employees. Continual follow-up monitors whether 
the policies and guidelines are followed. Whether further measures beyond 
regular follow-up and staff training are needed is to be evaluated continu-
ally. No suspicions or incidents of corruption were reported in 2021. 

   REPORTING PRACTICE

102-46  Defining report content and topic boundaries
102-47  List of material topics

Eastnine communicates continuously with its key stakeholders in 
order to identify their expectations on Eastnine’s activities and in 
order to deliver in line with these. Dialogue, as well as analysis of 
sector-specific practices, complements the initial materiality analy-
sis which was conducted in 2018 to map the most important sus-
tainability aspects of Eastnine’s activities. The views of employees, 
the Board of Directors and investors were collected during several 
sustainability workshops and surveys in the same year. Tenant input 
was based on issues raised by tenants in ongoing dialogue and 
compiled by our property managers.

The supporting analysis included a review of relevant industry 
standards, reporting frameworks, peer practices as well as guid-
ance and recommendations such as the report “UNEP Sustainability 
Metrics: Translation and Impact on Property Investment and Man-
agement”. The result of this analysis, and the identification of priori-
tised sustainability questions, have since been validated by East-
nine’s management.
 In 2021, a materiality analysis was evaluated, among other things 
with contributions from customer surveys in all properties under 
direct management. The conclusion of this evaluation was that all 
sustainability issues that were previously identified are still mate-
rial. The table below provides a list of material issues, associated 
GRI Standards topics and topic boundaries with indications of 
where the effects occur in the value chain. 

   ENERGY

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary/ 
The management approach and its components/ 
Evaluation of the management approach

302-1  Energy consumption within the organization
CRE1 Building energy intensity

Energy efficiency and  use of renewable energy are important topics 
for Eastnine. Properties and the construction sector account for 
around 30 per cent of energy consumption in the society. Lower 
energy consumption contributes to reduced costs for tenants and 
lower emissions. Furthermore, low energy consumption is a prerequi-
site for sustainability certification with a high ranking and potential 
green financing. The report covers energy consumption in all proper-
ties in the portfolio owned by the Company except for UNIQ and 
Uptown Park. Energy consumption includes electricity, district heat-
ing and use of natural gas or any other type of fuel for local heating. 
Consumption is reported at two levels: for the whole investment 
portfolio and for directly-managed properties where there is possible 
to separate energy consumption into property and tenant consump-
tion. Electricity consumption in directly-managed properties is subdi-
vided into property electricity and tenant electricity use. Consump-
tion data for cooling cannot be separated from electricity and heating 
consumption and is therefore not reported separately. Energy inten-
sity is calculated as total energy consumption, including electricity, 
heating, cooling and fuel usage, divided by the gross floor area in 
sq.m.
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 Eastnine’s energy efficiency efforts are primarily driven by the envi-
ronmental policy and the strategic goals. One of these goals is to 
reduce the energy consumption per sq.m. in directly-managed proper-
ties by 25 per cent up until 2025, corresponding to around 100 kWh per 
sq.m. (this measure excludes tenant electricity consumption). This goal 
is primarily achieved through the systematic efforts to obtain sustaina-
bility certificates for development projects and existing properties. Tar-
geted environmental certifications are at least LEED Gold or BREEAM 
Excellent. In the case of large new construction projects, the internal 
requirement is to achieve energy intensity of around 50 kWh/sq.m.  In 
order to ensure that all certification efforts are carried out with a focus 
on energy efficiency improvements, a score of 80 per cent within the 
energy category is to be achieved within all applied sustainability certi-
fication frameworks. In 2021, an audit has been performed at Valde-
mara Centrs, with a view to identify opportunities to improve energy 
intensity during ongoing renovation. 
 The total energy consumption increased by 20 per cent due to new 
acquisitions, corresponding to 28 per cent increase in the gross floor 
area. Energy consumption in a comparable portfolio decreased by 5 
per cent after degree day correction. It has not been possible to adjust 
for a lower number of users at the premises, due to covid restrictions. 
This makes comparisons with the previous period difficult and can lead 
to overestimation of any energy savings based on degree day corrected 
consumption. The proportion of renewable energy decreased to 83 per 
cent from 86 per cent in 2020 due to a larger proportion of district heat-
ing in the total energy consumption during the year. The proportion of 
renewable energy in district heating is estimated at 68 per cent in Lithu-
ania and 50 per cent in Latvia. The proportion of renewable energy in 
district heating production has been measured from and including 
2021. As regards energy performance in directly managed properties, 
average energy consumption has decreased by 4 per cent after degree 
day correction. The trend was the same for a comparable portfolio. As 
regards property energy, a metric that excludes tenants’ opera-
tions-based electricity consumption, no marked change has occurred 
compared with last year.  On average, energy intensity has improved by 
around 2 per cent and was unchanged in a comparable portfolio.  
Reduced usage of premises during the lockdown periods have contrib-
uted to reduced electricity consumption by tenants, which has had a 
positive effect on total energy consumption. Degree day corrected total 
energy consumption has decreased by around 13 per cent for the 
whole portfolio and by around 5 per cent in a comparable portfolio.  

Energy consumption total*, Mwh (gross area +28%)

2021 2020 Change, %

Change, % 
cmp. 

portfolio

Electricity  13,621 12,713 7 -9

District heating                              7,265 4,725 54 33

Natural gas  1,389 1,095 27 27

Total       22,275 18,533 20 4

Total (degree 
day corrected)

20,512 18,533 11 -5

Proportion of 
renewable 
energy, %

83% 86% -3pp -7pp

* Including tenant electricity usage.

2020 Total energy/Renewable energy
2021 Total energy/Renewable energy    

86%

83%

Share of renewable energy in total energy consumption

Absolute consumption Degree-day corrected consumption

Energy intensity, kWh/sq.m. 2021 2020

Change Change

 %
%, Lfl

 portfolio 2021 %
%, Lfl

portfolio

Directly-managed properties *

Total energy consumption 169 160 6 6 153 -4 -4

- of which, property energy use 127 114 12 14 111 -2 0

- of which, tenant electricity usage ** 42 46 -9 -13 no correction

All properties

Total energy consumption 138 147 -6 4 127 -13 -5

* Excluding S7 properties  
** Tenant electricity usage is such consumption which is attributable to tenant operations in the premises

   WATER

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

303-5 Total water consumption
CRE2 Water intensity, buildings

Water consumption is an important issue in an environmental and ope-
rating cost perspective. Efficient water consumption is also a prerequi-
site for being able to achieve a high rating in the sustainability certifica-
tion of the building. As property owner, we can influence how much 

water is consumed through our responsibility for technical systems and 
installations. The report includes water consumption at all properties. 
The management organisation in respective countries is responsible 
for buildings being equipped with water-saving equipment such as 
low-flushing toilets and mixers in new construction and refurbished 
properties. Water consumption is included as a requirement in sustai-
nability certification and is controlled by the Company’s environmental 
policy and policy for new construction and refurbishment. The goal is 
to reduce water consumption per sq.m. by at least 2 per cent per year.  
The reporting is based on actual consumption without any normalisa-
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Emissions (tonnes CO2e) Source of emissions 2018 2019 2020 2021
Scope 1 Total 137 127 284 349

Refrigerants 76 76 76 95
Natural gas 61 51 208 254

Scope 2 Total 536 544 490 837
District heating 528 544 490 837
Electricity 8 0 0 0

Scope 3 Total 33 25 48 135
District heating in tenant-
controlled properties 0 25 48 135
Tenant electricity consumption 33 0 0 0

Sum total emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3) 706 696 822 1,321
Sum total emissions (Scope 1 and 2) 673 671 774 1,186
Total emissions climate compensated 0 0 284 1,321
Total emissions after climate compensation 706 696 538 0

Emissions intensity, Scope 1, 2, 3 kg CO2e/sq.m. 12 7 7 8
Change, % -36 -12 26

Emissions intensity, Scope 1, 2, 3 (after climate compensation) kg CO2e/sq.m. 12 7 4 0
Change, % -36 -43 -100
 

tion. In 2021, a total of 25,736 cubic metres (27,124) of water was consu-
med in directly-managed properties, which corresponds to a water 
intensity of 246 litres/sq.m. and a 19 per cent reduction in the whole 
portfolio. In comparable properties, the reduction was 26 per cent. This 

reduction is primarily due to lower use of premises by our tenants 
during the pandemic. In the whole portfolio, water intensity decreased 
by 28 per cent on average and 22 per cent for comparable properties. 

   EMISSIONS

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions
305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions
305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions
CRE3 Greenhouse gas emissions intensity in buildings

Buildings account for around a third of total emissions globally 
through emissions associated with property operations and con-
struction process. The transition to a low carbon society entails risks 
and increased costs for operations with a high climate impact. Reduc-
ing carbon dioxide emissions in its operations is therefore an impor-
tant issue for Eastnine. Eastnine aims to achieve carbon neutrality in 
its property operations, in accordance with the World Green Building 
Council definition of Net Zero Carbon, by the end of 2030. Based on 
this definition, the goals were achieved in 2021. 
  The report is limited to all energy-related emissions in the organi-
sation, as well as emissions that occur when the tenants use the 
premises. Eastnine reports emissions of greenhouse gases in accord-
ance with the GHG (Green House Gas) protocol. Eastnine applies an 
“operational approach” to its emissions. Emissions from properties 
where tenants control property operations comprise Scope 3 in the 
emissions reporting below. All S7 properties are in this category. In 
the properties where Eastnine controls the property operation, all 
emissions are reported in Scope 1 or Scope 2. 
 

Eastnine’s direct emissions, Scope 1, consist of emission from refrig-
erants and from natural gas used for heating, while indirect emissions 
from consumption of district heating and electricity are reported as 
Scope 2. To calculate the quantity of emissions, Eastnine uses mar-
ket-based conversion factors from suppliers and local authorities. 
Eastnine only purchases electricity from renewable sources such as 
hydroelectric and wind power. 
 In 2021, the direct emissions under Scope 1 have increased by 23 
per cent, compared with the previous year, primarily due to higher 
heating requirements (with natural gas) at Valdemara Centrs. The 
largest quantity of emissions is attributable to the operations in 
Scope 2. During 2021, Scope 2 emissions amounted to 837 tonnes of 
carbon dioxide equivalents, corresponding to an increase of around 
70 per cent, compared with the previous year. This increase is due to 
new acquisitions and higher heating requirements during the period. 
 Consequently, in 2021 emission intensity has increased by 26 per cent 
to 8.2 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents per sq.m. During 2021, 
Eastnine has compensated for all reported emissions under Scope 1 
and 2 by purchase of Gold Standard-certified VER shares correspond-
ing to 1,319 tonnes in the Nirosha Solar project in India and two 
tonnes in DAC projects (Direct Air Capture) in Norway. After climate 
compensation, net emissions is zero. 
 In 2022, we will analyse our current climate goals and consider the 
possibility of expanding the scope of our emission reports in Scope 3 
to waste and use of materials. 

Total energy consumption, m3
Consumption,  
litres per sq.m. Change, %

Water 2021, m3 2020, m3 Change, % 2021 2020 2021
2021, cmp. 

portfolio

Directly-managed properties 25,736 27,124 -5 246 305 -19 -26

All properties 36,324 39,278 -8 226 312 -28 -22
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   WASTE

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

306-2  Waste by type and disposal method
 
The real estate sector generates large quantities of waste in new con-
struction and refurbishment projects which are to be sent to landfill 
or incineration. Waste to landfill causes environmental contamina-
tion, while incineration causes emissions of carbon dioxide in the 
atmosphere. For that reason, waste management considered to be  
an important part of Eastnine’s sustainability efforts. At present, our 
reporting is limited just to waste from our tenants’ operations, as 
Eastnine is most often responsible for how waste is sorted and dis-

posed of. The goal is to increase the proportion of waste for recycling 
and to reduce the proportion of landfill waste.
 To calculate the proportion of recycled waste, standard assess-
ments and actually weighed quantities from the waste entrepreneur 
are used. At present, measurement of the actual amount of waste 
takes place in four properties (3Bures 1-2 and 3, Vertas 1 and 2) and 
standard estimates based on waste supplier data are used for the rest  
of the portfolio.
 In 2021, tenant waste totalled 956 tonnes (500), of which 37 per cent 
(42) was recycled. This increase in total waste is due to the addition of 
new properties to the portfolio. For comparable properties, the pro-
portion of recycling was substantially unchanged. 
 At present, waste is not reported from new construction and refur-
bishment projects.  

Total energy 
 consumption, tonnes Consumption, litres per sq.m. Change, %

Waste 2021 2020 2021 2021, cmp  
portfolio

2020 2021 2021, cmp 
portfolio

2020

Directly-managed properties 632 500 5.6 4.9 5.1 37 42 41

All properties 956 609 5.6 5.2 5.4 33 36 36

   ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATION

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

CRE8 Proportion of properties with sustainability 
 certification

Environmental certification of existing and newly constructed proper-
ties are a key component of Eastnine’s strategy to offer sustainable 
workplaces for our customers and to reduce the climate offset from 
operations. Work with environmental certifications is governed by East-
nine’s environmental policy with the aim of 100 per cent of the proper-
ties (excluding properties expected to be the object of extensive devel-
opment) being certified. 

For newly acquired uncertified properties, there is an internal 
requirement that the certification process shall be started within a year. 
At  present, 81 per cent of the portfolio is certified, 11 per cent is in pro-
cess of certification while for one property, corresponding to 8 per cent 
of the portfolio, the certification process will be started this year.

   SUPPLIER EVALUATION – ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

308-1   New suppliers that were screened using environ-
mental criteria

414-1 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria

Since a significant part of environmental and social impact arises in the 
supply chain, it is of considerable importance that Eastnine evaluates 
new and existing suppliers based on these criterias. Our work with sup-
pliers is governed by our Code of conduct for suppliers. We want our 
suppliers to live up to the same standards as used internally when it 
comes to following rules, respecting human rights, and labour condi-
tions. To achieve greater transparency, and to ensure compliance with 
our code of conduct, Eastnine has implemented an analytical tool 
based on an extensive questionnaire for suppliers, which makes possi-
ble structured evaluation of suppliers based on environmental and 
social aspects. All suppliers, who are deemed to be included in a group 

of strategic suppliers which includes services and products within con-
struction, design, property maintenance and operation, as well as con-
sultancy  services, participate in the evaluation. Any risks and questions 
are dealt with after completed evaluation in a dialogue with the suppli-
ers. We believe that by emphasising the importance of this evaluation 
for continued collaboration with our suppliers, and by engaging our 
suppliers in a dialogue on these issues; that we raise awareness and 
the status of sustainability efforts in our markets.  Evaluations are made 
continuously, while internal follow-up meetings take place around 2-3 
times a year. All strategic suppliers have been evaluated and assessed 
with the aid of the tool.

   STAFF TRAINING AND EDUCATION

103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular 
 performance and career development reviews

Being able to retain competent and engaged personnel is of crucial 
importance for Eastnine’s development and its ability to achieve the 
goals set for operations. Staff satisfaction is therefore considered as  
an important issue to work on. Eastnine strives to be an attractive 
employer and works with a long-term approach to create engagement 
and staff satisfaction among employees. Career and competence 
development are considered to be important for engagement and 
 satisfaction with the employer, as shown by the annual employee 
 surveys via Great Place to Work. Every year, employee discussions  
are held with all employees, i.e. 100 per cent, where training targets 
and other career- support measures are discussed and planned. 
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   DIVERSITY AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY

103-1/2/3   Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary/
The management approach and its components/ 
Evaluation of the management approach 

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees
406-1  Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions 

taken

Eastnine strives to be an inclusive workplace which supports diversity 
and inclusion, both in terms of behaviour and identity. These efforts are 
governed by the Equal treatment policy. Eastnine realises that diversity 
is a competitive advantage and recognizes the value of a variety of per-
spectives, backgrounds and competencies. Eastnine has zero tolerance  
for all forms of discrimination, prejudice and unequal treatment. All 
employees in Eastnine’s organisation shall have the same opportunities 
for promotion, training and development regardless of their sexual ori-
entation, ethnicity, gender identity, disabilities, faith or age. Issues relat-
ing to discrimination and unequal treatment are taken up in the annual 
employee survey, and are handled anonymously. No cases of discrimi-
nation were reported in 2021. 

Eastnine strives for equality and diversity among employees to 
ensure a broad range of knowledge, views and experiences within the 
organization. A goal is that there should be an even proportion of men 
and women on the Board, in executive management and among the 
country managers. In the executive management and among its coun-
try managers, men and women are equally represented. Eastnine’s 
Board is composed of three men and two women. In 2021, the Allbright 
Foundation awarded Eastnine a shared third place in a gender equality 
ranking of Swedish listed companies. At the end of 2021, Eastnine 
employed 23 people, of which 15 were women and eight were men. 

2021 2020 2019

BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S
Women
under 30 - - -
30-50 1 1 1
over 50 1 1 1
Men
under 30 - - -
30-50 - - 1
over 50 3 3 2

MANAGEMENT
Women
under 30 - - -
30-50 - - -
over 50 1 1 1
Men
under 30 - - -
30-50 1 1 1
over 50 - - -

OTHER EMPLOYEES
Women
under 30 1 1 2
30-50 12 12 8
over 50 1 - -

Men
under 30 - - -
30-50 6 6 6
over 50 1 1 1

Total 28 27 24

 
 

   CUSTOMER HEALTH AND SAFETY

 103-1/2/3 Explanation of the material topic and its Boundary / 
The management approach and its components / 
 Evaluation of the management approach

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health 
and safety impacts of products and services

 

Eastnine aims to deliver the highest possible level of service to its ten-
ants and has an explicit focus on health and well-being in its proper-
ties. Eastnine’s work with customers’ health and safety is based on the 
Company’s engagement policy for tenants which includes require-
ments and criteria concerning indoor climate, physical activity and 
safety. The policy is designed and inspired by WELL certification. East-
nine communicates on health and well-being in local social media 
and news channels, offers activity-based furniture as a complement 
to traditional office furniture, and is implementing design elements in 
the properties which encourage physical exercise. 

In 2020 and 2021, Eastnine has had a very active dialogue with its 
tenants on Covid-19 to safeguard the safety and security in the prop-
erties. During the period, Eastnine carried out more frequent 
replacements of filters in the ventilation system, increased the flow 
of ventilation during the daytime and increased checks. A detailed 
action plan with clear measures in the event of detected infection 
was produced for all properties.

There were no incidents of non-compliance reported in 2021 with 
regards to health and safety aspects of our buildings. Routine com-
plaints from our tenants relating to the indoor environment are 
reviewed, investigated, remedied and reported to the management in 
a systematic fashion by the country-level management organisation.
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TCFD report
This report provides additional disclosures in accordance with TCFD’s (Taskforce on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosure) recommendations with regards to how Eastnine works with climate-related risks 
and opportunities. 2021 is the first year that Eastnine provides TCFD-aligned information a part of its 
 sustainability report. As regards further application of TCFD recommendations, Eastnine will in the 
first place focus on further development of the scenario analysis of climate-related risks and opportu-
nities and their financial impacts on the Company’s operations.

The construction and real estate sector account for approximately 
one third of global greenhouse emissions and global energy con-
sumption, which means that real estate companies are heavily 
exposed to risks related to climate change. If we are to cope with the 
challenges that ensue from the transition to a low-carbon economy, 
we must have a good understanding of these risks and how they can 
be avoided or alleviated. At the same time, the green transformation  

can offer new opportunities creating competitive advantages and 
long-term benefits for actors willing to raise their level of ambition 
and capture these opportunities at an early stage.  This insight is 
fundamental for Eastnine’s approach to the governance of cli-
mate-related risks and oppor tunities, and is reflected in our sustain-
ability efforts.

Governance
Eastnine works systematically with strategies aimed at reducing the 
company’s climate footprint and securing the resilience of its proper-
ties. These risks are part of the Board’s and the management’s work 
with risk assessment process. The risk assessment analysis is continu-
ously reviewed and updated, while mitigation actions corresponding to 

each risk are evaluated in terms of continued relevance and effective-
ness, to ensure that adequate and timely strategies are pursued. While 
the risks to the existing portfolio are evaluated continuously in the 
course of routine operations, the climate risks related to new acquisi-
tions are addressed within the framework of the ESG due diligence.

Governance Strategy Risk management Indicators and targets

a) Board of Directors’ overview of 
climate-related risks and  
opportunities.

pg. 103

a) Description of climate-related 
risks and opportunities that 
Eastnine has identified.

pgs. 22-25

a) Description of the process of 
identifying and assessing cli-
mate-related risks.
 

pgs. 59-60, 103, 117-118

a)  Indicators to measure and 
control climate-related risks and 
opportunities.

pgs. 22-25

 b) Role of management in 
assessing and managing cli-
mate-related risks and 
opportunities. 
pg. 117

b)  Description of how the busi-
ness, strategy and financial plan-
ning have been impacted.

pgs. 22-25

b) Description of processes to 
manage climate-related risks.

pgs.  59-60, 103, 117-118

b) Reporting of Scope 1, 2 and 3 
according to the Greenhouse Gas 
Protocol.

pg. 114

c) Description of the organisa-
tion’s strategtic resilience and 
impact of various climate-related 
risks and opportunities.

pgs. 117-118

c) Description of how the 
 processes are integrated into the 
organisation’s overall risk man-
agement.

pgs. 59-60, 117-118

c) Description of targets used to 
manage climate- related risks 
and opportunities ant the out-
come of these targets.

pgs. 22-25

ACQUISITIONS

ESG due diligence including:
• Energy performance analysis
• Certification scorecard review
• Investment estimate for certification upgrade/renewal 

(where applicable) 
• Physical climate risk analysis for asset location  

(MunichRe/GRESB)
• EU-taxonomy alignment

MANAGEMENT

Management systems included:
• Building certification
• Energy performance monitoring
• Water use monitoring
• Tenant engagement 
• Green leases
• Indicators and KPI’s
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Transition risks
Transition risks are risks arising in conjunction with the global transi-
tion to a low carbon economy. This shift entails changes in policies, 
investments, business strategies and customer requirements, creat-
ing demand for business models with reduced environmental 
impact. For the real estate sector, this transition will likely lead to 
increased demands on climate performance of buildings and 
increasing valuation differentials between green and non-green 
assets. The transition risks considered material for our operations 
are described in more detail on pg. 59.

Physical climate risks   
Physical climate risks mean risks related to changing climate condi-
tions which affect building operations and maintenance, for exam-
ple, higher temperatures and a greater probability of extreme 
weather. Physical climate risks consist of risks related to the geo-
graphical location of the building and risks related to building main-
tenance. As regards the location related risks, Eastnine has carried 
out a climate risk analysis for all properties, based on the solution 
provided jointly by GRESB and MunichRe. This analysis is also con-
ducted for all potential acquisitions, and is included together with 
other findings in the ESG due diligence report used as the support-
ing documentation for the Board’s decision.

Climate-related opportunities
Eastnine is a responsible actor with a high level of environmental 
ambitions. The efforts targeting top levels of environmental certifica-
tion, top energy performance, and emission reduction policies are 
meant to enhance Eastnine’s reputation as a responsible market 
actor, safeguard and increase the value of its property portfolio, meet 
and exceed tenants’ sustainability requirements, enhance employee 
engagement, and secure access to future financing. On pgs. 22-23, we 
describe how we intend to create value for our stakeholders by tap-
ping into climate-related opportunities in the spheres of energy effi-
ciency, carbon dioxide emissions and efficient use of resources.  

Physical climate risks related to the location of the properties
The figure on the right-hand side provides an overview of physical 
climate-related risks in Eastnine’s property portfolio. The risk 
assessment is based on climate data provided by GRESB Climate 
Risk Module and is based on a methodology produced by Munich 
Re, a global supplier of insurance and reinsurance products. The 
overview illustrates climate risks related to Eastnine’s portfolio, in 
the form of current and future risks, up to 2050. The worst possible 
scenarios for future risks is presented in accordance with RCP 8.5. 
The RCP 8.5 scenario represents the most negative outcome for cli-
mate changes described in the IPCC report, i.e. the highest carbon 
dioxide content in the atmosphere in 2100, corresponding to the fail-
ure to reach the Paris agreement goals. The overview is based on 
aggregated data for all properties. 

Exposure overview - current

Earthquake

Tropical storms

Risk of wildfire

Flooding

Hail

Heatwave

Precipitation

River flooding

Storm surges

Tornado

Tropical cyclone

Tsunami

Exposure overview - RCP 8.5 / Year 2050

Drought

Risk of wildfire

Heatwave

Precipitation

River flooding

Tropical cyclone

  No / very little exposure
  Low exposure
  Moderate exposure
  High exposure
  Very high exposurdue diligence e

Physical climate-related risks for  
the properties
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GRI 
standard Description

Principles of the 
UN Global Com-
pact Pgs. Comment

ORGANIZATIONAL PROFILE
102-1 Name of the organization Cover

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and services 2

102-3 Location of headquarters 121

102-4 Location of operations 121

102-5 Ownership and legal form 2

102-6 Markets served 16, 19

102-7 Scale of the organization 2

102-8 Information on employees and other workers 3, 6 111

102-9 Supply chain 24

102-10 Material changes concerning the organisation and its supply chain No material changes took place dur-
ing the year.

102-11 Precautionary Principle or approach 7 111

102-12 Membership in sustainability initiatives Global Compact, BREEAM, LEED

102-13 Membership of associations Sweden Green Building Council, Green 
Building Council Lithuania, GRESB

STRATEGY
102-14 Statement from senior decision-maker 6, 100

ETHICS AND INTEGRITY
102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms of behavior 10 9

GOVERNANCE
102-18 Governance structure 99-109

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 111

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements All employees are salaried profession-
als. No employees were part of a col-
lective bargaining agreement.

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 111-112

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 111-112

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 111-112

REPORTING PRACTICE
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements 64

102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 112

102-47 List of material topics 112

102-48 Restatements of information No restatements

102-49 Changes in reporting No material changes

102-50 Reporting period Cover

102-51 Date of most recent report March 2020

102-52 Reporting cycle Annually, in conjunction with annual 
accounts

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report Lilia Kouzmina, Head of Sustainability

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with the GRI Standards 111

102-55 GRI content index 119-120

102-56 External assurance 112

GRI index
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Material topics

Material topic Indicator

Principles of 
the UN Global 
Compact SDG Pgs. Comment

FINANCE
 Anti-corruption 103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 24-25, 112

205-2 Communication and training about anti- 
corruption policies and procedures

24-25, 112

205-3 Confirmed cases of corruption and  
actions taken

10 24-25, 112

ENVIRONMENT
Energy 103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 22-23, 112

302-1 Energy consumption within the organization 6, 9  7 22-23, 112

CRE1 Building energy intensity 6, 9 22-23, 112

Water 103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 22-23, 113-114

303-5 Total water consumption 7, 8, 9 11, 12 22-23, 113-114

CRE2 Building water intensity 7, 8, 9 22-23, 113-114

Emissions 103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 22-23, 114

305-1 Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) 7, 8, 9 11, 12 22-23, 114

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 7, 8, 9 22-23, 114

CRE3 GHG emission intensity in buildings 7, 8, 9 22-23, 114

Waste 103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluations 22-23, 115

306-2 Waste by type and management method 11, 12 22-23, 115

Environmental 
certification

CRE8 Proportion of properties with environmental 
certification

3 22-23, 115

Supplier evalua-
tions relating to 
environment

103-1/2/3

308-1

Management approach and its evaluations 24-25, 115

New suppliers that were screened  
using environmental criteria

12 24-25, 115

SOCIAL
Training and 
education

103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 115

404-3 Percentage of employees receiving  
regular performance  and career 
 development reviews

6 115

Diversity  
and equal 
 opportunity

103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 24-25, 116

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies  
and employees

1, 2, 4, 6 24-25, 116

Non-
discrimination

103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 1, 2, 4, 6 24-25, 116

406-1 Incidents of discrimination  
and corrective actions taken

24-25, 116

Supplier social 
assessment 

103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 24-25, 115

414-1 New suppliers that were screened  
using social criteria

24-25, 115

Customer health 
and safety

103-1/2/3 Management approach and its evaluation 26, 116

416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning 
the health and safety impacts 
of products and services

11 116
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Calendar
• Annual General Meeting: 26 April 2022
• Interim report January – March 2022: 4 May 2022
• Interim report January – June 2022: 14 July 2022
• Interim report January – September 2022: 9 November 2022
• Year-end report 2022: 8 February 2023

The Annual General Meeting for Eastnine AB will take place on 
Tuesday, 26 April 2022 at 15.30 at IVA, the Royal Swedish Aca-
demy of Engineering Sciences, on Grev Turegatan 16 in Stock-
holm. Prior to the AGM, there will be a seminar on Eastnine’s 
geographical markets and sustainability efforts. The seminar 
will begin at 14.00.

Registration
Shareholders who wish to participate in the Annual General 
Meeting shall be registered in their own name (registered as 
having voting rights) in the print-out of the share register made 
by Euroclear Sweden AB as at Thursday, 14 April 2022, and have 
notified their intention to participate in the Annual General 
 Meeting at the latest by 20 April 2022 according to the following 
alternatives:  
• by phone, +46 8-505 977 00
• by e-mail, agm@eastnine.com
•  or by mail, to: Eastnine AB (publ) 

“Annual General Meeting”, Box 7214, 103 88 Stockholm.

Nominee-registered shares 
Holders of nominee-registered shares must temporarily re-regis-
ter the shares in their own name in order to have the right to par-
ticipate in the Annual General Meeting.

Proxies 
Shareholders who are represented by proxy should submit a sig-
ned and dated power of attorney to Eastnine in due time before 
the AGM. The power of attorney form is available on Eastnine’s 
website, at www.eastnine.se. If the shareholder is a corporate 
entity, a certificate of incorporation or other authorisation must 
be attached.

Complete notice 
The complete notice for the 2022 AGM is available on  
www.eastnine.com.

Annual General Meeting 2022

Head office, Stockholm
Eastnine AB (publ)
Box 7214,
103 88 Stockholm, Sweden
Visiting address: Kungsgatan 30
Tel: +46 8-505 977 00
E-mail: info@eastnine.com
Corporate ID no.:  556693-7404
Headquarters: Stockholm

Chief contacts:
Kestutis Sasnauskas, CEO
+46 8-505 977 00
Britt-Marie Nyman, CFO and deputy CEO
+46 70-224 29 35

Latvia
Eastnine Latvia
K. Valdemara iela 21-9 
Riga LV.1010, Latvia
E-mail: info@eastnine.lv

Contact person: 
Saule Zabulionyte, country manager Latvia
+371 2 947 1591

Lithuania
Eastnine Lithuania
Lvovo g. 25-701
Vilnius, Lithuania
E-mail: info@eastnine.lt

Contact person: 
Julius Niedvaras, country manager Lithuania
+370 698 40 002

Contact information

ESEF information

Name of reporting entity Eastnine AB (publ)

Domicile of entity Stockholm

Country of incorporation Sweden

Address of entity's registered office Box 7214, 103 88 Stockholm

Principal place of business Baltics

Description of nature of entity's operation Real estate company

Name of parent entity Eastnine AB (publ)

Legal form of entity Limited company

Name of ultimate parent of the group Eastnine AB (publ)

Other
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PROPERTY-RELATED KEY FIGURES
 
Average rental income
Average rent at the end of the period.

Lettable area
Total area available for letting.

Occupancy rate, by area
Occupancy rate in relation to lettable area.

Occupancy rate, economic
Contracted annual rent at the end of the period in relation to the rent 
value. 
This indicator is used to facilitate the estimation of rental income for 
vacant premises and other financial vacancies.

Rental value
Contracted annual rents which are current at the end of the period  
with supplements for discounts and estimated market rent for vacant 
premises.

Surplus ratio
Net operating income in relation to rental income.

Triple-net lease
Lease agreements where the tenant, in addition to the base rent, also 
pays costs related to the leased area. These costs include operational 
and maintenance costs, property taxes, site leasehold fees, insurance 
and property upkeep.

Vacancy rate, financial
Annual rent for vacant premises at the end of the period in relation to 
the rent value at the end of the period. 

Vacancy rate, by area
Vacancy rate in relation to lettable area.

WAULT
Average remaining agreement term of rental agreements at the end  
of the period, weighted according to contracted rental income.
The indicator shows the weighted risk of future vacancies.

Yield, earning capacity
Net operating income in relation to the book values of the properties, 
excluding development properties.

Yield requirement, properties
The yield requirement is used in valuations and relate to the yield 
requirement at the end of the calculation period. The yield requirement 
is based on the market return requirement for similar investment 
objects, with the addition of risks related to real estate, such as  
 geographical location, the condition of the properties and future 
vacancy risk.

Definitions and glossary
Eastnine applies the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) guidelines on alternative 
 performance measures. The Company considers that these measures provide valuable information  
to investors and the Company’s management as they enable evaluation and comparison of the Com-
pany’s financial position, financial results and cash flow. These financial measures and key figures 
shall be regarded as a complement to the measures defined in compliance with IFRS. The following  
key  figures are not defined according to IFRS unless otherwise stated.

FINANCIAL KEY FIGURES

Average interest rate
Average interest rate on interest-bearing liabilities at the end of the 
period. 

Capital tie-up period, years 
Average remaining term for interest-bearing liabilities by the end of the 
period. 

Debt coverage ratio
Interest-bearing liabilities at the end of the period in relation to the net 
operating income less deductions for central administration expenses.

EBITDA
Earnings before interest, depreciation and amortisation.

Equity/asset ratio
Equity in relation to total assets. 

Fixed interest term
Average remaining fixed interest term for interest-bearing liabilities by 
the end of the period. 

Interest coverage ratio
Profit from property management, with reversal of interest expenses, in 
relation to interest expenses.
The indicator shows the extent to which cash flow covers interest expenses. 

Interest coverage ratio, pro forma
EBITDA pro forma in relation to financial expenses pro forma.
The indicator is provided as a covenant with Eastnine’s bond holders. 

Loan-to-value ratio
Interest-bearing liabilities in relation to the sum of investment proper-
ties and securities holdings. 

Loan-to-value ratio, properties 
Interest-bearing liabilities in relation to investment properties. 

Net loan-to-value ratio
Interest-bearing liabilities after deduction for cash and cash equivalents 
in relation to the sum of investment properties and securities holdings.

Net loan-to-value ratio, properties
Interest-bearing liabilities after deduction for cash and cash equivalents 
in relation to investment properties. 

Net operating income
Rental income less property expenses. 

Profit from property management
Earnings before value changes, dividends received and taxes. 

Rental income
Debited rents, rent supplements, and rental guarantees less rental dis-
counts.

Return on equity
Net profit or loss for the year in relation to average equity.
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SHARE-RELATED KEY FIGURES

Cash flow per share
Period’s cash flow divided by the weighted average number of shares 
during the period. 

Cash flow from operating activities per share 
Period’s cash flow from operating activities divided by the weighted 
average number of shares during the period. 

Earnings per share (definition according to IFRS)
Profit or loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
 Company in relation to the average number of shares issued (excluding 
repurchased shares held in treasury).  

Equity per share
Total equity in relation to the number of shares issued (excluding 
 treasury shares).

Long-term net asset value
Equity with reversal of derivatives and deferred tax liabilities according 
to the balance sheet.

Long-term NAV per share
Long-term net asset value in relation to the number of shares issued 
(excluding treasury shares).

Profit from property management per share
Profit from property management divided by the average number  
of shares during the period.

GLOSSARY

Break option
Unilateral option allowing the tenant to terminate the lease agreement 
prematurely. The clause usually refers to a right on the part of the ten-
ant to terminate a lease without additional rent payments.

Fair value
Fair value is the price at which a property transfer may take place 
between independent and informed parties which have an interest in 
the transaction taking place. Fair value is considered to be equal to the 
acquisition value at the acquisition date, after which the fair value may 
change over time.

GRESB
Short for Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark.

Green lease agreements
Lease agreements where Eastnine and the tenant has agreed on 
 pro active efforts to promote and improve the sustainability of the 
property/premises.

Gross area
Gross area is the sum of the area of all the floors up to the exterior of 
the surrounding building sections. The term is used e.g. with regard  
to property valuations.

ICT
Short for Information and Communication Technology. 

IFRS
Abbreviation for International Financing Reporting Standard. IFRS is  
an international reporting standard for the preparation of group state-
ments.

Interest rate derivatives
Agreements for the purchase and sale of interest, the price and con-
ditions of which depend on factors such as time, inflation rates, and 
market. Derivative agreements are usually entered into in order to 
secure predictable interest rate levels for some part or the entirety  
of interest-bearing loans. Interest rate swaps are a type of derivative 
where the value on balance day is zero and which expires without 
 further payment flows.

Net letting
Annual rent income from contracts signed during the period less that  
of contracts terminated during the period. 

Net asset value discount/premium
The difference between net asset value and market capitalisation.  
If market cap is lower than NAV the shares are traded at a NAV discount, 
if market cap is higher, shares are traded at a premium.

Property
Relates to real estate in possession through ownership or site 
 leaseholds.

Share buy-back
Purchasing of own shares on the stock market. Swedish companies 
have the option to own up to 10 per cent of the total number of shares 
they have issued, given approval from the AGM.

Sustainability certification frameworks
BREEAM is an abbreviation of Building Research Establishment 
 Environmental Assessment Method. LEED is an abbreviation of 
 Leadership in Energy and Environmental  Design. 

Zero-interest floor
Clause in credit agreements meaning that a negative Euribor interest 
rate is considered as zero.



Sources: Eurostat and Swedbank Economic Outlook.

Latvia

#2 4.7 3.2
GDP GROWTH
IN PER CENT

INFLATION
IN PER CENT

RELATIVELY HIGH GDP GROWTH
Latvia’s GDP grew by 4.8 per cent 
in 2021. Despite the periods of 
restriction due to the coronavirus 
pandemic, and a relatively small 
downturn in 2020, there has been 
a sharp upturn in 2021 which is on 
a level with the expected upturn 
for the eurozone of 5.1 per cent.

MEDIUM HIGH INFLATION RATE   
The inflation rate in Latvia, 
measured as HICP, rose by 3.2 
per cent during 2021, after the 
price level has been largely 
unchanged since 2020. This 
increase was higher than aver-
age for the Eurozone, which 
amounted to 2.6 per cent.

1.9
POPULATION
IN MILLIONS

LARGEST CAPITAL
Latvia is home to around 1.9 mil-
lion people, greater than Estonia 
but smaller than Lithuania. The 
population of Riga amounts to 
ca. 931,000, making it the largest 
by far of the Baltic capitals.

Latvia is strategically located in the middle of the “New Nordic area”, 
which consists of the Baltics and the old Nordic area together. There 
is a historic connection to the Nordic area. For a hundred years from 
the 1620s on-wards, northern Latvia, as well as southern Estonia,  
was part of Sweden. Latvia, which became inde pendent from the 
Soviet Union in 1991, has been a member of the  
EU and NATO since 2004, adopted the euro as currency in 2014 and 
has been a member of OECD since 2016.

A hub in the middle of the Baltics and the “New Nordic area”  

RIGA



RIGA

A COUNTRY OF FORESTS
Latvia is in fifth place in the EU when it comes to the proportion of 
land covered by forest. As much as 52 per cent of the country’s area 
consists of forest and the forest sector accounts for 19 per cent of 
exports and over 5 per cent of GDP.

THE WORLD’S SECOND BEST  
TAX SYSTEM: 
Latvia’s tax system has been declared  
to be the world’s second most competitive 
after Estonia’s but ahead of New  Zealand’s.

GOOD INFRASTRUCTURE AND LOGISTICS HUBS
With three large ice-free ports, linked to a railway network and high-
ways, Latvia is a hub in transport between east and west.  There are 
motorway links all the way to Helsinki, Prague and Moscow. The rail-
way Rail Baltica will link the Baltic countries to the European rail net-
work and Riga’s airport is the biggest in the Baltics.

GREATEST ICT EXPORTS IN THE BALTICS
ICT (Information and Communications 
Technology) accounts for 6 per cent of total 
GDP and a growing proportion of  
ICT is accounted for by computer program-
ming and information services.

Sources: Invest in Latvia and Tax Foundation.
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